UC Riverside UC Riverside Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Critical Interplay Between AKT and CTNNB1 in the Regulation of Cell Fate Decisions

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5xd2m292

Author

SATOORIAN, TIFFANY SILVA

Publication Date 2013

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RIVERSIDE

Critical Interplay Between AKT and CTNNB1 in the Regulation of Cell Fate Decisions

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Cell, Molecular, and Developmental Biology

by

Tiffany Silva Satoorian

March 2014

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Nicole I. zur Nieden, Chairperson Dr. Jiayu Liao Dr. Xuan Liu

Copyright by Tiffany Silva Satoorian 2014 The Dissertation of Tiffany Silva Satoorian is approved:

Committee Chairperson

University of California, Riverside

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge University of California Riverside, the Cell, Molecular and Developmental Biology Program, the UCR Stem Cell Core, and the UCR Institute for Integrative Genome Biology for their helpful and supportive advice, and experimental design and methods.

I would like to acknowledge my dissertation committee for their expert opinions and advice in developing this dissertation.

I especially would like to acknowledge Dr. Nicole I. zur Nieden, whose expert advice, never-ending encouragement, and support have led me to become the scientist I am today.

I would like to acknowledge the entire zur Nieden laboratory, for their opinions, assistance, guidance, and friendship through this doctoral program.

I would also like to acknowledge the laboratories of Dr. Prue Talbot, Dr. Frances Sladek, Dr. John Shyy, Dr. Jiayu Liao, and Dr. Xuan Liu for their assistance in developing experimental strategies.

DEDICATION

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for creating such a complicated and beautiful life, and for giving me the ability to study and unravel His mysteries.

I would like to thank my parents for instilling in me and supporting me from a young age to pursue a higher education. I would like to thank my sister, Stephanie Satoorian, for being my confidant and support when things were difficult at home. Both of us have struggled, but we have become exceptional adults despite our circumstances.

I would like to thank my husband, John Bonomo, and my children, Shannon and Adam Bonomo, for being so loving and supportive. John, thank you for making sure I was well fed during this process, because I would forget to eat at times. Thank you for my always-full cup of tea. Shannon, thank you for your hugs, your smile, and your love. Adam, thank for your hugs and kisses, and for reminding me that the fire alarm went off because you were so hot.

To Silva (mommy), Uncle Leo, Ryan and Mina, thank you for listening to me rant for the last 7 years. Silva, thank you for all the tea and the big glass mug! Uncle Leo, thank you for putting up with Snow White when I would come over, even though I know she drove you crazy! Mina and Ryan, where do I start? Thanks for watching Twilight with me, and Blackfish, and Investigation Discovery!

To my best friend, Rita. What would I do without our Disney trips and our shopping sprees? You are amazing!

To my amazing, wonderful, beautiful advisor. Thank you, thank you, thank you! Thank you for all of your support, your encouragement, your guidance, and for all your time in developing these awesome projects. You are my role model!

To all my graduate school friends, including Theresa Chater, Jenifer Nalbandian, Sabrina Lin, Stephanie Turner Chen, Devon Ehnes, Nicole Sparks, Darcie McClelland Descalzo, Ivann Martinez, and Kevin Keller for your support, help, and comedic relief!

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Critical Interplay Between AKT and CTNNB1 in the Regulation of Cell Fate Decisions

by

Tiffany Silva Satoorian

Doctor of Philosophy, Graduate Program in Cell, Molecular, and Developmental Biology University of California, Riverside, March 2014 Dr. Nicole I. zur Nieden, Chairperson

The cells of the early pre-implantation embryo have a number of critical cell fate choices to make, including the appropriate cell responses of proliferation, survival, apoptosis and differentiation. These processes are very tightly regulated, as an improper response would be critically destructive to the embryo. Prior to embryonic implantation to the uterine wall, it is exposed to the maternal uterine environment and is sensitive to fluctuations in nutrients, hormones, and other compounds. This study uses embryonic stem cells (ESCs) as an *in vitro* model for studying the early blastocyst. ESCs are derived from the blastocyst, have the ability to self-renew, are capable of differentiation into the three

embryonic germ layers, and rely mainly on glycolysis for energy production. This study reveals that the serine/threonine kinase AKT and the important and versatile protein beta-catenin (CTNNB1) respond to extracellular signals and are essential for cell fate responses. Exposure of cells to the small molecules 1D6 and 1E11, or with diabetic glucose (Glc) concentrations results in alterations of signaling pathways that maintain the pluripotent state. Treatment with 1D6 and 1E11 enhanced AKT signaling, but also promoted premature differentiation of cells through ERK activation. Exposure of cells to diabetic Glc conditions led to an increase in differentiation and a proliferative decline through activation of CTNNB1 and the forkhead box O3a (FOXO3a) transcription factor, and inhibition of AKT. Diabetic Glc conditions led to an increase in localization of FOXO3a/CTNNB1 complex to the promoters of *MnSOD*, *p21^{cip1}*, and *p27^{kip1}*, and enhancing their transcription. Additionally, the results show that these processes are tightly regulated through a number of other proteins, enabling cells to be adaptive to their extracellular environment.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction: Critical Interplay Between AKT and CTNNB1 in the	
Regulation of Cell Fate Decisions	.1
Figures	38
References4	12

Chapter 2: Metabolism in Cancer Cells and Pluripotent Stem Cells	56
Abstract	57
Introduction	58
The Warburg Effect	59
The Warburg Effect: Who are the Downstream Players?	61
Glycolysis and ROS	64
Cellular Senescence	69
Cancer Cells and Glutamine	73
Figures	76
References	79

Chapter 3: Small Molecule Neurotrophin Mimics Either Enhance Clonal Surviva	1
or Differentiation Propensity of Human Embryonic Stem Cells Dependent on Co) -
Activation of p75 ^{NTR}	82
Abstract	83
Introduction	33

Materials and Methods	86
Results	91
Discussion	99
Figures and Tables	.107
References	.112

apter 4: Glucose-Induced Oxidative Stress Reduces Proliferation in Embryonic
em Cells Through FOXO3A/CTNNB1 Dependent Transcription of <i>p21^{cip1}</i> and
7 ^{kip1} 118
Abstract119
Introduction120
Materials and Methods122
Results131
Discussion145
Figures and Tables150
References

Chapter 5: Hyperglycemia results in embryonic stem cell differentiation via
mTORc2 and AMPK mediated AKT Inhibition167
Abstract168
Introduction169
Materials and Methods172

Results	179
Discussion	191
Figures and Tables	195
References	205

Chapter 6: Conclusion	210
References	218

Table of Figures

Chapter 1: Introduction: Critical Interplay Between AKT and CTNNB1 in the	Э
Regulation of Cell Fate Decisions	

1.1 RTK Activation is a double-edged sword	38
1.2 Diabetic Glc and Differentiation	.39
1.3 mTORc1 and Protein Synthesis	.40
1.4 Physiological Glc and the Undifferentiated State	.41

Chapter 2: Metabolism in Cancer Cells and Pluripotent Stem Cells

2.1 Summary of Glycolytic Activity in Cancer Cells and Pluripotent Stem
Cells76
2.2 Summary of ROS Response in Cancer Cells77
2.3 Summary of ROS Response in Pluripotent Stem Cells

Chapter 3: Small Molecule Neurotrophin Mimics Either Enhance Clonal Survival or Differentiation Propensity of Human Embryonic Stem Cells Dependent on Co-Activation of p75^{NTR}

3.1 The neurotrophin mimics 1D6 and 1E11 enhance hESC cell surv	vival in
a feeder-dependent system	107
3.2 TRK Receptor Expression and Functionality in hESCs cultured in	n a
Feeder-independent System	108

Chapter 4: Glucose-Induced Oxidative Stress Reduces Proliferation in Embryonic Stem Cells Through FOXO3A/CTNNB1 Dependent Transcription of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$

4.1 Hyperglycemia Leads to a Decrease in Cell Proliferation and is
Coupled with an Increase in Oxidative Stress150
4.2 Increase in Response for Combating ROS following Diabetic Glc
Exposure
4.3 Hyperglycemia Promotes FOXO3a Activation154
4.4 Cell Cycle Regulation in Response to High Glc Levels155
4.5 Pharmacological AKT inhibition in Physiological Glc Conditions Mimics
Cells Exposed to Hyperglycemia156
4.6 Glc Increases CTNNB1 Activity and Interaction with FOXO3a158
4.7 Proposed Mechanism of Glc Action

Chapter 5: Hyperglycemia results in embryonic stem cell differentiation via mTORc2 and AMPK mediated AKT inhibition

5.1 Hyperglycemia Promotes Differentiation of ESCs Due to AKT inhibition
5.2 Glc Modulates mTOR Complex Formation and Activity196
5.3 Rapamycin Treatment Promotes mTORc2 and AKT activation and
FOXO3a Inhibition198
5.4 Rapamycin Inhibits the Cell Cycle and Alters Pluripotency199
5.5 AMPK Activity in Physiological and Diabetic Conditions200
5.6 Diabetic Conditions
5.7 Diabetic Conditions Treated with AICAR

Table of Tables

Chapter 4

4.1 Quantitatve PCR Primers	161
4.2 Real-Time PCR Primers	161
4.3 ReChIP Primers	

Chapter 5

5.1 Quantitative PCR Primers	204
5.2 Real-Time PCR Primers	204

Critical interplay between AKT and CTNNB1 in the regulation of cell fate decisions

Abstract

Regulation of cell fate decisions, such as the decision to self-renew or to differentiate along a certain lineage, is critical during embryonic development and adult life. During embryogenesis, these decisions are a very tightly controlled processes that involves input from a variety of signals, from the extracellular environment to intracellular nutrient availability. This review will focus on AKT and beta-catenin (CTNNB1) and the roles they play in promoting proliferation, differentiation, survival, and energy production. Due to the complexity of these processes, a number of other signaling families that may regulate AKT and CTNNB1 or may be regulated by them, will also be discussed, including the Forkhead Box O (FOXO) protein, the mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) complexes, and the AMP-regulated kinase (AMPK).

Introduction

The serine/threonine kinase AKT and β -catenin (CTNNB1) have emerged as key signaling molecules that promote a variety of cellular responses including survival, differentiation, and responses to oxidative stress (Brunet et al., 1999; Faunes et al., 2013; Essers et al., 2005). Both proteins are regulated by a variety of signaling events, including activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS) and thereby respond to growth factor or ligand signaling as well as cellular stressors. Particularly, both

molecules are misregulated in a variety of human diseases, including multiple forms of cancer, diabetes, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease. Hence, their study is critical for uncovering new methods for combating these conditions and to improve human health. In trying to elucidate mechanisms that go astray during disease initiation and progression, researchers often turn to the study of development and differentiation, as basic biological processes seem common between the two events. Indeed, AKT and CTNNB1 are carefully regulated during embryonic growth and differentiation. Hence, elucidating their roles in mammalian development will not only further our understanding of human development and underlying causes of developmental anomalies, but also contribute to the discovery of novel targets that could be manipulated pharmacologically to improve human health.

Early Embryonic Development

Following fertilization of the oocyte in the fallopian tube, the zygote begins dividing by mitosis. A number of rapid cell divisions occur, but this does not result in embryonic growth, as the embryo is surrounded by the zona pellucida, a glycoprotein-rich protective membrane. At the eight-cell stage, the individual embryonic cells, termed blastomeres, appear distinct from one another, as there is low adhesion among their membranes. The first differentiation event occurs at this point, in which the blastomeres become more cohesive, a process that is

regulated by E-cadherin (E-cad) expression and activity. This event, called compaction, results in two distinct cell localizations, with 6 blastomeres in contact with the extracellular environment, while two blastomeres reside in the center. At this point, the 6 cells on the exterior are fated to generate placental membranes, while the two interior blastomeres will be responsible for formation of the embryo proper. As the cells continue to divide by mitosis, fluid from the uterine cavity enters through the zona to form a fluid filled space, called the blastocystic cavity. The embryo at this point is termed the early blastocyst, as its blastocystic cavity is small in size and the entire embryo is surrounded by the zona pelucida. The late blastocyst has a larger blastocystic cavity and has hatched out of the zona pellucida, allowing for the embryo to grow in size. The blastocyst contains two distinct cell types: the cells on the outside of the blastocyst are termed the trophoectoderm and they are fated to differentiate into placental tissues. The aggregation of cells inside the blastocyst is termed the inner cell mass (ICM) and these cells are pluripotent, meaning that they are able to differentiate into the all three germ layers of the early embryo. Several transcription factors have been described as differentially expressed or activated in the ICM, such as Oct-4, Sox-2, and Nanog (Nichols et al., 1998; Chambers et al., 2003).

Thus far, the embryo is traveling through the maternal fallopian tubes and has reached the lumen of the uterus. It is in close contact with the endometrial wall and implantation into the uterine wall begins at about 6 days following conception. At this point, the embryo is exposed to the maternal uterine

environment and is actively shutting glucose and other nutrients for energy production (Pantaleon et al., 1998). Thus, the external uttering environment plays an important role in early embryonic development and growth.

Embryonic Stem Cells

In order to spare animals from experimentation and because it would be clearly unethical to experiment on human embryos, researchers have turned to an in vitro model of embryogenesis: embryonic stem cells (ESCs). ESCs are derived from the ICM of a preimplantation blastocyst. These cells retain a number of characteristics with the late blastocyst, including pluripotency and the ability to self-renew. This property is frequently exploited to study embryonic organogenesis in vitro. Due to the developmental origin of ESCs, they transcriptionally present expression profiles associated with blastocysts, such as Oct-4 and Nanog, gastrulation (e.g. T-Brachyury) and lineage commitment that shift in dominance over time as the cells are differentiated in vitro. This process of lineage establishment in culture appears to follow the events of embryogenesis, coincides with a switch from proliferation to differentiation involving epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and suggests that ESCs can recognize and respond to the signals regulating embryonic development, including nutrients.

In fact, the third characteristic that these cells share with the ICM is their reliance on anaerobic glycolysis as a means of energy production. As ESCs differentiate,

there is also an increase in mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation, resulting in a shift from reliance on anaerobic glycolysis to aerobic respiration, a phenomenon that occurs during early embryonic development as well (Cho et al., 2006). Therefore, a reliance on a more "primitive" glucose metabolism is a characteristic that is shared between pluripotent cells, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. It is due to all these characteristics that ESCs are an ideal model for studying early embryonic development, differentiation, and mechanisms that support self-renewal.

Comparison Between Human and Murine Embryonic Stem Cells

Although both murine ESCs (mESCs) and human ESCs (hESCs) are derived from the ICM of the respective blastocyst, there are a number of differences between the two when grown in culture. For example, mESCs can be kept in the undifferentiated state with the addition of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), but this is not sufficient to maintain hESCs in the undifferentiated state (Niwa et al., 1998; Daheron et al., 2004). Several pluripotency markers are also differentially expressed in these cells. For example, stage specific embryo antigen 1 (SSEA-1) is known to identify pluripotent mESCs, while this marker is not found in hESCs. Also, stage specific embryo antigen 4 (SSEA-4), vimentin, and trophoectoderm markers, such as eomesoderm, are expressed in hESCs, while they are absent in mESCs (Ginis et al., 2004). It is important to point out these differences, as this dissertation contains data from both murine and human ESCs.

Introduction to AKT

AKT is an important serine/threonine kinase that sits as a crossroad for a variety of cell signaling pathways. AKT is known to regulate cell size, proliferation and survival, Glc metabolism and a variety of other cellular responses. Importantly, AKT activation has been shown to be important in regulating self-renewal of ESCs (Singh et al., 2012). Alteration of AKT activity has been associated with many human conditions such as neurodegenerative diseases, diabetes mellitus, and cancer (Li et al., 2013; Guo 2013; Tang et al., 2013). It is through the role of AKT in mediating multiple cellular responses that it is of particular interest in the field of early human development and stem cell biology.

AKT: A look into structure and function

AKT bears significant homology to protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase C (PKC), all of which are known to activate pathways that promote cell survival and proliferation (Glazer, 1998). There are three closely related and highly conserved AKT homologues in mammalian cells that share >80% sequence identity (Drummler B et al., 2007). These isoforms are named AKT1, AKT2, and AKT3, and are located on human chromosomes 14q32, 19q13, and 1q44 respectively (Murthy S et al., 2000). Each of these isoforms contains an N-terminal pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, a region that is important for AKT kinase activity

(Meuillet, 2011). They also contain a central kinase domain and a carboxylterminal regulatory domain (Hanada et al., 2004). In order to determine the function of each of these isoforms, knockout mice were generated that lack either an individual isoform or combinations of AKT1, AKT2, and AKT3. From these studies, it was determined that the AKT1 isoform plays an important role in embryonic development as well as fetal growth and survival (Kent et al., 2012). In turn AKT2 is critical for glucose homeostasis and AKT3 is involved in postnatal brain development (Hay, 2011). A deficiency in both Akt1 and Akt2 results in perinatal lethality (Peng et al., 2003).

Activation of AKT Kinase Activity

In order to understand the critical role AKT plays in the early embryo and ESCs, it is important to uncover mechanisms that stimulate AKT and the downstream consequences of AKT activation. Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), such as those activated by neurotrophins and growth factors, are known to activate AKT following ligand binding. In the absence of ligands, all three AKT isoforms are inactive. Ligand binding to the RTK typically results in activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), and downstream AKT activation (Vanhaesebroeck et al., 2000) (Figure 1).

Specifically, binding of ligand to the extracellular domain of RTKs results in receptor dimerization and autophosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domains of

these transmembrane proteins. These phosphorylated sites create docking sites for adaptor proteins that promote binding of the SH domain of the PI3K enzyme. The PI3K proteins are a family of cytoplasmic lipid kinases that phosphorylate phosphatidylinositols (PIs) and are divided into three groups (classes I, II, and III) depending on structure and substrate specificity. Class I PI3Ks are further divided according to the signaling receptors that activate them. For the purpose of this chapter, class 1a PI3K is of interest as it is activated following RTK activation, and phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) at the 3' position on its inositol ring, converting it to phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5triphosphate (PIP3) (Chan et al., 1999). It is then that PIP3 is able to bind to the PH domains of a variety of proteins, including phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1), recruiting PDK1 to the plasma membrane and promoting its interaction with AKT, which also contains a PH domain. The increased interaction between PDK1 and AKT leads to phosphorylation of AKT on residue threonine 308, which slightly increases its catalytic activity (Alessi et al., 1996). In order for AKT to be in its most active state, it needs to be phosphorylated on Serine 473. For many years, the kinase that phosphorylates AKT at this residue was unknown. In 2006, however, it was discovered that the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORc2) catalyzes the reaction that leads to full activation of AKT (Jacinto et al., 2006). In the same study, SAPK interacting protein 1 (SIN1) was found to be a key component of mTORc2 that positively regulates AKT phosphorylation of Serine 473. The requirement for AKT to be

phosphorylated to enter the nucleus is controversial, as studies have shown that a mutated form of AKT (T308A, S473A) that cannot be phosphorylated can still localize to the nucleus (Saji et al., 2005).

AKT Misregulation in Human Diseases

Due to its ability to promote cellular proliferation and survival, aberrant AKT activation is a common observation in a variety of cancers. Misregulation of AKT has been found to occur in the oncogenic transformation of healthy human cells and has been detected in malignant gliomas, melanomas, hepatocellular carcinomas, and breast cancer (Kumar et al, 2013). Much work has been done in identifying methods to decrease AKT activity in tumors, thus inhibiting rapid cancer growth (Cheung et al, 2013).

AKT activity is also implicated in complications associated with diabetes. There are alterations in AKT activity in a variety of tissues and cells in diabetic patients, demonstrating that AKT misregulation occurs following the onset of diabetes (Shao et al., 2000). A number of studies have also implicated an involvement for AKT in the development of insulin resistance (Zdychova et al, 2005).

AKT, The Early Mammalian Embryo and Embryonic Stem Cells

Not only is normal AKT activity critical for human adult health, but its normal activity during embryonic development is crucial. The early embryo is known to

express AKT from the 1-cell through the blastocyst stage of early mammalian development and inhibition of AKT activity had a severe impact on blastocyst morphology (Riley et al., 2005). In particular, exogenous AKT inhibition leads to a reduction in insulin-stimulated Glc uptake and a delay in blastocyst hatching, a critical step necessary for implantation of the blastocyst to the uterine wall.

Prior to implantation, the early embryo depends on maternal signals and growth factors that regulate proliferation (Raff, 1992; Weil et al., 1996). The embryos are responsive to these signals as they express the receptors for which these factors bind (Dardik et al., 1992) and a number of these signaling events are known to lead to downstream AKT activation and the promotion of embryonic cell survival. In fact, treatment with compounds that lead to downstream AKT inhibition results in an increase in apoptotic cells in the early embryo (Lalitkumar et al., 2013). These findings suggest that AKT may also play a critical role in early embryonic development and the maintenance of the pluripotent undifferentiated state in ESCs of both mouse and primates (Watanabe et al., 2006; Li et al., 2007).

AKT: Downstream Signaling Events

Promotion of Cell Survival

One mechanism by which AKT promotes cell survival is by direct inhibition of pro-apoptotic proteins. In apoptotic mammalian cells, cytochrome c is released

from the mitochondria and binds to the apoptotic protease-activating factor (Apaf-1). Apaf-1 then binds to and cleaves caspase-9, resulting in its activation. This pathway can be positively and negatively regulated by members of the Bcl-2 family. One of these family members, BAD, promotes apoptosis. However, BAD is phosphorylated on Serine 136 by AKT, inhibiting its promotion of apoptosis (Datta et al., 1997). Additionally, AKT phosphorylates caspase-9 on serine 196, leading to its inhibition and preventing apoptosis (Cardone et al., 1998).

AKT can also promote cell survival through transcriptional regulation. For example, the FOXO proteins are known transcriptional activators of genes that promote cell cycle inhibition and apoptosis, and AKT-mediated phosphorylation of FOXO proteins results in their nuclear removal. This leads to a decline in FOXO-mediated transcription of genes that inhibit proliferation and survival (Rena et al., 1999). At the same time, AKT activates the transcription factor nuclear factor-kB (NFkB), resulting in NFkB-promoted expression of a number of pro-survival genes, including Bcl-xL (Kane et al., 1999). Additionally, AKT phosphorylates cyclic AMP (camp)-response element binding protein (CREB), resulting in an increase in CREB-mediated expression of genes that promote cell survival and proliferation (Du et al., 1998).

Akt and the Maintenance of Pluripotency

Not only is AKT involved in cell survival and self-renewal, it is a critical regulator of the pluripotent state. Of critical importance is the ability of AKT to promote expression and activation of the key undifferentiated markers *Oct-4* and *Sox2* (Welham et al, 2011). AKT activation also resulted in an increase in the expression of the pluripotency-associated *Nanog* (Welham et al., 2011) promoted by SMAD2/3 nuclear activity, (Singh et al., 2012). At the same time, active AKT inhibits ERK-mediated CTNNB1 nuclear activity, resulting in a decrease in expression of differentiation genes. Thus, AKT is a critical component of ESC identity, being able to promote transcriptional expression of key genes and activate proteins necessary for the pluripotent state.

AKT and Glc Metabolism

The ability of AKT to promote the undifferentiated state is also connected to the maintenance of a "primitive" embryonic metabolism. AKT stimulates glucose consumption in cancer cells without affecting the rate of oxidative phosphorylation, indicating an increase in anaerobic glycolysis (Elstrom et al., 2004). At the same time, AKT is sufficient for regulating the switch of untransformed cells that rely on oxidative phosphorylation to transformed cells that AKT that depend on anaerobic glycolysis (Elstrom et al., 2004). This implies that AKT

may promote anaerobic glycolysis, presenting another mechanism by which AKT can promote the undifferentiated state.

The WNT Signaling Pathway

Like AKT, CTNNB1 is a versatile protein that lies at the crossroads of many different pathways. One of the most studied mechanisms that promote CTNNB1 activity is through the WNT signaling pathway. The WNT signaling pathway was discovered more than 30 years ago and is named for the secreted WNT glycoproteins that serve as ligands for receptors on the cell surface. Initially discovered in Drosophila melanogaster, defective WNT signaling resulted in the absence of wings and was later found to play an important role in tumor progression (Sharma et al., 1976, Nusse et al., 1984). In the absence of WNT ligand binding to its receptor, cytoplasmic CTNNB1 is targeted for degradation by a destruction complex that contains the scaffold proteins AXIN and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3), which phosphorylates CTNNB1 on Ser33/37/Thr41, three critical residues that promote its proteasomal destruction. Upon binding of WNT to the FRIZZLED receptor, the CTNNB1-destruction complex is inhibited, leading to an increase in cytoplasmic CTNNB1 and the promotion of CTNNB1 nuclear translocation, where it can regulate gene expression (Saito-Diaz et al., 2013). CTNNB1 does not contain a DNA binding domain and thus needs binding partners in order to regulate gene expression (Huber et al., 1997). For example, the T-cell factor (TCF) family of

transcription factors bind to CTNNB1, resulting in differentiation along the dorsal axis, formation of mesoderm, and the maintenance of stem cells in multiple organs of the mammalian body (Wylie et al., 1996; Davidson et al., 2012; He et al., 2004). Interestingly, CTNNB1 is misregulated and active in many cancers, seemingly by manipulating gene expression and maintaining cancer cells in the undifferentiated state, as it does for stem cells present in the mammalian body (He et al., 2004). Most recently, a new role for CTNNB1 has been identified in response to oxidative stress (Essers et al., 2005). Increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS) promote the binding of CTNNB1 to the FOXO family of transcription factors resulting in expression of genes that are responsible for ROS removal and promoting a decrease in oxidative stress (Essers et al., 2005).

CTNNB1 Structure

The CTNNB1 protein in humans is 781 amino acid residues and contains a central region made up of 12 Armadillo (ARM R1-R12) repeats that are flanked by N- and C-terminal domains. These ARM repeats contain approximately 42 residues that form three helices arranged in a triangular shape. The end result is the formation of a long, positively charged groove that can bind to and interact with key proteins (Huber and Weis, 2001). The majority of proteins that interact with CTNNB1 do so by binding to the ARM repeats R3-R9, and this prevents the

binding of more than one protein to CTNNB1. Additionally, conformation changes of CTNNB1 also regulate its binding properties (Castano et al., 2002).

CTNNB1 and Cell Adhesion

In addition to its role in signal transduction, CTNNB1 is a critical component of the adherens junction (AJ) that is required for cell-cell adhesions and cell sorting during embryonic development. CTNNB1 plays this role through its interaction with the transmembrane adhesion family of molecules, the cadherins. Cadherins are Ca2+-dependent adhesion molecules that span the membrane once and interact with other cadherin molecules present on the surface of nearby cells (Gumbiner, 2005). There are a number of different proteins belonging to the cadherin family of adhesion molecules, including E (epithelial) - cadherin, N (neural) – cadherin, R (retinal) – cadherin, among others and CTNNB1 can interact with the cytoplasmic domains of all of them (Hulpaiu et al., 2009). One of the most studied interactions is between CTNNB1 and E-cadherin. CTNNB1 plays a critical role in linking E-cadherin to cytoskeletal structures, particularly to actin (Ozawa et al, 1989, Hirano et al., 1992). CTNNB1 binds to E-cadherin upon its synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum and translocate together to the cell membrane. Binding of CTNNB1 to E-cadherin protects E-cadherin from proteosomal degradation (Hinc et al., 1994). At the same time, Ecadherin/CTNNB1 binding protects CTNNB1 from being targeted by the

CTNNB1-destruction complex and can act as a method for sequestering cytoplasmic CTNNB1 (Huber et al., 2001; Heuberger and Birchmeier, 2010). The interaction of E-cadherin/CTNNB1 complex influences actin polymerization through modulation of α -catenin (CTNNA1). On its own, CTNNA1 promotes the bundling of actin filaments, and this capability is diminished upon its interaction with the cadherin/CTNNB1 complex. (Yamada et al., 2005). It is through these interactions that the cytoskeleton is manipulated during cellular adhesion and embryonic development. One critical example of this occurs during the compaction of the 8-cell stage embryo, a process that is the first differentiation event of embryogenesis. Initially, the individual blastomeres (cells of the embryo) appear distinctly separate from one-another. Through an increase in E-cadherinmediated cell adhesion, the individual blastomeres demonstrate an increase in binding to one-another, and the embryo appears spherical and distinct cells are no longer visible. It is known that E-cadherin is required for this event, as blocking E-cadherin function using antibodies results in the inability of the 8-cell stage embryo to undergo compaction (Peyrieras et al., 1983; Johnson et al., 1986). A different study has shown that embryos expressing a truncated form of CTNNB1 are also unable to undergo compaction, demonstrating the necessity of CTNNB1 in this critical developmental process (de Vries et al., 2004). At the same time, E-cadherin is critical for ESC pluripotency, as inhibition led to an increase in pluripotency (Redmer et al., 2011). Interestingly, this same study

found that E-cadherin could be substituted for OCT4 during the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs).

In summary, CTNNB1 plays a critical role in signal transduction and in cell-cell adhesion. Through its ability to associate with both transcription factors and adhesion molecules, CTNNB1 regulates multiple cellular responses critical during early embryonic development.

CTNNB1 in ESCs

The role of CTNNB1 in ESCs has been controversial. Early studies demonstrated that CTNNB1 activation with a small-molecule GSK-3 inhibitor promoted the undifferentiated state of both murine and human ESCs in short-term assays (Sato et al., 2004). Other published data demonstrate GSK3 inhibition promotes definitive endoderm differentiation (Bone et al., 2011). Most recently, CTNNB1 activation was shown to promote differentiation of hESCs by repressing OCT4 (Davidson et al., 2012). Knockdown of CTNNB1 in mESCs did not alter self-renewal, but did prevent differentiation of these cells into mesendodermal and neuronal lineages (Lyashenko et al., 2011). The question arises, then, how does CTNNB1 result in these different cell fate decisions? It appears the answer lies in the ability of CTNNB1 to bind to a variety of co-factors. For example, increases in the interaction between CTNNB1/CBP maintained the undifferentiated state, while CTNNB1/p300 promoted differentiation (Miyabayashi et al., 2007).

Additionally, the known interaction of CTNNB1 with T-cell factors (TCFs) can also lead to a variety of responses. For instance, TCF3 binds the promotors of Oct-4, Sox2, and Nanog, resulting in inhibition of their expression, whereas Wntinduced CTNNB1 stabilization lifted this inhibition (Yi et al., 2011). Further demonstrating this phenomenon, CTNNB1 activation following GSK-3 inhibition resulted in the inability of TCF3 to inhibit expression of self-renewal genes (Wray et al., 2011). Additionally, membrane-associated and E-cadherin-bound CTNNB1 is critical for maintaining the pluripotent state in murine ESCs (Faunes et al., 2013). Therefore, nuclear localization of CTNNB1 alone is not a predictor of pluripotency, while plasma-membrane associated CTNNB1 is a good indicator of the undifferentiated state. At the same time, nuclear CTNNB1 is an important regulator of differentiation into mesodermal lineages, such as osteoblasts (Davidson et al., 2012). In fact, manipulation of CTNNB1 activity is critical for differentiation into osteoblasts (zur Nieden et al., 2007). Put together, CTNNB1 is a critical regulator of both pluripotency and differentiation, with multiple key proteins involved when cell fate decisions are made.

CTNNB1, Cancer, and Cancer Stem Cells

CTNNB1 is misregulated in a variety of cancers including breast, ovarian, colorectal, prostate, and hepatocellular cancer. The most studied role for CTNNB1 in cancer occurs in colon cancers, where nearly 90% of tumors are

caused by aberrant CTNNB1 activation (Morin et al., 1997). In the normal human colon, stem cells are located at the bottom of the crypts and are essential for tissue homeostasis. The proliferation of these endogenous colon stem cells is mediated by active CTNNB1 (Clevers and Nusse, 2012). It is due to aberrant activation of CTNNB1 that tumorigenesis is promoted. Due to its role in promoting unregulated cellular growth, a number of studies have focused on identifying molecules that would inhibit CTNNB1 activity. For example, treatment with C3, a small-molecule inhibitor of nuclear-CTNNB1 activity, resulted in a decrease in prostate cancer cell growth (Lee et al., 2013).

In addition to promoting tumorigenesis, CTNNB1 is critical for the maintenance of cancer stem cells. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) have been shown to exist in human cancers and are a major cause of resistance to cancer treatment as their continuous self-renewal impedes cancer treatment result in cancer relapse (Singh et al, 2003, Subramaniam et al., 2010). In a population of these CSCs, the WNT/CTNNB1 pathway promotes self-renewal and thus promotes angiogenesis, migration, and metastasis. A recent study on gastric CSCs identified a possible mechanism for the maintenance of this CSC population: Activation of the WNT signaling pathway led to an increase in CTNNB1 levels and upregulated expression of the oncogenes *c-myc*, *cyclin D1* and *axin2*, while the opposite occurred upon CTNNB1 inhibition (Cai et al., 2012). These results show that aberrant regulation of CTNNB1-target genes promotes unregulated proliferation of CSCs.
CTNNB1 and Glucose Metabolism

It is now becoming apparent that the WNT/CTNNB1 signaling network is responsive to nutritional cues. For example, changes in glucose levels within the physiological range can acutely regulate the levels of CTNNB1 in macrophage cell lines mediated by the hexosamine pathway and changes in N-linked glycosylation of proteins (Anagnostou et al., 2008). A mutation in the LRP6 gene was genetically linked to diabetes (Mani et al., 2007) and a non-coding variant of the gene for the CTNNB1 transcriptional cofactor TCF4 (TCF7L2) is the strongest type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene to date indicating that the canonical Wnt-signaling pathway may also play a role in glucose homeostasis (Smith, 2007).

There is also a link between CTNNB1 and enhanced glycolysis, which is the ability of CTNNB1 to enhance and interact with the pro-glycolytic gene regulators MYC and hypoxia-inducible factor 1a (HIF1a). In fact, high glucose promotes acetylation of CTNNB1 by p300, resulting in an increase in CTNNB1-nuclear localization (Chocarro-Calvo et al., 2013). Additionally, proteomic analysis has revealed that CTNNB1 activation induces a shift in glucose metabolism, resulting in the promotion of anaerobic glycolysis (Chafey et al., 2009). Active CTNNB1 also promotes the expression and activity of MYC, resulting in an induction of glycolytic gene expression and activity (Osthus et al., 2000; Yochum et al., 2010).

Another means by which CTNNB1 affeacts glycolysis is by interacting with hypoxia inducible factor α (HIF1 α), a transcription factor known for promoting genes that promote glycolysis, such as glucose transporter 1 (Glut1) (Kaidi et al., 2007). HIF1a over-expression in cancer cells results in increased expression of a number of glycolytic proteins, including glucose transporters and enzymes required for anaerobic glycolysis (Marin-Hernandez et al., 2009).

Thus, nuclear activation CTNNB1 enhances anaerobic glycolysis and ATP production through its ability to regulate MYC and HIF1a. At the same time, nuclear CTNNB1 could promote differentiation of cells. These opposing roles of CTNNB1 can be explained by the ability of CTNNB1 to bind to a variety of transcription factors that promote varying cell fate decisions.

The FoxO Family of Proteins

AKT is a key regulator of the FOXO transcription factors, and the ability of the FOXO proteins to promote expression of genes involved in proliferation, differentiation, senescence, and oxidative stress response is of interest to stem cell and developmental biology. All FOXO proteins contain a forkhead box, the region of the protein that binds to DNA. The FOXO proteins were first identified as chromosomal rearrangements in certain human tumors (Galili et al., 1993) and are orthologues to the *Caenorhabditis elegans* DAF-16 transcription factor, identified by its ability to double the life span (Lin et al., 1997). The FOXO

proteins are critical as they can halt the cell cycle following increases in oxidative stress and DNA damage. The ability to protect cells from DNA damage could be the mechanism by which the FOXO proteins doubled the life-span in *Caenorhabditis elegans*.

<u>Structure</u>

All FOXO proteins have the same four-domain organization. There is a conserved forkhead DNA binding domain (DBD) and that just upstream of a nuclear localization signal (NLS). There is also a nuclear export signal (NES) and a C-terminal transactivation domain. The DBD is about 110 amino acid residues that form three α -helices, three β -strands, and two wing-like loops (Weigelt et al., 2001). AKT phosphorylates FOXO at three different resides: one is near the N-terminus, the second is in the forkhead domain, and the last is between the NLS and NES. Phosphorylation on the N-terminus and in the forkhead domain by AKT creates docking sites for nuclear 14-3-3 proteins, resulting in removal of the FOXO protein from the nucleus (Brunet et al., 1999).

Mammals express four isoforms of the FOXO transcription factors: FOXO1, FOXO4, FOXO3a, and FOXO6. These transcription factors regulate a variety of cell responses. For example, FOXO1 is an important regulator of hESC pluripotency (Zhang et al., 2011), while FOXO4 is necessary for neural differentiation of hESCs (Vilchez et al., 2013) Of interest is FOXO3a, which has

been shown to regulate apoptosis and the cell cycle (Brunet et al., 1999; Brunet et al., 2001). FOXO3a is known to promote expression of $p27^{kip1}$ (Dijkers et al., 2000), *GADD45* (Tran et al., 2002), *bim* (Gilley et al., 2003), and *glucose-6phosphate* (Schmoll et al., 2000), demonstrating its importance in regulating the cell cycle, apoptosis, and glycolysis, and making it of interest for our studies. Additionally, AKT cannot phosphorylate and inhibit FOXO6 from entering the nucleus, as it does not have the C-terminal phosphorylation site (Jacobs et al., 2003). Therefore, FOXO6 is mostly confined to the nucleus. However, AKT can phosphorylate FOXO6 on other residues, resulting in a decrease in its transcriptional activity (van der Heide et al., 2005). The role of FOXO6 on

embryonic cells has not been identified yet.

FOXO Activation, Oxidative Stress, and Downstream Signaling

FOXO proteins are regulated by two separate mechanisms. First, signaling through RTKs results in PI3K activation, and downstream activation of the serine/threonine kinase AKT. AKT then phosphorylates FOXO protein, creating docking sites for binding of the 14-3-3 proteins and removing FOXO from the nucleus (Brunet et al., 1999).

Second, increases in oxidative stress resulting from increased glycolysis lead to JNK and silencing information regulator 1 (SIRT1) activation, leading to FOXOmediated transcription of genes that halt the cell cycle and promote ROS removal

(Dansen, 2011). At the same time, ROS molecules induce the formation of disulfide bridges on cysteine residues between FOXO and the acetyltransferase p300/CBP, resulting in crosslinking and the activation of FOXO-mediated transcription (Dansen, 2011). This raises the interesting possibility of a relationship that exists between ROS, CTNNB1, FOXO, and p300/CBP. This system also contains a "shut off" switch, as hydrogen peroxide, a by-product of ROS removal, activates the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), leading to PI3K and AKT activation and a negative feedback loop that results in FOXO inhibition (Heffetz et al., 1992).

In addition to oxidative stress responses, FOXO transcription factors regulate a variety of cell fate decisions, including cell cycle inhibition and apoptosis. FOXO activation results in upregulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor *p27^{kip1}*, leading to G1 arrest (Nakamura et al., 2000). FOXO3a can arrest cells at the G2 stage by promoting expression of *growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein 45* (*GADD45*) and *cyclin G2* (Tran et al., 2002), protecting the generation of daughter cells that have a higher chance of carrying genetic alterations due to oxidative stress. FOXO proteins can induce expression of the pro-apoptotic genes *Fas ligand* (*FasL*, Brunet et al., 1999), *tumor necrosis factor related apoptosis inducing ligand* (*TRAIL*, Modur et al., 2002), and *BIM* (Gilley et al., 2003), resulting in an increase in apoptosis.

Thus, increases in FOXO transcriptional activity activation following increases in oxidative stress result in the expression of genes that promote ROS removal and cell cycle arrest (Figure 2).

FOXO Transcription Factors and ESCs

The role FOXO proteins play in ESC maintenance is just beginning to be elucidated. It appears that different isoforms of FOXO regulate a variety of ESC responses. For example, FOXO1 is expressed at high levels in mESC and hESCs, and mRNA levels decrease during differentiation. Additionally FOXO1 activates *Oct-4* and *Sox2* in hESCs, promoting the undifferentiated state (Zhang et al., 2011). In contrast, FOXO3a depletion through short-hairpin RNA resulted in differentiation of mESCs (Chia et al., 2010).

Of interest is the finding that FOXO proteins have been suggested to form a complex with CTNNB1, resulting in the enhancement of FOXO mediated transcription (Essers et al., 2005). Thus, increased FOXO localization to the nucleus would result in a competition between FOXO and TCF1 for CTNNB1 binding that has been identified in *in vivo* studies. Mice lacking FOXO1, -3, and -4 had an increased bone mass due to the ability of CTNNB1 to bind to TCF1 and promote transcription of genes that supported osteoblast proliferation and health (lyer et al., 2013). This raises the question of the ability of FOXO3a/CTNNB1 to activate expression of other genes that determine cell fate (Figure 2).

mTOR-Regulated Signaling Pathways

Both AKT and CTNNB1 are known to be influenced by mTOR activity. mTOR has emerged as an important regulator of cell growth, metabolism, differentiation, and self-renewal. Aberrant mTOR signaling is linked to a number of human diseases, including cancer, type 2 diabetes, and neurogeneration (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). It is due to its role in these diseases that modulating mTOR kinase activity is of scientific interest. Because mTOR exists in two separate complexes, it is difficult to clearly identify its role in human diseases.

The first identified complex, mTOR complex 1 (mTORc1), contains mTOR, the regulatory associated protein of mTOR (RAPTOR), mammalian lethal with Sec13 protein 8 (mLST8), proline-rich AKT substrate 40 kDa (PRAS40), and the DEP-domain containing mTOR-interacting protein (DEPTOR). Both PRAS40 and DEPTOR have been identified as inhibitors of mTORc1 activity, and mTOR can directly phosphorylate and inhibit both of these proteins upon its' activation (Peterson et al., 2009; Sancak et al., 2007). One mechanism of mTORc1 activation is the binding of a ligand to RTKs, including the insulin receptor (IR), the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1R), and the tropomyosin related kinase (TRK) receptors. Activation of these RTKs results in dimerization of the receptor s and promotes autophosphorylation of the receptor cytoplasmic domains. This results in downstream phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and AKT activation. AKT lies upstream of mTORc1 activation by its ability to inactivate two

mTORc1 inhibitors, PRAS40 and tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC). Upon mTORc1 activation, the complex catalyzes phosphorylation of the mRNA translation regulator eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) binding protein 1 (4E-BP1) and S6 kinase 1 (S6K1), resulting in the promotion of protein synthesis. Additionally, mTORc1 activation promotes metabolism and lipid biogenesis (Figure 3).

The mTOR complex 2 (mTORc2) contains six different proteins, some of which are also present in mTORc1. The catalytic core of mTORc2 is mTOR and this complex also contains the rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR (RICTOR), the mammalian stress-activated protein kinase interacting protein (mSIN1), protein observed with Rictor-1 (PROTOR-1), mLST8 and DEPTOR. DEPTOR also acts as an mTORc2 inhibitor and can be inactivated by active mTOR. Additionally, mLST8 is required for mTORc2 activity (Guertin et al., 2006). Activation of mTORc2 regulates cell survival, metabolism, and proliferation and was found to be the elusive kinase responsible for phosphorylating and activating AKT (Sarbassov et al., 2005). Additionally, mTORc2 is important for regulating the cytoskeleton, as knocking down mTORc2 components affects actin polymerization and cell morphology (Jacinto et al., 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2004). mTORc1 and mTORc2 play opposite roles in AKT regulation. mTORc2 is responsible for phosphorylating AKT at residue Ser473, resulting in an increase in AKT activity. Active AKT promotes mTORc1 activity by phosphorylating and activating mTOR on Ser2448 (Nave et al., 1999) and through the inhibition of two

mTORc1 inhibitors. A negative feedback loop is started once mTORc1 is active, as it promotes AKT inhibition (Chen et al., 2010).

mTOR activity in ESCs

mTOR is known to be important for embryonic function, as inactivation of this key kinase leads to embryonic lethality. In fact, knockdown of mTOR results in blastocysts that appeared normal, but their ICM and trophoblast failed to proliferate *in vitro* (Murakami et al., 2004). In a different study, mTOR activity was inhibited in hESCs using a small molecule inhibitor, rapamycin, and also gene-specific small-hairpin RNAs (shRNAs). Inhibition of mTOR, regardless of the method, led to an impairment of proliferation and enhancement of differentiation along mesodermal and endodermal lineages (Zhou et al., 2012). However, the story is complicated as mTOR is the catalytic subunit of two distinct complexes, and thus, the question remains as to the importance and function of each of these complexes in both embryonic development and in ESCs.

To date, only one study has elucidated the role of the two mTOR complexes in regulating ESC pluripotency and differentiation. This study suggests that in the undifferentiated state, mTORc2 is active and promotes cell survival and perhaps, the maintenance of pluriopotency. Upon differentiation of ESCs, mTORc2 is inhibited, while mTORc1 is active, promoting protein translation through S6K1

activation (Easley et al., 2010). These results demonstrate that activation of the different mTOR complexes results in different cellular responses in ESCs.

mTOR and Glucose Metabolism

mTORc1 can modulate glycolysis through its relationship with HIF1 α . mTORc1 can activate transcription of HIF1 α by an unknown mechanism, promoting HIF1 α 's ability to activate expression of genes that regulate glucose transport and glycolysis (Duvel et al., 2010). Additionally, mTORc1 enhances *HIF1a* mRNA translation through activation of 4E-BP1. Interestingly, the relationship between mTORc1 and HIF1a is frequently enhanced in human cancers and is thought to promote tumorigenesis by conferring a selective advantage in energy metabolism in cancer cells (Keith et al., 2012). At the same time, mTORc1 promotes mitochondrial activity and biogenesis, a phenomenon known to correlate with embryonic cell differentiation (Morita et al., 2013).

The energy status of a cell is also tied to mTORc1 activation. The cellular energy sensor, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), is activated in low energy conditions (low ATP:ADP ratio). AMPK is a negative regulator of mTORc1, indicating that under low glucose conditions, mTORc1 remains inactive. This leads to speculation of mTORc1 and its ability to induce differentiation in hyperglycemia through its ability to increase mitochondrial biogenesis and aerobic respiration.

In addition to mTORC1, mTORc2 also plays a key role in glucose metabolism, as it activates glycolysis through AKT, promoting the undifferentiated state of cells (Hagiwara et al., 2012). mTORc2 upregulates expression and activity of MYC, leading to MYC-activated expression of genes that promote glycolysis and the undifferentiated state (Osthus et al., 2000; Iovanna et al., 1992) (Figure 4).

It is the ability of the different mTOR complexes to modulate aerobic and anaerobic glycolysis that offers a hint about their ability to promote differentiation and the maintenance of the pluripotent state. Early embryonic cells and ESCs rely on anaerobic glycolysis for ATP generation, and mTORc2 is important in regulating this process. Upon differentiation, the number of mitochondria increases as does the incidence of aerobic glycolysis. Both of these processes are regulated by mTORc1, and demonstrate the requirement for mTORc1 to promote early differentiation events through modulating a biochemical switch from glycolysis to oxidative phosphorylation.

AMPK – The Energy Sensor

AMPK is a cellular energy sensor that lies upstream of mTOR complex activity (Gwinn et al., 2008). AMPK is activated upon ATP depletion (high AMP:ATP ratio), promotes activation of catabolic pathways that produce ATP, such as glycolysis, and is inhibitory on energy-consuming anabolic pathways. Because the generation of AMP involves 2 ADP molecules and also results in formation of

ATP, the AMP:ATP ratio is a very sensitive method to measure changes in the energy composition of the cell (Hardie et al., 2001). One mechanism by which AMPK promotes glycolysis is by the translocation of GLUTs to the cell surface, resulting in increased glucose cytoplasmic translocation (Kurth-Kraczek et al., 1999). AMPK directly phosphorylates a number of enzymes that are involved in lipid and protein synthesis, including SREBP-1 (Li et al., 2011). In this way, AMPK is directly involved in energy production under high AMP conditions.

<u>Structure</u>

AMPK consists of 3 subunits, a catalytic α subunit and two regulatory subunits (β , γ). There are two identified isoforms of the α subunit, resulting in two AMPK complexes: AMPK α 1 and AMPK α 2 (Hardie et al., 1998). The N-terminal of the α subunit contains a protein kinase domain that phosphorylates serine/threonine residues, while the C-terminal contains a region required for interaction with the β and γ subunits. Additionally, there is a region downstream of the N-terminal that has an inhibitory function (Crute et al., 1998). The β subunit is crucial for energy sensing, as it contains a region that binds AMP and glycogen, promoting downstream metabolic changes (Hudson et al., 2003). The γ subunit contains 4 repeats of a 60-amino acid repeat that can bind to either AMP or ATP, and thus are responsible for the energy-sensing (Scott et al., 2004). Phosphorylation on Thr172 of the α subunit is required for AMPK activation and this phosphorylation

is maintained by a conformational change that occurs upon AMP binding to the γ subunit. Binding of AMP to the γ subunit also makes AMPK a poorer substrate for the phosphatase that removes phosphorylation of Thr172, stabilizing active AMPK (Sanders et al., 2007).

Studies in an animal model have demonstrated that AMPK α 2 is critical for glucose tolerance, as mice lacking the α 2 isoform are unable to metabolize glucose (Viollet et al., 2003). The same group generated mice lacking the α 1 isoform, but found that it had no effect on glucose homeostasis (Viollet et al., 2003).

AMPK Activation and Downstream Signaling Events

Liver kinase B1 (LKB1) is the kinase mainly responsible for phosphorylating and activating AMPK, though cells lacking functional LKB1 retain the ability to phosphorylate and activate AMPK by a process that depends on Ca²⁺ - calmodulin- dependent kinase β (CAMKK β) and transforming growth factor- β activated kinase 1 (TAK1, Hawley et al., 2005). LKB1 forms a heterotrimeric complex with Sterile-20-related adaptor (STRAD) and Mouse protein 25 (MO25) when fully activated, though LKB1 can be weakly active in their absence (Hawley et al., 2003). Under physiological conditions, the LKB1 heterotrimeric complex is active and acts as a master kinase for a number of proteins that belong to the AMPK family (Momcilovic et al., 2006). Increases in AMP concentration,

therefore, lead to specific AMPK activation and not to other members of the family (Sakamoto et al., 2004).

The mechanism by which active AMPK promotes glucose uptake is not completely clear. One method could be due to GLUT4 to the plasma membrane, a process believed to be inhibited by the TBC1D family of proteins (Taylor et al., 2008). It is believed that the TBC1D proteins prevent exocytosis and plasma membrane translocation of the GLUT4 transporter. Phosphorylation of the TBC1D proteins by AMPK inhibits their activity, resulting in an increase in GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane (Cartee et al., 1989). At the same time, AMPK phosphorylates and activates phosphofructo-2-kinase (PFK2), an enzyme that stimulates increases in glycolysis (Marsin et al., 2000). In summary, AMPK activation promotes glucose flux into the cell and its glycolytic breakdown, resulting in an increase in ATP production.

AMPK promotes ATP production by a number of mechanisms. Following energy deprivation, AMPK promotes fatty acid oxidation to increase cellular energy. AMPK phosphorylates Acetyl-coA carboxylase (ACC), resulting a decrease in lipid synthesis and an increase in fatty acid movement to the mitochondria for β -oxidation, a process that results in an increase in ATP levels (Hardie et al., 2002). At the same time, AMPK plays an active role protein metabolism through mTORc1 inhibition. AMPK phosphorylates TSC2 and RAPTOR (Gwinn et al., 2008), resulting in the inability of mTORc1 to promote protein synthesis, resulting in a decrease in ATP expenditure. Also, AMPK promotes autophagy and protein

degradation, resulting in a source of nutrients to generate ATP (Polak et al., 2009). Therefore, AMPK activation in low energy conditions inhibits pathways that require ATP and promotes breakdown of molecules that would lead to ATP production.

Potential Transcriptional Activity of AMPK

Thus far, literature suggested that the mechanisms by which AMPK stimulates increases in ATP levels by directly affecting protein targets. Now, there is growing evidence that the AMPK isoform AMPK α 2 (AMPK α 2) contains a nuclear localization and has been found to localize to the nucleus (Suzuki et al., 2007), presenting the possibility that AMPK can directly regulate transcription factors and co-factors, influencing expression of glycolytic genes.

<u>ESCs</u>

The importance of AMPK activation regulating cellular fate is not a very well studied topic. One very recent study has demonstrated that treatment of mESCs with AICAR, an AMPK activator, promotes self-renewal and pluripotency and inhibits differentiation induced by retinoic acid (Shi et al., 2013). However, AICAR treatment was not enough to promote the undifferentiated state, as there was still the requirement for LIF addition to the mESC medium. However, due to its ability

to regulate and promote glycolysis, AMPK activation should be critical for maintaining the "embryonic" metabolic profile of ESCs.

Conclusion

Several factors are critical for cell fate decisions between pluripotency and differentiation initiation in early-uncommitted cells including the surrounding exposure to growth factors and to varying external glucose concentrations. Treatment with growth factors that stimulate RTK activity will inherently increase cell survival and pluripotency, but can also lead to the promotion of differentiation, mediated both by CTNNB1 activation and AKT-mediated inhibition of mTORc1 (Figure 1). The extracellular nutrient environment can alter cell fate decisions through AKT and CTNNB1 regulation as well. Under physiological glucose conditions, pluripotent cells break down glucose by anaerobic glycolysis, generating ATP and ROS at a steady rate. Based on the evidence presented above, this should result in AMPK and mTORc2 activity, promoting AKT and its ability to regulate the pluripotent state (Figure 4). Under conditions of diabetic glucose concentrations, pluripotent cells generate an increase in ROS, resulting in the dual activation of FOXO3A and CTNNB1 and their ability to "rescue" cells from ROS-induced damage to organelles, DNA, and other cellular macromolecules. However, increases in FOXO3A/CTNNB1 activity should promote cell cycle inhibition and premature differentiation (Figure 2). These

conclusions provide a molecular consequence of AKT and CTNNB1 activation on early embryonic development.

This study demonstrates that early embryonic cells and ESCs are sensitive to their extracellular environment, as tiny fluctuations in cell signaling can induce a variety of cellular responses, including differentiation, proliferation, and a preference for energy generation. These processes are tightly regulated, as a number of signaling pathways contribute to the final cellular response.



Figure 1.1: RTK Activation is a double-edged sword. AKT activation promotes pluripotency and survival, and also promotes CTNNB1 stabilization. CTNNB1 can then regulate gene expression. Cell fate is decided based upon the co-factor(s) CTNNB1 binds and interacts with under the given conditions.



Figure 1.2: Diabetic Glc and Differentiation. Exposure to high levels of Glc results in an increase in ROS production and an increase in nuclear translocation and activity of FOXO3A/CTNNB1 and the expression of genes that promote ROS removal, cell cycle inhibition, and differentiation.



Figure 1.3: mTORc1 and protein synthesis. mTORc1 promotes activation of S6K1 and eIF4E, resulting in an increase in protein synthesis, mitochondrial biogenesis and differentiation.



Figure 1.4: Physiological Glc and the Undifferentiated State. Physiological Glc conditions lead to activation of AMPK and mTORc2, thus resulting in AKT activation. AKT then promotes expression of genes that regulate pluripotency and proliferation.

References

Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, Cron P, Morrice N, Cohen P, Hemmings BA. Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. EMBO J. 1996. 15: 6541-6551.

Anagnostou SH, Shepherd PR. Glucose induces an autocrine activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in macrophage cell lines. Biochem J. 2008. 416(2):211-8.

Bone HK, Nelson AS, Goldring CR, Tosh D, Welham MJ. A novel chemically directed route for the generation of definitive endoderm from human embryonic stem cells based on inhibition of GSK-3. 2011. J. Cell. Sci. 124: 1992-2000.

Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, Hu LS, Anderson MJ, Arden KC, Blenis J, Greenberg ME. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell. 1999. 96(6): 857-868.

Brunet A, Park J, Tran H, Hu LS, Hemmings BA, Greenberg ME. Protein kinase SGK mediates survival signals by phosphorylating the forkhead transcription factor FKHRL1 (FOXO3a) Mol Cell Biol. 2001. 21:952–965.

Cai C, Zhu X. The Wnt/beta-catenin pathway regulates self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells in human gastric cancer. Mol. Med. Rep. 2012. 5(5): 1191-1196.

Cardone MH, Roy N, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Franke TF, Stanbridge E, Frisch S, Reed JC. Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. Science. 1998. 282: 1318-1321.

Cartee GD, Wojtaszewski JF. The role of AKT substrate of 160 kDa in insulinstimulated and contraction-stimulated glucose transport. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 2007. 32: 557-566.

Castano J, Raurell I, Piedra JA, Miravet S, Dunach M, Garcia de Herreros A. Beta-catenin N- and C- terminal tails modulate the coordinated binding of adherens junction proteins to beta-catenin. J. Biol. Chem. 2002. 277(35): 31541-31550.

Chafey P, Finzi L, Boisgard R, auzac M, Clary G, Broussard C, Pegorier JP, Guillonneau F, Mayeux P, Camoin L, Tavitian B, Colnot S, Perret C. Proteomic analysis of beta-catenin activation in mouse liver by DIFE analysis identifies glucose metabolism as a new target of the WNT pathway. Proteomics. 2009. 9(15): 3889-3900.

Chambers I, Colby D, Robertson M, Nichols J, Lee S, Tweedie S, Smith A. Functional expression cloning of Nanog, a pluripotency sustaining factor in embryonic stem cells. Cell. 2003. 113(5):643-55.

Chan TO, Rittenhouse SE, Tsichlis PN. AKT/PKB and other D3 phosphoinositide-regulated kinases: kinase activation by phosphoinositide-dependent phosphorylation. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1999. 68: 965-1014.

Chen CC, Jeon SM, Bhaskar PT, Nogueira V, Sundararajan D, Tonic I, Park Y, Hay N. FoxOs inhibit mTORc1 and activate AKT by inducing the expression of Sestrin3 and Rictor. Dev. Cell. 2010. 18(4): 592-604.

Cheung M, Testa JR. Diverse mechanism fo AKT pathway activation in human malignancy. Curr. Cancer. Drug. Targets. 2013. 13(3): 234-244.

Chia NY, Chan YS, Feng B, Lu X, Orlov YL, Moreau D, Kumar P, Yang L, Jiang J, Lau MS, Huss M, Soh BS, Kraus P, Li P, Lufkin T, Lim B, Clarke ND, Bard F, Ng HH. A genome-wide RNAi screen reveals determinants of human embryonic stem cell identity. Nature. 2010. 468(7321): 316-320.

Cho YM, Kwon S, Pak YK, Seol HW, Choi YM, Park do J, Park KS, Lee HK. Dynamic changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during the spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006. 348(4): 1472-1480.

Chocarro-Calvo A, Garcia-Martinez JM, Ardila-Gonzalez S, De la Viega A, Garcia-Jimenez C. Glucose-induced beta-catenin acetylation enhances Wnt signaling in cancer. Mol. Cell. 2013. 49(3): 474-486.

Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/CTNNB1 signaling and disease. Cell. 2012. 149(6): 1192-1205.

Crute BE, Seefeld K, Gamble J, Kemp BE, Witters LA. Functional domains of the alpha 1 catalytic subunit of the AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 1998. 273: 35347 – 35354.

Daheron L, Opitz SL, Zaehres H, Lensch MW, Andrews PW, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Daley GQ. LIF/STAT3 signaling fails to maintain self-renewal of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells. 2004. 22(5): 770-778.

Dansen TB. Forkhead box O transcription factors: key players in redox signaling. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 2011. 14: 559-561.

Dardik A, Smith RM, Schultz RM. Colocalization of transforming growth factoralpha and a fnctional epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) to the inner cell mass and preferential localization of the EGFR on the basolateral surface of the trophoectoderm in the mouse blastocyst. Dev. Biol. 1992. 154: 396-409.

Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, Gotoh Y, Greenberg ME. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. Cell. 1997. 91: 231-241.

Davidson KC, Adams AM< Goodson JM, McDonald CE, Potter JC, Berndt JD, Biechele TL, Taylor RJ, Moon RT. Wnt/β-catenin signaling promotes differentiation, not self-renewal, of human embryonic stem cells and is repressed by Oct4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2012. 109(12): 4485-4490.

De Vries Wilhelmine N, Evsikov AV, Haac BE, Fancher KS, Holbrook AE, Kemler R, Solter D, Knowles BB. Maternal beta-catenin and E-cadherin in mouse development. Development. 2004. 131: 4435-4445.

Dijkers PF, Medema RH, Pals C, Banerji L, Thomas NS, Lam EW, Burgering BM, Raaijmakers JA, Lammers JW, Koenderman L. Forkhead transcription factor FKHR-L1 modulates cytokine-dependent transcriptional regulation of p27(KIP1) Mol Cell Biol. 2000. 20:9138–9148

Drummler B, Hemmings BA. Physiological roles of PKB/AKT isoforms in development and diseases. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2007. 35: 231-235.

Du K, Montminy M. CREB is a regulatory target for the protein kinase Akt/PKB. J. Biol. Chem. 1998. 273: 32377-32379.

Duvel K, Yecies JL, Menon S, Raman P, Lipovsky AI, Souza AL, Triantafellow E, Ma Q, Gorski R, Cleaver S. Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. Mol. Cell. 2010. 39: 171-183.

Easley CA 4th, Ben-Yehudah A, Redinger CJ, Oliver SL, Varum ST. Eisinger VM, Carlisle DL, Donovan PJ. Schatten GP. mTOR-mediated activation of p70 S6K induces differentiation of pluripotent human embryonic stem cells. Cell. Reprogram. 2010. 12(3): 263-273.

Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M, Karnauskas R, Harris MH, Plas DR< Zhuang H, Cinalli RM< Alavi A, Rudin CM, Thompson CB. Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2004. 64(11): 3892-3899.

Essers MA, de Vries-Smits LM, Barker N, Polderman PE, Burgering BM. Korswagen HC. Functional interaction between beta-catenin and FOXO in oxidative stress signaling. Science. 2005. 308(5725): 1181-1184.

Faunes F, Hayward P, Descalzo SM, Chatterjee SS, Balayo T, Trott J, Chrisoforou A, Ferrer-Vaquer A, Hadjantonakis AK, Dasgupta R, Arias AM. A membrane-associated β -catenin/Oct4 complex correlates with ground-state pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development. 2013. 140(6): 1171-1183.

Galili N, Davis RJ, Fredericks WJ, Mukhopadhyay S, Rauscher FJ 3rd, Emanuel BS, Rovera G, Barr FG. Fusion of a fork head domain gene to a PAX3 in the solid tumour alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Nat. Genet. 1993. 5(3): 230-235.

Gilley J, Coffer PJ, Ham J. FOXO transcription factors directly activate bim gene expression and promote apoptosis in sympathetic neurons. J. Cell. Biol. 2003. 162: 613-622.

Ginis I, Luo Y, Miura T, Thies S, Brandenberger R, Gerecht-Nir S, Amit M, Hoke A, Carpenter MK, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Rao S. Differences between human and mouse embryonic stem cells. Dev. Biol. 2004. 269(2): 360-380.

Glazer RI. The protein kinase ABC's of signal transduction as targets for drug development. Curr. Pharm. Des. 1998. 4(3): 277-290.

Guertin, DA, Stevens DM, Thoreen CC, Burds AA, Kalaany NY, Moffat J, Brown M, Fitzgerald KJ, Sabatini DM. Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1. Dev. Cell. 2006. 11: 859 -871.

Gumbiner BM. Regulation of cadherin-mediated adhesion in morphogenesis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2005. 6(8): 622-634.

Guo S. Molecular basis of insulin resistance: the role of IRS and Foxo1 in the control of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Drug. Discov. Today Dis. Mech. 2013. 10(1-2): e27-e33.

Gwinn DM< Shckelford DB, Egan DF, Mihaylova MM, Mery A, Vasquez DS, Turk BE, Shaw RJ. AMPK phosphorylation of raptor mediates a metabolic checkpoint. Mol. Cell. 2008. 30(2): 214-226.

Hagiwara A, COrnu M, Cybulski N, Polak P, Betz C, Trapani F, Terracciano L, Heim MH, Ruegg MA, Hall MN. Hepatic mTORc2 activates glycolysis and lipogenesis through AKT< glucokinase, and SREBP1c. Cell. Metab. 2012. 15(5): 725-738.

Hanada M, Feng J, Hemmings BA. Structure, regulation and function of PKB/AKT-a major therapeutic target. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 2004. 1697(1-2): 3-16.

Hardie DG, Carling D, Carlson M. The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell? Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1998. 67: 821-855.

Hardie DG, Hawley SA. AMP-activated protein kinase: the energy charge hypothesis revisited. Bioessays. 2001. 23: 1112-1119.

Hardie DG, Pan DA. Regulation of fatty acid synthesis and oxidation by the AMPactivated protein kinase. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2002. 30: 1064-1070.

Hawley SA, Boudeau J, Reid JL, Mustard KJ, Udd L, Makela TP, Alessi DR. Hardie DG. Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor, STRAD alpha/beta and MO25 alpha/beta are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. J. Biol. 2003. 2:28.

Hawley SA, Pan DA, Mustard KJ, Ross L, Bain J, Edelman AM, Frenguelli BG, Hardie DG. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-beta is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase. Cell. Metab. 2005. 2(1): 9-19.

Hay N. AKT isoforms and glucose homeostasis – the leptin connection. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 2011. 22(2): 66-73.

He XC, Zhang J, Tong WG, Tawfiq O, Ross J, Scoville DH, Tian Q, Zeng X, He X, Wiedemann LM, Mishina Y, Li L. BMP signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell self-renewal through suppression of Wnt-beta-catening signaling. Nat. Genet. 2004. 36(10): 1117-1121.

Heffetz D, Rutter WJ, Zick Y. The insulinomimetic agents H2O2 and vanadate stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of potential target proteins for the instulin receptor kinase in intact cells. 1992. Biochem. J. 288: 631-635.

Heuberger J, Birchmeier W. Interplay of cadherin-mediated cell adhesion and canonical Wnt signaling. Cold. Spring. Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2010. 2(2): a002915.

Hinck L, Nathke IS, Papkoff J, Nelson WJ. Dynamics of cadherin/catenin complex formation: novel protein interactions and pathways of complex assembly. J. Cell. Biol. 1994. 125(6): 1327-1340.

Hirano S, Kimoto N, Shimoyama Y, Hirohashi S, Takeichi M. Identification of a neural alpha-catenin as a key regulator of cadherin function and multicellular organization. Cell. 1992. 70(2): 293-301.

Huber AH, Nelson WJ, Weis WI. Three-dimensional structure of the armadillo repeat region of beta-catenin. Cell. 1997. 90(5): 871-882.

Huber AH, Weis WI. The structure of the beta-catenin/E-cadherin complex and the molecular basis of diverse ligand recognition by beta catenin. Cell. 2001. 105(3): 391-402.

Hudson ER, Pan DA, James J, Lucocq JM, Hawley SA, Green KA. A novel domain in the AMP-activated protein kinase causes glycogen storage bodies similar to those seen in hereditary cardiac arrhythmias. Current. Biol. 2003. 13: 861-866.

Hulpiau P, van Roy F. Molecular evolution of the cadherin superfamily. INt. J. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 2009. 41(2): 349-369.

lovanna JL, Lechene de la Porte P, Dagom JC. Expression of genes associated with dedifferentiation and cell proliferation during pancreatic regeneration following acute pancreatitis. Pancreas. 1992. 7(6): 712-718.

lyer S, Ambrogini E, Bartell Sm, Han L, Roberson PK, de Cabo R, Jilka RL, Weinstein RS, O'Brien CA, Manolagas SC, Alamedia M. FOXOs attenuate bone formation by suppressing Wnt signaling. J. Clin. Invest. 2013. 123(8): 3409-3419.

Jacinto E, Facchinetti V, Liu D, Soto N, Wei S, Yung SY, Huang Q, Qin J, Su B. SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mtor complex integrity and regulates AKT phosphorylation and substrate specificity. Cell. 2006. 127(1): 125-137.

Jacinto E, Loewith R, Schmidt A, Lin S, Ruegg MA, Hall A, Hall MN. Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. Nat. Cell Biol. 2004. 6: 1122-1128.

Jacobs FM, van der Heide LP, Wijchers PJ, Burbach JP, Hoekman MF, Smidt MP. FoxO6, a novel member of the FoxO class of transcription factors with distinct shuttling dynamics. J Biol Chem. 2003. 278(38):35959-67.

Johnson, M. H., Chisholm, J. C., Fleming, T. P. and Houliston, E. A role for cytoplasmic determinants in the development of the early mouse embryo. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 1986. [Suppl.]: 97–117.

Kaidi A, Williams AC, Paraskeva C. Interaction between beta catenin and HIF-1 promotes cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Nat. Cell. Biol. 2007. 9: 210-217.

Kane LP, Shapiro VS, Stokoe D. Weiss A. Induction of NF-kappaB by the Akt/PKB kinase. Curr. Biol. 1999. 9: 601-604.

Keith B, Johnson RS. Simon MC. HIF1a and HIF2a: sibling rivalry in hypoxic tumour growth and progression. Nat. Rev. Cancer. 2012. 12: 9-22.

Kent LN, Ohboshi S, Soares MJ. AKT1 and insulin-like growth factor 2 (lgf2) regulate placentation and fetal/postnatal development. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 2012. 56(4): 255-261.

Kumar A, Rajendran V, Sethumadhavan R, Purohit R. AKT kinase pathway: A leading target in cancer research. Scentific World Journal. 2013. 2013: 756134.

Kurth-Kraczek EJ< Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ, Winder WW. 5' AMP-activated protein kinase activation causes GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle. Diabetes. 1999. 48(8): 1667-1671.

Lalitkumar S, Boggavarapu NR, Menezes J, Dimitriadis E, Zhang JG, Nicola NA, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Lalitkumar LP. Polyethylene glycated leukemia inhibitory factor antagonist inhibits human blastocyst implantation and triggers apoptosis by downregulating embryonic AKT. Fertil. Steril. 2013. 100(4): 1160-1169.

Laplante M., Sabatini DM. mTOR signaling in growth control and diseases. Cell. 2012. 149: 274-293.

Lee E, Madar A, David G, Garabedian MJ, Dasgupta R, Logan SK. Inhibition of androgen receptor and beta-catenin activity in prostate cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 2013. 110(39): 15710-15715.

Li J, Wang G, Wang C, Zhao Y, Zhang H, Tan Z, Song Z, Ding M, Deng H. MEK/ERK signaling contributes to the maintenance of human embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Differentiation. 2007. 75(4): 299-307.

Li J, Wu H, Xue G, Wang P, Hou Y. 17β-Oestradiol protects primary-cultured rat cortical neurons from ketamine-induced apoptosis by activating PI3K/AKT/BCL-signaling. Basic. Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 2013. Doi: 10.1111/bcpt/12124.

Li Y, Xu S, Mihaylova MM, Zheng B, Hou X, Jiang B, Park O, Luo Z, Lefai E, Shyy JY, Gao B, Wierzbicki M, Verbeuren TJ, Shaw RJ, Cohen RA, Zang M. AMPK phosphorylates and inhibits SREBP activity to attenuate hepatic steatosis and atherosclerosis in diet-induced insulin-resistant mice. Cell. Metab. 2011. 13(4): 376-388.

Lin K, Dorman JB, Rodan A, Kenyon C. daf-16: An HNG-3/forkhead family member that can function to double the life-spanc of Caenorhabditis elegans. Science. 1997. 278(5341): 1319-1322.

Lyashenko N, Winter M, Migliorini D. Biechele T, Moon RT, Hartmann C. Differential requirement for the dual functions of beta-catenin in embryonic stem cell self-renewal and germ layer formation. Nat. Cell. Biol. 2011. 13(7): 753-761.

Mani A, Radhakrishnan J, Wang H, Mani A, Mani MA, Nelson-Williams C, Carew KS, Mane S, Najmabadi H, Wu D, Lifton RP. LRP6 mutation in a family with early coronary disease and metabolic risk factors. Science. 2007. 315:1278–1282

Marin-Hernandez A, Gallardo-Perez JC, Ralph SJ, Rodriguez-Enriquez S, Moreno-Sanchez R. HIF-1alpha modulates energy metabolism in cancer cells by inducing over-expression of specific glycolytic isoforms. Mini. Rev. Med. Chem. 2009. 9(9): 1084-1101.

Marsin AS, Bertrand L, Rider MH, Deprez J, Beauloye C, Vincent MF, Van den Bergthe G, Carling D, Hue L. Phosphorylation and activation of heart PFK-2 by AMPK has a role in the stimulation of glycolysis during ischemia. Curr. Biol. 2000. 10(20): 1247-1255.

Meuillet EJ. Novel inhibitors of AKT: assessment of a different approach targeting the pleckstrin homology domain. Curr. Med. Chem. 2011. 18(18): 2727-2742.

Miyabayashi T, Teo JL, Yamamoto M, McMillan M, Nguyen C, Kahn M. Wnt/beta-catenin/CBP signaling maintains long-term murine embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 2007. 104(13): 5668-5673.

Modur V, Nagarajan R, Evers BM, Milbrandt J. FOXO proteins regulate tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand expression: Implications for PTEN mutation in prostate cancer. J. Biol. Chem. 2002. 277: 47928-47937.

Momcilovic M, Hong SP, Carlson M. Mammalian TAK1 activates Snf1 protein kinase in years and phosphorylates AMPK in vitro. J. Bio.. Chem. 2006. 281: 25336-25343.

Morin PJ, Sparks AB, Korinek V, Barker N, Clevers H, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC. Science. 1997. 275: 1787-90.

Morita M, Gravel SP, Chenard V, Sikstrom K, Zheng L, Alain T, Gandin V, Avizonis D, Arguello M, Zakaria C, McLaughlan S, Nouet Y, Pause A, Pollak M, Gottlieb E, Larsson O, St-Pierre J, Topisirovic I, Sonenberg N. mTORc1 conrols mitochondrial activity and biogenesis through 4E-BP-dependent translational regulation. Cell. Metab. 2013. 18(5): 698-711.

Murakami M, Ichisaka T, Maeda M, Oshiro N, Hara K, Edenhofer F, Kiyama H, Yonezawa K, Yamanaka S. mTOR is essentifal for growth and proliferation in early mouse embryos and embryonic stem cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2004. 24(15): 6710-6718.

Murthy S, Tosolini A, Taguchi T, Testa JR. Mapping of AKT3, encoding a member of the AKT/protein kinase B family, to human and rodent chromosomes by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 2000. 88: 38-40.

Nakamura N, Ramaswamy S, Vazquez F, Signoretti S, Loda M, Sellers W. Forkhead transcription factors are critical effectors of cell death and cell cycle arrest downstream of PTEN. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2000. 20: 8968-8982.

Nave BT, Ouwens M, Withers DJ, Alessi DR, Shepherd PR. Mammalian target of rapamycin is a direct target for protein kinase B: identification of a convergence point for opposing effects of insulin and amino-acid deficiency on protein translation. Biochem. J. 1999. 344(Pt2): 427-431.

Nichols J, Zevnik B, Anastassiadis K, Niwa H, Klewe-Nebenius D, Chambers I, Schöler H, Smith A. Formation of pluripotent stem cells in the mammalian embryo depends on the POU transcription factor Oct4. Cell. 1998. 95(3):379-91.

Niwa H, Burdon T, Chambers I, Smith A. Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes. Dev. 1998. 12(13): 2048-2060.

Nusse R. van Ooyen A, Cox D, Fung YK, Varmus H. Mode of proviral activation of a putative mammary oncogene (int-1) on mouse chromosome 15. Nature. 1984. 307: 131-136.

Osthus RC, Shim H, Kim S, Li Q, Reddy R, Mukherjee M, Xu Y, Wonsey D, Lee LA, Dang CV. Deregulation of glucose transporter 1 and glycolytic gene expression by c-Myc. J. Biol. Chem. 2000. 275(29): 21797-21800.

Ozawa M, Baribault H, Kemler R. The cytoplasmic domain of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin associates with three independent proteins structurally related in different species. EMBO. J. 1989. 8(6): 1711-1717.

Panteleon M, Kaye PL. Glucose transporters in preimplantation development. Rev. Reprod. 1998. 3(2): 77-81.

Peng XD, Xu PZ, Chen ML, Hahn-Windgassen A, Skeen J, Jacobs J, Sundarararajan D, Chen WS, Crawford SE, Coleman KG, Hay N. Dwarfism, impaired skin development, skeletal muscle atrophy, delayed bone development, and impeded adipogenesis in mice lacking Akt1 and Akt2. Genes Dev. 2003. 17: 1352-1365.

Peterson, TR, Laplante, M, Thoreen, CC, Sancak, Y, Kang, SA, Kuehl, WM, Gray, NS Sabatini, DM. DEPTOR is an mTOR inhibitor frequently overexpressed in multiple myeloma cells and required for their survival. Cell. 2009. 137: 873-886.

Peyrieras, N., Hyafil, F., Louvard, D., Ploegh, H. L. and Jacob, F. Uvomorulin: A non-integral membrane protein of early mouse embryo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1983. 80: 6274–6277.

Polak P, Hall MN. mTOR and the control of whole body metabolism. Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol. 2009. 21: 209-218.

Raff MC. Social controls on cell survival and cell death. Nature. 1992. 356: 397-400.

Redmer T, Diecke S, Grigoryan T, Quiroga-Negreira A, Birchmeier W, Besser D. E-cadherin is crucial for embryonic stem cell pluripotency and can replace OCT4 during somatic cell reprogramming. EMBO Rep. 2011. 12(7): 720-726.

Rena G, Guo S, Cichy SC, Unterman TG, Cohen P. Phosphorylation of the transcription factor forkhead family member FKHR by protein kinase B. J. Biol. Chem. 1999. 274(24): 17179-17183.

Riley JK, Carayannopoulos MO, Wyman AH, Chi M, Ratajczak CK, Moley KH. The PI3K/AKT pathways is present and functional in the preimplantation mouse embryo. Dev. Biol. 2005. 284(2): 377-386.

Saito-Diaz K, Chen TW, Wang X, Thorne CA, Wallace HA, Page-McCaw A, Lee E. The way Wnt works: components and mechanism. Growth Factors. 2013. 31(1): 1-31.

Saji M, Vasko V, Kada F, Allbritton EH, Burman KD, Ringel MD. Akt1 contains a functional leucine-rich nuclear export sequence. Biochem. Biophys. Commun. 2005. 332: 167-173.

Sakamoto K, Goransson O, Hardie DG, Alessi DR. Activity of LKB1 and AMPKrelated kinases in skeletal muscle: effects of contraction, phenformin and AICAR. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 2004. 287: E310-E317.

Sancak Y, Thoreen CC, Peterson TR, Lindquist RA, Kang SA, Spooner E, Carr SA, Sabatini, DM. PRAS40 is an insulin-regulated inhibitor of the mTORC1 protein kinase. Mol. Cell. 2007. 25: 903-915.

Sanders MJ, Grondin PO, Hegarty BD, Snowden MA, Carling D. Investigating the mechanism for AMP activation of the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. Biochm. J. 2007. 403: 139-148.

Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Kim DH, Guertin DA, Latek RR, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Sabatini DM. Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defies a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-indepdent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. Curr. Biol. 2004. 14: 1296-1302.

Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphoryation and regulation of AKT/PKB by the Rictor-mTOR complex. Science. 2005. 307(5712): 1098-1101.

Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH. Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. Nat. Med. 2004. 10(1): 55-63.

Schmoll D, Walker KS, Alessi DR, Grempler R, Burchell A, Guo S, Walther R, Unterman TG. Regulation of glucose-6-phosphatase gene expression by protein kinase Balpha and the forkhead transcription factor FKHR. Evidence for insulin response unit-dependent and -independent effects of insulin on promoter activity. J Biol Chem. 2000. 275:36324–36333.

Scott JW, Hawley SA, Green KA, Anis M, Stewart G, Scullion GA. CBS domains form energy-sensing modules whose binding of adenosine ligands is disrupted by disease mutations. J. Clin. Invest. 2004. 117: 5479-5487.

Shao J, Yamashita H, Qiao L, Friedman JE. Decreased AKT kinase activity and insulin resistance in C57BL/KsJ—Leprdb/db mice. J. Endocrinol. 2000. 167(1): 107-115.

Sharma RP, Chopra VL. Effect of the Wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Dev. Biol. 1976. 48: 461-465.

Shi X, Wu Y, Ai Z, Liu X, Yang L, Du J, Shao J, Guo Z, Zhang Y. AICAR sustains J1 mouse embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotency by regulating transcription factor and epigenetic modulator expression. Cell. Physiol. Biochm. 2013. 32(2): 459-475.

Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J, Dirks PB. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Research. 2003. 63(18): 5821-5828.

Singh AM, Reynolds D, Cliff T, Ohtsuka S, Mattheyses AL, Sun Y, Menendez L, Kulik M, Dalton S. Signaling network crosstalk in human pluripotent cells: a Smad2/3-regulated switch that controls the balance between self-renewal and differentiation. Cell Stem Cell. 2012. 10(3): 312-326.

Smith U. TCF7L2 and type 2 diabetes—we WNT to know. Diabetologia. 2007. 50:5–7

Subramaniam D, Ramalingam S, Houchen CW, Anant S. Cancer stem cells: a novel paradigm for cancer prevention and treatment. Mini reviews in Med. Chem. 2010. 10(5): 359-371.

Suzuki A, Okamoto S, Lee S, Saito K, Shiuchi T, Minokoshi Y. Leptin stimulates fatty acid oxidation and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha gene expression in mouse C2C12 myoblasts by changing the subcellular localization of the alpha2 form of AMP-activated protein kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2007. 27: 4317-4327.

Tang JF, Wen Q, Sun J, Zhu HL. Advances in the researches on the biological activities and inhibitors of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Anticancer Agents Med. Chem. 2013. PMID: 24164048.

Taylor EB, An D, Kramer HF, Yu H, Fujii NL, Roeckl KS, Bowles N, Hirshman MF, Xie J, Feener EP, Goodyear LJ. Discovery of TBC1D1 as an insulin-, AICAR-, and contraction-stimulated signaling nexus in mouse skeletal muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 2008. 283: 9787-9796.

Tran H, Brunet A, Grenier JM, Datta SR, Fornace AJ, Distefano PS, Chiang LW, Greenberg ME. DNA repair pathway stimulated by the forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a through the Gadd45 protein. Science. 2002. 296: 530-534.

van der Heide LP, Jacobs FM, Burbach JP, Hoekman MF, Smidt MP. FoxO6 transcriptional activity is regulated by Thr26 and Ser184, independent of nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling. Biochem J. 2005. 391(Pt 3):623-9.

Vanhaesebroeck B, Alessi DR. The PI3K-PDK1 connection: more than just a road to PKB. Biochem. J. 2000. 346(3): 561-576.

Vilchez D, Boyer L, Lutz M, Merkwirth C, Morantte I, Tse C, Spencer B, Page L, Masliah E, Berggren WT, Gage FH, Dillin A. FOXO4 is necessary for neural differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Aging Cell. 2013. 12(3):518-22.

Viollet B, Andreelli F, Jørgensen SB, Perrin C, Flamez D, Mu J, Wojtaszewski JF, Schuit FC, Birnbaum M, Richter E, Burcelin R, Vaulont S. Physiological role of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK): insights from knockout mouse models. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003. 31(Pt 1):216-9.

Viollet B, Andreelli F, Jørgensen SB, Perrin C, Geloen A, Flamez D, Mu J, Lenzner C, Baud O, Bennoun M, Gomas E, Nicolas G, Wojtaszewski JF, Kahn A, Carling D, Schuit FC, Birnbaum MJ, Richter EA, Burcelin R, Vaulont S. The AMP-activated protein kinase alpha2 catalytic subunit controls whole-body insulin sensitivity. J Clin Invest. 2003. 111(1):91-8.

Watanabe S, Umehara H, Murayama K, Okabe M, Kimura T, Nakano T. Activation of AKT signaling is sufficient to maintain pluripotency in mouse and primate embryonic stem cells. Oncogene. 2006. 25(19): 2697-2707.

Weigelt J, Climent I, Dahlman-Wright K, Wikstrom M. Solution structure of the DNA binding domain of the human forkhead transcription factor AFX (FoxO4. Biochemistry. 2001. 40(20): 5861-5869.

Weil M, Jacobson MD, Coles HS, Davies TJ, Gardner RL, Raff KD, Raff MC. Constitutive expression of the machinery for programmed cell death. J. Cell Biol. 1996. 133: 1053 – 1059.

Welham MJ, Kingham E, Sanchez-Ripoli Y, Kumpfmueller B, Storm M, Bone H. Controlling embryonic stem cell proliferation and pluripotency: the role of PI3Kand GSK3-dependent signaling. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2011. 39(2): 674-678. Wray J, Kalkan T, Gomez-Lopez S, Eckardt D, Cook A, Kemler R, Smith A. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 alleviates Tcf3 repression of the pluripotency network and increases embryonic stem cell resistance to differentiation. Nat. Cell. Biol. 2011. 13(7): 838-845.

Wylie C, Kofron M, Payne C, Anderson R, Hosobuchi M, Joseph E, Heasman J. Maternal beta-catenin establishes a 'dorsal signal' in early Xenopus embryos. Development. 1996. 122(10): 2987-2996.

Yamada S, Pokutta S, Drees F, Weis WI, Nelson WJ. Deconstructing the cadherin-catenin-actin complex. Cell. 2005. 123(5): 889-901.

Yi F, Pereira L, Hoffman JA, Shy BR, Yuen CM, Liu DR, Merrill BJ. Opposing effects of Tcf3 and Tcf1 control Wnt stimulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Nat Cell Biol. 2011. 3(7):762-70.

Yochum GS, Sherrick CM, Macpartlin M, Goodman RH. A beta-catenin/TCFcoordinated chromatin loop at MYC integrates 5' and 3' Wnt responsive enhancers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 2010. 107(1): 145-150.

Zdcychoa J, Komers R. Emerging role of AKT kinase/protein kinase B signaling in pathophysiology of diabetes and its complications. Physiol Res. 2005. 54(1): 1-16.

Zhang X, Yalcin S, Lee DF, Yeh TY, Lee SM, Su J, Mungamuri AK, Rimmele P, Kennedy M, Sellers R, Landthaler M, Tuschl T, Chi NW, Lemischka I, Keller G, Ghaffari S. FOXO1 is an essential regulator of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. Nat. Cell. Biol. 2011. 13: 1092-1099.

Zhou J, Li D, Wang F. Assessing the function of mTOR in human embryonic stem cells. Methods Mol. Biol. 2012. 821: 361-372.

zur Nieden NI, Price FD< Davis LA, Everitt RE, Rancour DE. Gene-profiling on mixed embryonic stem cell populations reveals a biphasic role for beta-catenin in osteogenic differentiation. Mol. Endocrinol. 2007. 21(3): 674-685.

Chapter 2

METABOLISM IN CANCER CELLS AND PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

Tiffany S. Satoorian and Nicole I. zur Nieden
ABSTRACT

Both cancer cells and pluripotent stem cells have the ability to rapidly proliferate, but one major difference between them is the ability of pluripotent stem cells to control the cell cycle thus evading malignancy. Studying the mechanisms that both cell types have in common versus those that are differentially regulated could provide researchers with novel drug targets to "kill" malignant cancer cells.

For example, it has long been suggested that a cancer cells' metabolism sets it apart from more differentiated cells. In fact, cancer cells seems to share an increased anaerobic metabolism with pluripotent stem cells. Although both cell types share similar metabolic features, they have opposite responses to reactive oxygen species (ROS) removal and senescence. This review will highlight how cancer cells are unable to eliminate ROS due to misregulation of the transcription factors forkhead box O (FoxO) and p53, leading to an increase in DNA damage and loss of cell cycle control. Also, it will summarize how pluripotent stem cells activate different enzymes responsible for ROS removal, relieving the cells of damage due to oxidative stress. Furthermore, we will provide evidence that pluripotent stem cells also rely on a different mechanism of cell cycle regulation, namely not relying on signaling through cyclin D and the retinoblastoma (Rb) protein. Ultimately, this review aims to contrast the differences and to highlight the similarities in cancer and pluripotent stem cell metabolism.

INTRODUCTION

The process of tumorigenesis consists of multiple stages: immortalization, transformation, invasion, and in some instances, metastasis. Immortalization requires the evasion of apoptosis and senescence by growth factor independent cell proliferation. In order to grow more aggressively following immortalization, cancer cells need to be anchorage independent, resistant to contact inhibition, angiogenic, and exhibit changes in catabolic, energy producing pathways. After decades of research, it is now common knowledge that cancer cells do not catabolize glucose via the TCA cycle nor rely on oxidative phosphorylation to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP), but that their metabolism is rather dependent on anaerobic glycolysis with an increased reliance on glutamine.

Interestingly, pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) have a similar metabolic profile to cancer cells and can be used as a method for understanding cellular responses to oxidative stress and senescence in cells that proliferate indefinitely, but do not become transformed. The definition of PSCs include embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which both share the quality of limitless proliferation and differentiation capacity, and this is also exemplified by studying their metabolic profile.

Like cancer cells, PSCs have a more "primitive" form of metabolism, breaking down glucose primarily through glycolysis alone. The process of glycolysis results in an increase in ROS formation, which can lead to oxidative stress

and DNA damage. Because cancer cells acquire mutations that prevent proper response to DNA damage and cell cycle regulation, the ROS-induced DNA damage cannot be properly repaired and the cell continues to proliferate. Over time, this results in a pool of cells that have acquired many different types of mutations. Response to oxidative stress in PSCs is regulated by a different mechanism than in cancer cells, leading to the ability to respond to DNA damage and also be able to control the cell cycle.

THE WARBURG EFFECT

Both cancer cells and pluripotent stem cells rely mostly on generating energy by anaerobic glycolysis, a discovery made by Otto Warburg over seven decades ago. He found that cancerous tissues and cells display an increase in glycolysis and produce more lactic acid when compared with local tissue, giving cancer cells a selective advantage by generating energy faster and not depending on oxidative phosphorylation. This observation is clinically relevant and is used in practice for the detection of metastatic tumors and is necessary for adaptation to hypoxic conditions, an important characteristic of transformed cells (Kondoh *et al.,* 2008). Perhaps it is due to this decrease in available oxygen that has allowed for cancer cells to rely on anaerobic metabolism for energy generation.

One potential therapy for cancer is the induction of differentiation of the cancer cells. Intriguingly, a study by Schneider *et al.* has not only

demonstrated that retinoic acid induced differentiation of the neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y, but that it also resulted in a decrease in reliance on glycolysis and ATP production (Schneider *et al.*, 2011). This implies that targeting anaerobic glycolysis may serve as different mechanism for developing cancer therapies.

When considering mitochondrial mass and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) in pluripotent stem cells, it is not surprising that these cells rely mostly on anaerobic glycolysis. Both mitochondrial mass and mtDNA is low in undifferentiated pluripotent stem cells, and increases upon differentiation. This increase also corresponds to an increase in ATP production. During reprogramming of somatic cells to iPSCs, the amount of mitochondria, which is higher in the somatic differentiated cell, is decreased to a level comparable to ESCs (Prigione et al., 2010). Furthermore, a dependence on anaerobic glycolysis and high levels of lactate production in undifferentiated PSCs was observed when compared with mature cells, similar to the metabolic profile of cancer cells. In addition, several glycolytic proteins in ESCs are enzymatically more activate in ESCs while mitochondrial oxygen consumption is reduced when compared with terminally differentiated fibroblast cells (Kondoh et al., 2008). In stark contrast of what is observed in transformed cells, the genome of murine ESCs at least seems more resistant to oxidative damage. In conclusion, the increase in proliferation of ESCs appears to be related to enhanced glycolytic activity, and upon differentiation, the reliance on glycolysis decreases.

THE WARBURG EFFECT: WHO ARE THE DOWNSTREAM PLAYERS?

The observation of enhanced glycolysis in cancer cells and PSCs can result from a number of different adaptations. For example, increases in glucose transport into the cell could facilitate increases in overall metabolism. Indeed, ESCs express glucose transporter proteins GLUT1, 3 and 8, which allow them to take up glucose from the environment (Tonack *et al.*, 2006). In fact, PSCs are routinely cultured in medium that contains higher than physiological glucose concentrations to meet their need for readily converting glucose into ATP. However, studies from our lab suggest that by lowering the glucose concentration to physiological levels those portions of the population that spontaneously differentiate are reduced (Dienelt *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, increases in extracellular glucose seem to signal ESCs to differentiate and no longer contribute to the pool of cells that are self-renewing.

Not only is the intracellular glucose concentration important for enhanced glycolysis, but the activation of proteins involved in anaerobic metabolism must also increase. The question that remains is which signaling pathway would be likely to lead to this phenotype? One candidate pathway is the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway, whose activation results in an increase in glucose intake that accrues in glucose concentrations that saturate the enzymes used for oxidative phosphorylation. As a result, the remaining glucose is broken down by anaerobic metabolism and this leads increases in lactic acid formation. Aberrant PI3K signaling is observed in transformed cells, possibly explaining the high glycolytic rate even in the

presence of oxygen. Also, it has been observed that there is an increase in expression of components in PI3K signaling in PSCs and this expression is decreased during differentiation (Armstrong *et al.,* 2006). Hence, the activation of PI3K in cancer cells and pluripotent cells seems to allow an increase in glucose entry, but what mechanism results in increase anaerobic glycolysis?

One other mechanism by which anaerobic glycolysis could be favored over aerobic glycolysis is by an increase in transcription of glycolytic genes. Expression of the oncogene c-Myc is known to activate the transcription of several glycolytic enzymes and overexpression of c-Myc has been shown to immortalize epithelial cells in vitro (Gil et al., 2005), providing a link between a protein that is active in cancer cells and an increase in anaerobic metabolism. Interestingly, an increase in expression of glycolytic enzymes has been shown to increase lifespan in primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) (Kondoh et al., 2008). This last finding demonstrates that enhanced glycolysis alone may be sufficient to immortalize cells. Also, c-Myc is one of the four factors used for reprogramming human fibroblasts and has been shown to promote mouse ESC self-renewal in the absence of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), an important additive for maintaining mouse ESCs in the undifferentiated state (Kidder et al., 2008). Active c-Myc in cancer cells and pluripotent stem cells results in an increase in enzymes involved in anaerobic metabolism, shifting the balance of glucose catabolism to glycolysis.

Another mechanism by which an increase in anaerobic glycolysis could occur in cells is by a loss of function mutation in a protein that negatively regulates the process. One example of this is the tumor suppressor protein p53, known as a "guardian of the genome" and is responsible for activating transcription of genes involved in cell-cycle arrest, senescence and apoptosis in response to cellular stress. Loss of function mutations in p53 occur in a wide variety of cancers and p53 is found to be present, but inactive in pluripotent stem cells. It is known that p53 is a negative regulator of anaerobic glycolysis and one example of this regulation is the ability of p53 to activate expression of the protein TP53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR). Expression of TIGAR causes a decrease in glycolysis accompanied by an overall decrease in ROS. The ability of TIGAR to decrease ROS levels may aid in the ability of p53 to protect the cell from DNA damage (Bensaad et al., 2006). Because p53 is mutated in many cancers, it cannot properly regulate TIGAR expression and its ability to inhibit anaerobic glycolysis, resulting in increased anaerobic metabolism.

It has also been observed that ESCs express an abundance of p53 protein, but is found to be inactive (Solozobova *et al.*, 2011). The protein is predominantly localized to the cytoplasm of undifferentiated cells, and this might account for the decrease in p53 activity. During differentiation, p53 activity is increased and the transcription of its target genes are also known to increase. This implies that the increase in glycolysis observed in pluripotent stem cells can be due to the inactivation of p53, mimicking what occurs in transformed cells.

In summary, there is an increase in glucose uptake in cancer and pluripotent cells as a result of aberrant PI3K activation. Activation of the oncogene c-Myc and the inhibition of the tumor suppressor p53 result in a molecular switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis and an increase in lactic acid production (Figure 1).

GLYCOLYSIS AND ROS

As a result of normal cell metabolism, ROS are generated at low levels and are eliminated by a cellular antioxidant system that includes multiple enzymes responsible for ROS removal, including manganese-containing superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) and catalase. The amount of ROS in a cellular environment is a balance between ROS production and metabolic elimination. If this scale is imbalanced and results in an increase of ROS, the cell is said to be in oxidative stress. This is important because ROS are known to induce nucleic acid and amino acid damage, resulting in malformations in DNA, RNA, and proteins. In cancer cells and ESCs, there is an elevation in ROS levels as a result of increased glycolysis, leading to an observed increase in oxidative stress for responding to this dilemma. In cancer cells, the increase in oxidative stress aids cancer progression through promotion of DNA damage and reduced mismatch repair (Singh, 2006) while ESCs appear to be resistant to ROS

induced DNA damage. Although both cell types exhibit increases in ROS, how is it that ESCs are able to be resistant to DNA damage?

In order to clarify this puzzle, it is important to study proteins known to be activated in response to oxidative stress. The FoxO transcription factors play an important role in ROS removal, stress resistance, apoptosis, and cell proliferation. These proteins are very important in untransformed cells, as they can halt the cell cycle in response to oxidative stress and DNA damage. The FoxO proteins are regulated by two mechanisms in untransformed cells: stress response and PI3K signaling (Myatt et al., 2011). Following PI3K activation, protein kinase B (PKB/Akt) is activated and phosphorylates FoxO, leading to its nuclear exclusion. In addition, increases in ROS result in JNK and silencing information regulator 1 (SIRT1) activation, both of which positively regulate FoxO and its ability to activate transcription of genes involved in cell cycle arrest and resistance to oxidative stress (Dansen, 2011). Additionally, FoxO proteins can directly sense ROS through the ability of ROS to induce the formation of disulfide bridges between cysteine residues on FoxO on the acetyltransferase p300/CBP. This results in crosslinking of the two proteins and the ability of p300/CBP to efficiently acetylate and activate FoxO transcription of ROS removal enzymes (Dansenx, 2011). On the other hand, hydrogen peroxide (a by-product of ROS removal) can activate the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), resulting in PI3K activation (Heffetz et al., 1992). Following PI3K activation then, as mentioned above, Akt is activated and is responsible for FoxO removal from the nucleus. As mentioned

previously, activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway is common in cancers, leading to inhibition of FoxO and its ability to regulate ROS removal, apoptosis, and senescence. In other words, the increases in ROS as a result of increased glycolysis are not removed by FoxO, due to the aberrantly active Akt. Additionally, PI3K activation results in the inhibition of the tumor suppressor gene product PTEN, which is responsible for cell cycle regulation. Taken together, an increase in glycolysis in cancer cells leads to an overproduction of ROS which cannot be properly removed due to aberrant PI3K activation that leads to FoxO inhibition. Because there are defects in ROS removal, there is an increase in DNA damage, further contributing to cancer progression.

How does this differ in pluripotent stem cells? In a paper published in 2010, it was reported that a FoxO orthologue, FoxO1, is essential for hESC pluripotency by mediating activation of Oct4 and Sox2, two genes necessary for hESC "stemness" (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). The researchers also observe that although Akt phosphorylates FoxO1 in human ESCs, the phosphorylated FoxO1 remains in the nucleus and is active. This independence of Akt inhibition is a significant difference compared to what occurs in cancer cells. In cancer cells, phosphorylation of FoxO proteins by Akt results in nuclear export and an inability to activate gene expression. In ESCs, Akt phosphorylation of FoxO1 removal from the nucleus or a decrease in transcriptional activity. Although PSCs have a similar metabolic profile when compared with cancer cells, one major difference is

the regulation of FoxO proteins. Since FoxO proteins are active in PSCs, ROS removal will occur, resulting in a decrease in DNA damage due to oxidative stress.

Levels of ROS are also influenced by p53 and this is important because p53 is often mutated in cancers and is inactive in PSCs. Paradoxically, p53 can activate transcription of both pro-oxidant and anti-oxidant genes and the role p53 will play depends on the cellular context. Following transcription of several pro-oxidant genes, ROS levels are increased and contribute to p53-induced cell death. At the same time, p53 is known to activate expression of glutathione peroxidase, an important antioxidant protein. Although this seems illogical, scientists were able to determine that the level and activity of p53 determines the course p53 will take regarding ROS removal. At physiological levels of p53, there is an increase in transcription of antioxidant genes, resulting in a decrease in ROS, the cell cycle being arrested and DNA being repaired. However, when p53 is upregulated due to cellular stress, there is an increase in pro-oxidant gene expression that is imbalanced compared to the antioxidant gene expression. This results in an increase in ROS levels and cell death (Sablina *et al.*, 2005).

Not only is p53 nuclear activity important, but also p53 localization changes in response to oxidative stress. When there is an increase in cellular ROS, p53 is translocated to the mitochondria and binds directly to the antioxidant MnSOD, inhibiting its activity. This results in a decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential, an increase in ROS formation, and the cell undergoes

apoptosis mediated by p53 (Zhao *et al.,* 2005). Like FoxO proteins, p53 is also redox-sensitive, containing cysteine residues in the DNA-binding domain that can serve as redox sensors. Following exposure to ROS, the thiol (-SH) groups in cysteine form disulfide bonds, which can then directly affect the DNA binding and transcriptional activity, resulting in transcription of genes that will protect the cell against harmful ROS damage (Hainaut *et al.*, 1993). Since p53 is commonly mutated in cancer cells, the protein cannot protect the cells from this oxidative damage, leading to further DNA mutations and cancer progression.

Earlier, it was mentioned that p53 is inactive and mainly localized to the cytoplasm in ESCs even though ESCs are more resistant to oxidative damage due to increases in ROS. In a paper by Han *et al.*, the researchers investigate the response of ESC to ROS. Following oxidative stress, SIRT1 is activated, resulting in ESC apoptosis and inhibition of the antioxidant role of p53 (Han *et al.*, 2008). As previously noted, SIRT1 activation also results in FoxO activation, which can then protect the cell from DNA damage. Oxidative stress also results in repression of Nanog, a very important transcription factor involved in maintaining cells in the pluripotent state. Although p53 is inactive in ESCs and in most cancers, ESCs have a mechanism for responding to oxidative stress through SIRT1 independently of p53.

In summary, because FoxO and p53 function in ROS removal, DNA damage response, cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis, inhibition of these two proteins in cancer cells only leads to cancer progression (Figure 2). Although ESCs also

generate a lot of ROS as a result of increased glycolysis, they are able to respond to these increases through indirect activation of FoxO mediated by SIRT1 (Figure 3).

SENESCENCE

Senescence is an irreversible form of terminal differentiation and is thought to protect against neoplasia by inhibiting cellular growth. Both cancer cells and PSCs do not undergo senescence, as both cell types continuously proliferate. However, while cancer cells do not, PSCs maintain their ability to respond to signals that promote senescence.

It has been proposed that mitochondria serve as an important link between the production of ROS and physiological function. Increase in ROS production in mitochondria results in oxidative damage in cells and tissues and contributes to aging, with this affect being observed more in tissues with an intrinsically high amount of mitochondrial activity. The senescence of human dermal fibroblasts was used to study aging *in vitro* and the results showed that mitochondrial respiration and content is increased in senescent cells. In agreement with these findings, a 2-hour exposure to H_2O_2 induced an abrupt, senescent-like arrest in human fibroblasts (Chen *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, an increase in oxidative metabolism results in an overproduction of ROS, which results in oxidative damage and is closely linked to senescence in normal cells.

One major player for inhibiting senescence is PI3K, a kinase that was previously described as being active in cancer cells and in PSCs (Ho *et al.,* 2008). Repression of PI3K in cancer cells resulted in premature senescence and FoxO activation. Further implicating a role for PI3K in senescence, inhibition of PI3K using the chemical inhibitors wortmannin or LY294002 results in cell cycle arrest and cellular senescence in primary MEFs through FoxO-induced p27 expression. Overexpression of FoxO or p27 in MEFs recapitulates the same phenotype. It is therefore possible that senescence cannot be mediated by FoxO activation in cancer cells and PSCs due to the elevated PI3K signaling in both cell types.

In addition to PI3K, the tumor suppressor p53 also regulates senescence. It is well known that p53 activation results in transcription of genes involved in cell cycle regulation. However, this will lead to cell cycle arrest, but must be further maintained for the cell to become senescent. As discussed earlier, p53 has both pro-oxidant and anti-oxidant capabilities, depending on the cellular context. In order to promote cellular senescence, p53's ability to increase cellular ROS results in the activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). Although mTOR is usually associated with cellular growth, its function changes to promote senescence under conditions promoting cell cycle arrest (Vigneron et al., 2010). Rapamycin, a small molecule inhibitor of mTOR, is known to inhibit proliferation of many cancers, signifying the active state of mTOR in cancer cells. Taken together, p53 inhibition and mTOR activity in transformed cells results in the ability of mTOR to promote cell

proliferation and not to function in senescence. The role of mTOR is also similar in ESCs, promoting cell proliferation and inhibiting differentiation (Zhou et al., 2009). In summary, oxidative stress in normal cells results in p53 activation and the inhibition of the cell cycle. The interaction between p53 and mTOR in this circumstance leads to cellular senescence. In cancer cells and ESCs, p53 is inactive and cannot function together with mTOR to promote senescence. At the same time, mTOR will be free to regulate cellular proliferation, the exact opposite of the desired response.

The Rb protein is also involved in cell cycle regulation and senescence. It is commonly mutated in cancer cells and is expressed yet inactive in ESCs. Cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) phosphorylate and inactivate Rb, promoting entry into the S phase of the cell cycle. In rapidly dividing cells, Cdks are active, resulting in Rb inhibition and cell cycle progression. The Cdks are inhibited in senescent cells and Rb can effectively inhibit cell cycle progression. Because Rb is commonly mutated in cancer cells and inactive in pluripotent stem cells, Rb-mediated cell cycle inhibition does not occur. Upstream, the Rb proteins are positively regulated through FoxO. Activation of FoxO due to oxidative stress results in transcription of the genes p21 and p27, the protein products of which inhibit Cdks and result in Rb activation. In human cells, once Rb is fully engaged, senescent cells to reinitiate DNA synthesis, but the cells fail to complete the cell cycle (Beausejour *et al.* 2003).

It appears that p53 works cooperatively with Rb to induce and maintain senescence. Following Rb and p53 inactivation in senescent MEFs, the cells re-enter the cell cycle, suggesting that both proteins are required for the onset and maintainence of senescence (Sage et al., 2003, Dirac et al., 2003). The link between Rb and p53 in controlling cellular senescence is hypothesized to be the p21 protein. The p21 gene is a p53 and FoxO transcriptional target and the protein product is involved in DNA damage-induced cell cycle arrest, cellular senescence, and terminal differentiation. As mentioned previously, the downstream activity of p21 is to inhibit Cdks, resulting in Rb activation. To illustrate how this pathway works in transformed cells, loss of function of p53 and FoxO proteins results in an inability to decrease ROS and increases in ROS induced DNA damage. Transformed cells also lose control of the cell cycle due to mutations in the above-mentioned genes and also in the Rb protein. This results in a population of cells that show increases in anaerobic metabolism and ROS levels, but are incapable of removing ROS and inhibiting the cell cycle.

How are these proteins interacting in PSCs? It appears that ESCs express very low levels of Cdk D-type cyclins, major regulators of the Rb protein. They are also resistant to the growth-inhibitory effect of the cyclin D inhibitor, p16. This implies that ESCs have a different mechanism of cell cycle control that does not rely on Rb inhibition. This decrease in Rb reliance can be compared to the high incidence of Rb loss of function mutations in cancer cells. As ESCs differentiate, the expression of the D-type cyclins is resumed, suggesting that

differentiation induces a "normal" cell cycle control mechanism. As mentioned earlier, ESCs express high levels of p53, but keep it inactivated by sequestering the protein in the cytoplasm. Forced entry of p53 into the nucleus fails to induce cell cycle arrest, suggesting that it is not merely p53 location that prevents expression of target genes involved in cell cycle regulation. It has also been noted that the cell cycle regulatory function of p53 is restored upon differentiation (Savatier *et al.*, 2002). So, by what mechanism do ESCs protect themselves from losing control of the cell cycle?

Perhaps a plausible explanation is the ability of ESCs to respond to oxidative stress by activating SIRT1, indirectly allowing FoxO proteins to become transcriptionally active and regulate the cell cycle. Also, we have already seen that Akt induced phosphorylation of FoxO1 proteins in ESCs does not affect the ability of FoxO1 to regulate genes. Therefore, one of the ways that ESCs could control the cell cycle is through activation of FoxO, a protein that is inactive in transformed cells due to Akt activation.

CANCER CELLS AND GLUTAMINE

While cancer cells depend on aerobic glycolysis for their continued growth, they often secondarily also become addicted to glutamine (Eagle, 1955). Illogically, glutamine is a nonessential amino acid that can be synthesized from glucose. To understand the reason for this glutamine addiction, it is important to note that in order for cells to proliferate, there is a requirement for

production of nucleotides and amino acids for the synthesis of DNA, RNA and protein macromolecules. Based on its molecular structure, when catabolized glutamine specifically contributes nitrogen from its amide group for the biosynthesis of new macromolecules. However, the high rate of glutamine uptake exhibited by glutamine-dependent transformed cells does not appear to result solely from its role as a nitrogen donor. Instead, glutamine plays a required role in the uptake of essential amino acids and in maintaining activation of mTOR complex 1 (mTORc1). In response to PI3K/Akt activation, mTORc1 is activated and can activate the p70S6 Kinase 1 (S6K1) and the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein 1 (4E-BP1). Both S6K1 and 4E-BP1 are key players in eukaryotic mRNA translation and play an important role in a rapidly dividing cell by aiding in rapid protein synthesis. As mentioned previously, ROS-induced activation of p53 coupled with mTOR activation results in senescence. However, because of p53 inhibition and increases in glutamine concentration in cancer cells, mTOR is unable to promote senescence and instead promotes synthesis of biological molecules and cellular proliferation.

While cancer cells are termed "glutamine traps" because of their ability to deplete glutamine stores in the host, stem cells also rely on glutamine for continued proliferation, but react differently when in an environment containing an excess amount of glutamine. For instance, human mesenchymal stem cells, a type of adult stem cell, consumes glutamine preferably over other amino acids (Higuera *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore,

metabolism and cell proliferation of adipose derived stem cells from the rabbit slows down in the presence of very low glutamine concentrations (Follmar *et al.*, 2006). Because these proliferative adult stem cells demand the synthesis of biological macromolecules, decreases in the glutamine supply seem to thus halt their ability to self-renew. However, adult stem cells only have a limited capacity to self-renew and senesce over time in culture. So, what happens when the indefinitely proliferating pluripotent stem cells are in an environment that contains an excess of glutamine? In fact, according to very recent study in 2011, PSCs appear to differentiate when they are in an environment that has a high glutamine content (McIntyre *et al.*, 2011). Although human ESCs metabolize glutamine, this implies that excess extracellular glutamine concentrations could trigger human ESCs to no longer self-renew. This seems to be a fundamental difference between transformed cells and pluripotent stem cells.

CONCLUSION

Cancer cells and pluripotent stem cells both exhibit an increase in anaerobic metabolism and glutamine utilization that must be beneficial for rapidly dividing cells. However, both cell types respond differently to increases in oxidative stress, cell cycle regulation and extracellular glutamine concentration. In this review, it has been demonstrated that FoxO, p53, and various other cell cycle regulators are the key players that are responsible this difference.



Figure 2.1: Summary of Glycolytic Activity in Cancer Cells and Pluripotent Stem Cells. In both cell types, activation of PI3K and c-Myc promotes increases in anaerobic metabolism. The tumor suppressor p53, an inhibitor of glycolysis, is generally mutated in cancer cells and inactive in pluripotent stem cells, relieving its inhibition on both cell types.



Figure 2.2: Summary of ROS response in cancer cells. Due to mutations in p53 and inhibition of FoxO proteins, cancer cells cannot protect themselves from DNA damage induced by ROS.



Figure 2.3: Summary of ROS response in pluripotent stem cells. Pluripotent stem cells react to increases in oxidative stress by activating SIRT1, which then activates FoxO proteins that are responsible for ROS removal.

REFERENCES

Armstrong, L., Hughes, O., Yung, S., Hyslop, L., Stewart, R., Wappler, I., Peters, H., Walter, T., Stojkovic, P., Evans, J., Stojkobic, M., Lako, M. The role pf PI3K/Akt, MAPK/ERK, and NF κ B signaling in the maintenance of human embryonic stem cell pluripotency and viability highlighted by transcriptional profiling and functional analysis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 2006. 15:1894-1913.

Beausejour, C.M. Krtolica, A., Galimi, F., Narita, M., Lowe, S.W., Yaswen, P., Campisi, J. Reversal of human cellular senescence: roles of the p53 and p16 pathways. EMBO. J. 2003. 22: 4212-4222.

Bensaad, K., Tsuruta, A., Selak, M.A., Nieves Calvo Vidal, M., Nakano K., Bartrons, R., Gottlieb, E., Vousden, K.H. 2006. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. Cell. 126: 107-120.

Chen, Q., Ames, B.N. Senescence-like growth arrest induced by hydrogen peroxide in human diploid fibroblast F65 cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1994. 91: 4130-4134.

Dansen T.B. Forkhead box O transcription factors: key players in redox signalling. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 2011. 14: 559-561.

Dienelt, A., zur Nieden, N.I. Hyperglycemia impairs skeletogenesis from embryonic stem cells by affecting osteoblast and osteoclast differentiation. Stem Cells Dev. 2011. 20: 465-474.

Dirac, A.M., Bernards, R. Reversal of senescence in mouse fibroblasts through lentiviral suppression of p53. J. Biol. 2003. Chem. 278: 11731-11734.

Eagle, H. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science. 1955 122: 501-514.

Follmar, K.E., Decroos, F.C., Prichard, H.L., Wang, H.T., Erdmann, D., Olbrich, K.C. Effects of glutamine, glucose, and oxygen concentration on the metabolism and proliferation of rabbit adipose-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng. 2006. 12:3525-3533.

Gil, J. Kerai, P., Lleonart, M., Bernard, D., Cigudosa, J.C., Peters, G., Carnero, A., Beach, D. Immortalization of primary human prostate epithelial cells by c-Myc. Cancer Res. 2005. 65: 2179-2185.

Hainaut, P., Milner, J. Redox modulation of p53 conformation and sequencespecific DNA binding in vitro. Cancer Res. 1993. 53: 4469-4473.

Han, M.K., Song, E.K., Guo, Y., Ou, X., Mantel, C., Broxmeyer, H.E. SIRT1 regulates apoptosis and Nanog expression in mouse embryonic stem cells by controlling p53 subcellular localization. Cell Stem Cell. 2008. 2:241-251.

Heffetz, D., Rutter, W.J., Zick, Y. The insulinomimetic agents H2O2 and vanadate stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of potential target proteins for the insulin receptor kinase in intact cells. Biochem. J. 1992. 288: 631-635.

Higuera, G., Schop, D., Spitters, T.W., Dijkhuizen-Radersma, R., Bracke, M., de Brujin, J.D., Martens, D., Karperien, M., van Boxtel, A., van Blitterswijk, C.A. Patters of amino acid metabolism by proliferating human mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng. Part A. 2012.

Ho, K.K., Myatt, S.S., Lam, E.W.F. Many forks in the path: cycling with FoxO. Oncogene. 2008. 27:2300-2311.

Kidder, B.J., Yang, J., Palmer, S. Stat3 and c-Myc genome-wide promoter occupancy in embryonic stem cells. PLoS One. 2008. 3:e3932.

Kondoh, H. Cellular life span and the Warburg effect. Exp. Cell. Res. 2008. 9: 1923-1928.

McIntyre, D.A., Melguize Sanchis, D., Jimenez, B., Moreno, R., Stojkovic, M., Pineda, Lucena, A. Characterisation of human embryonic stem cells conditioning media by 1H-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. PLoS One. 2011. 6:e16732.

Myatt, S.S., Brosens, J.J., Lam, E.W. Sense and sensitivity: FOXO and ROS in cancer development and treatment. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 2011. 14: 675-687.

Prigione, A., Fauler, B., Lurz, R., Lehrach, H., Adjaye, J. The senescencerelated mitochondrial/oxidative stress pathway is repressed in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells. 2010. 28: 721-733.

Sablina, A.A., Budanov, A.V., Ilyinskaya, G.V., Agapova, L.S., Kravchenko, J.E., Chumakov, P.M. The antioxidant function of the p53 tumor suppressor. Nat. Med. 2005. 11: 1306-1313.

Sage, J., Miller, A.L., Perez-Mancera, P.A., Wysocki, J.M., Jacks, T. Acute mutation of the retinoblastoma gene function is sufficient for cell cycle reentry. Nature. 2003. 424: 223-228.

Savatier, P., Lapillonne, H., Jimanova, L., Vitelli, L., Samarut, J. Analysis of the cell cycle in mouse embryonic stem cells. Methods Mol. Biol. 2002. 185:27-33.

Schneider, L., Giordano, S., Zelickson, B.R., Johnson, M.S., Benavides, G.A., Ouyang, X., Fineberg, n., Darley-Usmar, V.M., Zhang, J. Differentiation of SH-SY5Y cells to neuronal phenotype changes cellular bioenergetics and the response to oxidative stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2011. 51: 2007-2017.

Singh, K.K. Mitochondria damage checkpoint, aging, and cancer. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2006. 1067: 182-190.

Solozobova, V., Rollettscheck A., Blattner, C. Nuclear accumulation and activation of p53 in embryonic stem cells after DNA damage. BMC Cell Biol. 2009. 10: 46.

Tonack, S., Rolletschek, A., Wobus, A.M., Fischer, B., Santos, A.N. Differential expression of glucose transporter isoforms during embryonic stem cell differentiation. Differentiation. 2006. 74: 499-509.

Vigneron, A., Vousden, K.H. p53, ROS and senescence in the control of aging. Aging. 2010. 2: 471-474.

Zhang, X., Yalcin, S., Lee, D.F., Yeh, T.Y., Lee, S.M., Su, J., Mungamuri, A.K., Rimmele, P., Kennedy, M., Sellers, R., Landthaler, M., Tuschl, T., Chi, N.W., Lemischka, I., Keller, G., Ghaffari, S. FoxO1 is an essential regulator of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 2011. 13:1092-1099.

Zhao, Y.F., Chaiswing, L., Velez, J.M., Batinic-Haberle, I., Colburn, N.H., Oberley, T.D., St Clair, D.K. 2005. P53 translocation to mitochondria precedes its nuclear translocation and targets mitochondrial oxidative defense protein manganese superoxide dismutase. Cancer Res. 65: 3745-3750.

Zhou, J., Su, P., Wang, L., Chen, J., Zimmermann, M., Genbacev, O., Afonja, O., Horne, M.C., Tanaka, T, Duan, E., Fisher, S.J., Liao, J., Chen, J., Wang, F. 2009. mTOR supports long-term self-renewal and suppresses mesoderm and endoderm activities of human embryonic stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 106:7840-7845.

Small Molecule Neurotrophin Mimics Either Enhance Clonal Survival or Differentiation Propensity of Human Embryonic Stem Cells dependent on Co-activation of p75^{NTR}

Tiffany S. Satoorian^{1,2}, Nicole I. zur Nieden², Michael C. Pirrung¹

¹ Department of Chemistry, College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of California Riverside, Riverside, CA, 92521

² Department of Cell Biology & Neuroscience and Stem Cell Center, College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of California Riverside, Riverside, CA, 92521

Abstract

Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) cultured by current methods have a low single cell survival rate, limiting the ability to rapidly expand these cells and use them for genetic manipulation. The use of neurotrophins enhances clonal survival of hESCs cultured in a feeder-dependent hESC culture system, through activation of the tropomyosin related kinase (Trk) receptors. Treatment with neurotrophins also activates the low-affinity neurotrophin receptor p75^{NTR}, which activates pathways that promote apoptosis. Here, we describe the identification of two compounds (1D6 and 1E11) that stimulate Trk activation, but not p75^{NTR} activation, as these compounds are known to activate the receptor tyrosine kinase domain that is present in Trk receptors, but absent in the p75^{NTR}. Treatment with these compounds at certain concentrations stimulated clonal hESC survival through downstream activation of AKT and ERK. At the same time, there is a concentration dependent increase in nuclear β -catenin and an increase in differentiation of hESCs. Ultimately, these two novel compounds are useful to enhance clonal survival of undifferentiated hESCs or drive their differentiation.

Introduction

Undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) cultured by common practices have low clonal survival and often require the use of a mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) feeder layer to maintain the undifferentiated state.

The reliance on MEFs for maintaining hESCs in the undifferentiated state carries the risk of infection by non-human pathogens and the introduction of non-human epitopes on the cell surface. An example of this is the incorporation of the animal-derived sialic acid *N*-Glycolyneuraminic acid on the plasma membrane of hESCs following growth on MEFs (Martin et al., 2005). The introduction of this epitope would evoke an immune response in healthy humans, preventing their use in transplantation studies.

Much work has been done to formulate hESC growth conditions that do not require MEFs and reduce the need for animal-derived products. One of the most widely used feeder-independent culture systems includes the use of mTESR medium and growth on Matrigel-coated dishes (Ludwig et al., 2006). Unfortunately, there is low single-cell survival of hESCs in these conditions, making it difficult to rapidly expand hESCs and genetically manipulate these cells. The addition of the costly fibroblast growth factor (FGF) to the above mentioned cell culture medium is thought to enhance their survival in clonal culture methods, though signaling initiated by FGF stimulates differentiation into neural lineages (Carpenter et al., 2001).

More recently the use of neurotrophins as culture additive has been exploited. H1 and H9 hESCs cultured in feeder-dependent systems express the receptor tropomyosin receptor kinases (Trk) TrkB and TrkC, both of which bind to neurotrophins and stimulate pathways that inhibit apoptosis (Pyle et al., 2006).

Treatment of H1 and H9 hESCs with neurotrophins resulted in an increase in clonal survival. However, neurotophins can also activate the low-affinity p75^{NTR}, a TNF-family member that is known to be pro-apoptotic (Barret, 2000). The two receptors differ in that the Trk receptors have an internal kinase domain, a region that is lacking in the p75^{NTR}. The use of small molecules that act on this kinase domain to activate down-stream signaling would be advantageous to using neurotrophins, as these small molecules would selectively activate the Trk receptors and stimulate anti-apoptotic pathways, while the pro-apoptotic signaling mediated by neurotrophin addition would be avoided.

Recent work in our laboratory has focused on a family of small molecules known as asterriquinones. Asterriquinones were originally identified as activators of the insulin receptor and act directly on the receptor tyrosine kinase domain (Webster and Pirrung, 2008). One member of this family, DAQ B1, was shown to be a small molecule insulin mimic (Zhang B et al., 1999). In a different study, DAQ B1 was shown to induce TrkA phosphorylation at an optimal concentration of 20 μ M (Wilkie et al., 2001). This latter study demonstrated that insulin had no effect on Trk phosphorylation, but that DAQ B1 could stimulate TrkB and TrkC phosphorylation in Chinese hamster ovarian (CHO) cells stably expressing human Trk receptors. A library of DAQ B1 analogs has since been made by our laboratory and was screened to identify molecules that are Trk signaling agonists. From this library of compounds, 2 molecules, 1D6 and 1E11 (Figure 1A), were found to stimulate Trk receptor phosphorylation in CHO cells.

The aim of this study was to identify small molecule neurotrophin mimics that would enhance clonal survival of hESCs in a feeder-independent system. Specifically, we were interested in activating the Trk neurotrophin receptors while ensuring that the $p75^{NTR}$ remained inactive. In the process, we found that although treatment with neurotrophin mimics promoted single cell survival with the use of certain concentrations of one compound, there was an observed increase in spontaneous differentiation with other concentrations of compound treatment possibly mediated by an increase in nuclear β -catenin levels and differences in ERK activation kinetics.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture: For feeder-dependent culture, the H9 hESC line (WiCell) was cultured on irradiated mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs). Human ESCs were cultured in high glucose DMEM supplemented with L-glutamine, nonessential amino acids, serum replacement (Invitrogen, 10828) and 4 ng/ml of basic Fibroblast growth factor (Invitrogen, PHG0024). Cells were passaged using collagenase IV (Invitrogen, 17104) and a cell scraper (BD Biosciences, 353085) approximately every 5 days. For the feeder-independent system, hESCs were grown using complete mTeSR medium (Stem Cell Technologies, 05850). All cell culture medium was refreshed daily and cells were observed for density and pluripotency. Once cultures reached ~70% confluency, hESCs were passaged

using Accutase (Stem Cell Technologies, 07920) and plated on culture vessels that were coated with Matrigel (BD Biosciences, 354234).

Clonal Survival Assay: Single cell suspensions were created by incubating cells with Accutase (Stem Cell Technologies, 07920), pipetting suspension gently to further break up the cells, and passing them through a cell strainer (BD Falcon, 352340) that would not allow the passage of clumps. Cells were counted using a hemocytometer and then plated on 96-well plates (BD Falcon, 353224) containing irradiated feeders or coated with Matrigel (BD Biosciences, 354234).

Chemical Treatment: Cells were treated with solvent control, NT-3, or small molecule neurotrophin mimics. NT-3 was chosen as a positive control as it activates TRKB, TRKC, and the low-affinity p75^{NTR} (Friedman et al., 1999). Cells were treated with NT-3 (concentrations of 0.1, 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30, and 100 ng/ml) dissolved in PBS containing 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA). As a negative control for NT-3 treatment, cells were treated with 5% BSA in PBS alone. A library of DAQ B1 analogs was synthesized and tested for their ability to stimulate TRK receptor phosphorylation in CHO cells. From this, two compounds (1D6 and 1E11) were identified with the ability to activate the TRK receptors (unpublished data). Stock solutions of 10 mM concentrations were made in DMSO. From this, compounds were diluted in medium to make solutions containing 0.1, 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30 and 100 μ M compound. Solvent control cells were treated with DMSO alone.

Alkaline Phosphatase (AP) Staining: Wells were washed twice with PBS and then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. Fixative was washed once with PBS and AP enzymatic activity was tested using the Alkaline Phosphatase Detection Kit (Millipore, scr004) by addition of the AP staining reagent (2:1:1 ratio of Fast Red Violet, Naphthol AS-BI phosphate, and deionized water). Samples were incubated in the dark for 15 min, solution was aspirated, and wells were washed with 1X TBST. Cultures were photographed in PBS.

RNA extraction: For determining TRK receptor expression cells were cultured on Matrigel in mTESR medium for 3 days, washed with PBS twice, and then lysed for RNA extraction using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, 74104). For RNA expression analysis following NT-3 and compound treatment, single cell suspensions were made and 300,000 cells were plated per well of a 6-well plate. Cells were treated with compound at plating and were given 6 h to adhere. RNA lysates were prepared by combining RNA extracts from adherent and floating cells. Samples were washed with PBS twice and RNA was extracted using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, 74104). All extracted RNA was treated with DNase I (Ambion, AM2222) and quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (ND-1000, Nanodrop).

cDNA synthesis and RT-PCR: cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng of RNA using an oligo dT primer and the Omniscript Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, 205111). The PCR reaction was completed using 25 ng of cDNA, 1X PCR buffer,

1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM dNTPs, 0.8 μM primers, and 1 unit of Taq DNA polymerase (all besides primers from Qiagen, 201225). The thermal cycling parameters were as follows: primary denaturation, 3 min at 94°C; 30 cycles (housekeeper gene) or 35 cycles (genes of interest) of denaturation for 1 min at 94°C; annealing for 1 min at 60°C; extension for 1 min at 72°C and final extension for 10 min at 72°C. The final PCR products were run on an agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

Immunocytochemistry: Cultures were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 20 min. Samples were then permeabilized in blocking buffer (PBS containing 1% BSA and 0.5% Triton X-100) for 10 min at room temperature. Wells were then incubated in primary antibody diluted in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C (mouse anti-Oct3/4, BD Biosciences, 611203; rabbit anti-pTRK^{Tyr490}, Cell Signaling Technology, 9141; mouse anti-β-catenin, Sigma Aldrich, C2206; rabbit anti-p75, Abcam, ab8874). Wells were washed and incubated in fluorescent-labeled secondary antibody at room temperature for 1 hour (Invitrogen, A-11018, A-11008). The nuclear stain 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was added for the last 30 min of secondary antibody incubation. Wells were washed and visualized using a Nikon Eclipse TI microscope.

Western Blotting: Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS in 1x PBS, pH 7.4) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (104 mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl))

benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 80 μM aprotinin, 4 mM bestatin, 1.4 mM E-64, 2 mM leupeptin and 1.5 mM pepstatin A, Sigma Aldrich, P8340). Protein was quantified using the DC Protein Assay (Biorad, 500-0111). Following quantification, 25 μg of protein was loaded on an SDS-PAGE gel and run for 120 min at 100 V. Proteins were then transferred overnight at 30V in 4°C. Membranes were blocked for 1h at room temperature in 5% BSA diluted in 1X TBST, and then incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C with shaking. Membranes were washed, incubated with secondary antibody, and developed using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce, 34077). The following antibodies were used: rabbit anti-Actin (Cell Signaling Technology, 4970), rabbit anti-pAKT^{Ser473} (Cell Signaling Technology, 9271), rabbit anti-pERK^{Thr202/Tyr204} (Cell Signaling Technology, 7074).

Statistics: Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation. Comparison of two groups was made using Student's t-test for unpaired data. Comparison of more than two groups was conducted using one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey-test with **P*<0.05 considered significant.

Results

H1 Human ESCs grown in a feeder-dependent system demonstrate an increase in clonal survival following 1D6 or 1E11 treatment

Single cell suspensions of hESCs were treated with NT-3 to confirm previous published data and to compare compound efficacy in enhancing cell survival. Treatment with NT-3 resulted in an increase in clonal survival of hESCs in a feeder-dependent system, verifying previous findings and supporting the use of NT-3 as a positive control (Figure 1B). Because 1D6 and 1E11 have not yet been tested to enhance clonal survival of hESCs in a feeder dependent system, single cell suspensions of hESCs were then treated with either compound and allowed 5 days to adhere and grow. The number of alkaline phosphatase (AP⁺) colonies observed was counted as a measure for pluripotency, and compared to solvent control cultures. Treatment with either 1D6 or 1E11 led to a dose-dependent increase in the number of AP⁺ colonies (Figure 1B). These results confirm that treatment with 1D6 or 1E11 resulted in similar enhancement of clonal survival compared with NT-3 treatment.

Human ESCs grown in a feeder-free culture system express functional neurotrophin receptors

While hESCs grown in a feeder-dependent manner had been previously reported to express neurotrophin receptors, it is unclear whether hESCs cultured on Matrigel in mTESR medium, a feeder-independent system, have the same

receptor make-up. Using PCR analysis, it was determined that hESCs cultured in this more defined system express high levels of both the TrkB and low levels of the TrkC receptor, but also the p75^{NTR}, implying that these cells are capable to activate both pro-survival and pro-apoptotic pathways in response to neurotrophin addition (Figure 2A). Due to its ability to stimulate and activate TrkB, TrkC (Glass et al., 1991, Lamballe et al., 1991) and also the p75^{NTR} (Barret. 2000), NT-3 was then tested for its ability to enhance clonal hESC survival in feeder-free conditions. Single cell suspensions were treated with varying concentrations of NT-3 and the number of surviving pluripotent colonies was determined by counting colonies with nuclear presence of the transcription factor OCT4. The number of OCT4⁺ colonies increased in a dose-dependent manner with NT-3 treatment, with there being a decline in cell survival with 30 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml treatment (Figure 2B). These results are consistent with previous findings (Pyle et al., 2006) and suggest that NT-3 is able to enhance clonal survival also in feeder-independent conditions. Since undifferentiated hESCs tested positive for p75^{NTR} expression, the noted decline in survival at higher concentrations of NT-3 treatment could be due to activation of the p75^{NTR} receptor and promotion of cell death pathways. The data demonstrates that hESCs cultured in feeder-free conditions express functional neurotrophin receptors as their survival is enhanced after exposure to NT-3.
1D6 and 1E11 increase single cell survival of hESCs in a feeder-independent system

Next, the small molecule neurotrophin mimics 1D6 and 1E11 were tested for their ability to increase clonal survival of hESCs cultured on Matrigel in mTESR medium. Treatment with negative control had no significant effect on clonal hESC survival (Figure 2C). However, there was a dose-dependent increase in cell survival over solvent controls with 1D6, with 3 μ M resulting in the largest number of OCT4⁺ colonies observed (Figure 2D). Treatment with lower concentrations of 1E11 (0.1 - 1 μ M) led to an increase in OCT4⁺ colonies (Figure 2D). This data demonstrates that treatment with either 1D6 or 1E11 promotes single cell survival of hESCs in a manner similar to NT-3 treatment. Both compounds were toxic at concentrations above 30 μ M (Figure 2D).

Addition of 1D6 and 1E11 results in Trk receptor phosphorylation

To determine if 1D6 and 1E11 increase cell survival through activation of the neurotrophin receptors, cells were treated with or without compound and then stained for the phosphorylated and active form of the Trk receptor (Figure 3A). There was an increase in fluorescent signal at the plasma membrane of cells treated with 0.1 and 3 μ M compound with 1 hour treatment, while the fluorescent signal was cytoplasmic after 6 hours of treatment (Figure 3B). This indicates receptor activation as the Trk receptors are found at the plasma membrane and are later internalized (Du et al., 2003).

One of the goals of this study was to use compounds that selectively activate the neurotrophin receptors, while ensuring that the p75^{NTR} remained inactive. Using immunocyochemistry and the knowledge that ligand-induced internalization of the p75^{NTR} is known to occur following receptor activation (Bronfman et al., 2003), cells were stained with a p75^{NTR} antibody. Treatment with NT-3 resulted in an increase in nuclear fluorescence intensity, while this was not observed with 1D6 treatment and only mildly with 1E11 treatment (Figure 3B). This data demonstrates more selective activation of the TRK receptors following 1D6 and 1E11 treatment than upon NT-3 treatment. It also suggests that p75^{NTR} may shuttle into the nucleus upon activation in addition to being internalized (Frade, 2005).

The addition of 1D6 and 1E11 to single hESCs results in expression of pro- and anti-apoptotic genes

The phenotypic response of enhanced cellular survival may be possibly mediated through changes in gene transcription down-stream of receptor activation or through direct phosphorylation of recruited kinases. In order to examine the mechanism of compound treatment at the gene expression level, RT-PCR analysis was used to uncover gene expression changes following NT-3, 1D6, and 1E11 exposure. Expression of the pro-survival marker *bcl2* was increased with NT-3 and the 0.1 μ M concentrations of either compound (Figure 4A). Treatment of single hESCs with NT-3 and 1D6 also resulted in expression of the

pro-apoptotic marker *fasL*, while expression of another pro-apoptotic marker *bax* was upregulated with NT-3 treatment and the 0.1 μ M concentrations of either compound. These results confirm that treatment with either NT-3 or neurotrophin mimics resulted in downstream gene expression changes. Although there is an increase in mRNA levels of both pro- and anti-apoptotic genes upon compound exposure, the overall effect of compound and NT-3 treatment is survival, as evidenced by the observed increases in colony number.

Receptor activation is coupled with an increase in phosphorylation of AKT and ERK

Typically, activation of the TRK receptors leads to downstream phosphorylation and activation of two kinase cascades, AKT and ERK (Patapoutian et al., 2001). Signaling downstream of AKT and ERK promotes the noted expression of antiapoptotic genes, such as *bcl2* (see Figure 4A), through activation of several transcription factors including ELK-1 and CREB (Pugazhenthi et al., 2000, Steelman et al., 2011). At the same time, ERK can also stimulate the expression of genes known to promote cell death and senescence (Cagnol et al., 2010). In order to examine whether TRK activation was coupled with an increase in both AKT and ERK phosphorylation also in hESCs following compound and NT-3 stimulation, Western blot analysis was used (Figure 4B). As expected, treatment with NT-3 led to a time-dependent increase in phosphorylation of the proteins AKT and ERK, with a peak intensity at 30 min, which is maintained to 60 min,

signifying neurotrophin receptor activation. In comparison, treatment with 1D6 led to an accelerated, but constant AKT phosphorylation that had higher signal intensity when compared with NT-3. Notably, AKT phosphorylation already dropped slightly at 60 min in the lower dose of 1D6. Phosphorylation of ERK at 0.1 μ M 1D6 treatment peaked at 30 min following treatment, while 3.0 μ M 1D6 led to a steady signal of ERK phosphorylation that began to decrease after 30 min of treatment (Figure 4B). Instead, treatment with 1E11 led to a time-dependent increase in AKT and ERK phosphorylation, a similar pattern to that of activation following NT-3 exposure. However, the AKT phosphorylation signal was much more intense with 1E11 treatment when compared with NT-3, while ERK phosphorylation was decreased when compared with NT-3 (Figure 4B). These results confirmed that NT-3, 1D6, and 1E11 promote activation of both AKT and ERK, albeit with different kinetics.

Treatment with NT-3 or Neurotrophin Mimics Stimulates Differentiation, Possibly through β -catenin

Although there was an observed increase in OCT4⁺ colonies with NT-3, 1D6 and 1E11 treatment, a greater ratio of these colonies displayed cytoplasmic fluorescence (data not shown), implying that the cells exited from pluripotency to begin differentiation. In order to confirm the notion that compound treated cells started to differentiate, PCR analysis was used to determine the mRNA levels of the pluripotency-associated *Pou5f1*, which encodes OCT4, and the

differentiation-associated *T-Brachyury* and *orthodenticle homeobox 2 (Otx-2)*. Addition of NT-3 to hESCs led to a down-regulation of *Pou5f1* mRNA, while *T-Brachyury* levels were unchanged (Figure 5A). Likewise, treatment with high concentrations of compounds also decreased *Pou5f1* expression, but did not alter the levels of *T-Brachyury*. An inverse pattern was found for *Otx-2*, in which expression was slightly elevated upon NT-3 and high compound treatment. These data confirm that NT-3 as well as compound treatment caused the cells to exit from pluripotency. The only treatment that did not cause any gene expression changes was 0.1 µM 1D6.

One possible explanation for the observed differentiation initiation may be founded in the existing link between the activation of AKT and the subsequent promotion of β-catenin (CTNNB1) transcriptional activity (Fang et al., 2007), which stimulates the differentiation of hESCs (Davidson et al., 2012). To determine whether compound treatment initiated the nuclear translocation of CTNNB1, immunocytochemistry was carried out. Indeed, NT-3, and 1E11 treatment led to an increase in nuclear fluorescent signal, especially in the higher concentration of 1E11, demonstrating an increase in nuclear CTNNB1 localization (Figure 5B). In contrast, CTNNB1 was localized more prominently to the plasma membrane in 0.1 M 1D6, which faded upon increase in concentration. However, a nuclear localization for CTNNB1 could not be confirmed for either concentration of 1D6. This pattern of activation goes in line with the activation pattern of AKT, which was similar for NT-3 and 1E11. Therefore, although

neurotrophin activation seems to promote single cell survival, a consequence of delayed, but strong AKT activation seems to be the activation of CTNNB1 and with that the promotion of differentiation. In contrast, rapid activation of AKT, but non-persistent ERK activation, as was noted in 0.1 μ M 1D6, seem to be associated with survival and maintenance of a pluripotent state.

Compound Treatment Enhances Differentiation of Murine ESCs to Osteoblasts

Due to the importance of CTNNB1 nuclear activation at various stages of ESC differentiation (Kielman et al., 2002), 1D6 and 1E11 were then tested for their ability to drive directed differentiation. Especially the early days of differentiation are sensitive to CTNNB1 nuclear levels. As such, we and others have shown that activation of CTNNB1 enhances mesoderm formation (Lindsey et al., 2006; Anton et al., 2007, Ding et al., 2012) and therefore the subsequent differentiation into osteoblasts (Ding et al., 2012). Taking advantage of this model, murine ESCs were differentiated with 1D6 and 1E11 treatment during a primitive streak stage (Gadue et al., 2006) that corresponds to differentiation days 2-4 and were subsequently induced to lay down a calcified matrix using a well established osteogenic differentiation protocol (zur Nieden et al., 2003). Treatment with low concentration 1E11 and high concentration 1D6 on differentiation day 2-4 enhanced Ca²⁺ content in the extracellular matrix of these cells, implying an increase in osteoblast differentiation (Figure 5C). Additionally, the Ca²⁺ levels obtained were similar to those obtained following LiCl treatment, a known

CTNNB1 stabilizer. In contrast, the low dose 0.1 μ M 1D6 was not able to enhance osteogenic output. We have previously shown that activation of CTNNB1 during an earlier time window (d0-2) had a negative effect on later calcium deposit (Ding et al., 2012) and compound treatment during those days also had a detrimental effect on osteogenesis, except for the low dose 1D6, which did not cause any significant changes in calcification. Together, these results confirm that treatment with neurotrophin mimics enhances osteogenic differentiation, possibly mediated through β -catenin activation.

Discussion

Human ESCs have a low rate of clonal survival. Here we describe the discovery and identification of two compounds that promote clonal survival of hESCs. Previously, it has been shown that addition of neurotrophins, the classic activators of Trk receptors, to cell culture medium can enhance the survival of these cells at the single cell level (Pyle et al., 2006). NT-3 in particular will preferably interact with TrkC, although it will bind to the other Trks with lower affinity as well (reviewed in Barbacid, 1994). In hESCs, NT-3 single cell survival is possibly mediated through TrkC, as its mRNA is more abundant than that of TrkB (this study and Pyle et al., 2006). Our results demonstrate that both 1D6 and 1E11 can also stimulate phosphorylation of Trk receptors to enhance cell survival. However, it is presently unclear which Trk receptor these compounds preferably signal through. However, since these compounds are thought to act

directly on the kinase domain, it is conceivable that they act through both the TrkB and the TrkC receptor. Other compounds identified from the same library in earlier studies were able to phosphorylate the TrkC receptor, but not the TrkB receptor (Lin et al., 2007). Ligand engagement typically stimulates the internalization of Trk receptors through clathrin-coated pits and by macropinocytosis (Beattie et al., 2000; Shao et al., 2002). Although we did show here that asterriquinone stimulation of Trks leads to internalization of the receptor, it is presently unclear how that internalization is mediated.

Binding of ligand provides the primary mechanism for receptor activation, but the affinity and specificity of Trk receptors for certain neurotrophins is regulated by the pan-neurotrophin receptor p75^{NTR}, a TNF family member. Signaling through p75^{NTR} may be synergistic with Trk activation, but is often antagonistic. In neuronal cells, in the presence of p75^{NTR}, the conformation of the Trk receptors changes to create high-affinity sites with important consequences for neurite outgrowth (Benedetti et al., 1993). One mechanism by which p75^{NTR} can promote cell death is by an increase in p53 levels and activity mediated by JNK activation (Bamji et al., 1998). Of interest is the knowledge that p53 activation increases in Bax protein levels, resulting in the promotion of apoptosis (Aloyz et al., 1998). It is due to this pro-apoptotic effect of neurotrophin addition and p75^{NTR} activation that it is of interest to identify small molecules that could specifically activate Trk receptors, while not stimulating p75^{NTR} activation. In contrast to previous reports (Pyle et al., 2006) we show here that hESCs express operative p75^{NTR} receptors

that are activated by NT-3 and to a lesser extent also by 1E11, but not by low concentrations of 1D6.

As we have shown here, addition of 1D6 and 1E11 to hESCs then results in phosphorylation of downstream kinases and changes in gene expression. When neurotrophins bind to Trk receptors, they activate it by auto-phosphorylation at tyrosine residues in the cytoplasmic domains of the protein. Three of the ten tyrosines present in the cytoplasmic domains of Trk receptors are located within the activation loop of the kinase domain, phosphorylation of which potentiates kinase activity (Cunningham and Greene, 1998). One major mediating residue of receptor activation that is not in the kinase domain is Y490 (Stephens et al., 1994). Phosphorylation on Y490 creates docking sites for intracellular proteins, including Shc and fibroblast growth factor receptor substrate 2 (Frs2), with concomitant downstream activation of Ras/MAPK and PI3K/AKT. Although asterriquinones are thought to activate Trk receptors through their kinase domains, we show here that 1D6 and 1E11 also phosphorylate Y490 leading to phosphorylation of both ERK and AKT. Therefore, both compounds seem to piggy bag upon similar activation cascades as NT-3. Whether activation of the receptor by 1D6 or 1E11 recruits additional adaptor proteins as is the case during activation of Trks through neurotrophins was not investigated here, but might very well be a possibility.

Whether both ERK and AKT activation upon Trk receptor stimulation lead to cell survival is still somewhat controversial. While the majority of the literature suggests that ERK stimulation causes cell survival via increases in transcriptional activity of proteins that are known to activate expression of anti-apoptotic genes, such as CREB and Egr-1 (Hetman et al., 2000, Adamson et al., 2002), in cortical neurons for instance, only the blockage of AKT, not ERK, prevented the anti-apoptotic effect of NT-3 (Liot et al., 2004).

AKT is an important regulator of cell survival and proliferation and is known to inhibit the pro-apoptotic protein BAD (reviewed in Yuan et al., 2003), and also to tag the Forkhead Box O transcription factor that is known to promote cell cycle inhibition and apoptosis for cytoplasmic sequestration (Datta et al., 1997, Brosens et al., 2009). In this way, AKT is known to promote cell survival through blockage of the transcription of cell cycle regulators, such as p21, which is also pro-apoptotic, or FasL. Since both 1D6 and 1E11 cause AKT phosphorylation the transcription of FasL should be down-regulated. However, compound as well as NT-3 treatment slightly increased FasL and also bax mRNA levels. This noted up-regulation of pro-apoptotic genes may be overridden by simultaneous increases in expression of anti-apoptotic genes to translate into an overall survival response. As such, NT-3 as well as low concentration compound treatment enhanced the expression of the anti-apoptotic *bcl-2*, a gene known to be transcriptionally regulated after neurotrophin addition and Trk stimulation (Allsopp et al., 1995; Abram et al., 2009).

In response to 1D6 and 1E11, ERK is phosphorylated in addition to AKT and this phosphorylation also correlates with Trk receptor phosphorylation and internalization. Activation of ERK signaling in hESCs is crucial for the maintenance of self-renewal, as treatment with ERK inhibitors leads to a rapid loss of this ability (Li et al., 2007). This is opposite from murine ESCs, in which activation of ERK lets ESCs exit from the pluripotent state through phosphorylation of the transcription factor Klf4, inhibiting the ability of Klf4 to promote self-renewal (Kim et al., 2012). In more committed cells, ERK activation is also known to promote differentiation, for instance osteogenesis (Peng et al., 2009). Although seemingly controversial, the differences in response to ERK activation may be explained by different activation kinetics. Indeed, in PC12 cells responding to neurotrophins there is a relationship between transient versus prolonged activation of ERK and mitogen-promoting versus differentiationpromoting outcomes. We see here different kinetics of ERK phosphorylation dependent on the asterriguinone used and the concentration chosen. While 1E11 causes a prolonged activation of ERK, similar to the NT-3 response, the low concentration of 1D6 only does so transiently. Intriguingly, this pattern of activation correlates with enhanced cell survival in the absence of differentiation, while addition of 1E11 and NT-3 and extended ERK activation induced hESCs to differentiate.

In this, our study distinguishes itself from previous reports that suggest that neurotrophins promote hESC survival in the absence of differentiation. However,

while previous reports have taken the absent expression of mature astrocyte and neuronal markers in addition to lacking expression of transcription factors of the neural cascade as gauges for their conclusion, we have examined much earlier indicators of differentiation and must conclude that NT-3 addition initiates exit from pluripotency.

Of interest is our finding that all of the cells expressed *Otx2* independently from compound treatment. Otx2 is required to maintain an ESC metastable state by promoting commitment to differentiation into cells similar to the epiblastic cells of the post-implantation embryo (Acampora et al., 2013). In fact, it has been proposed that human ESCs represent such an epiblast-like state (Hanna et al., 2010). The further increase in *Otx2* messenger RNA noted upon NT-3 and 1E11 addition could potentially suggest that Otx2 acts in its secondary role to stabilize this epiblast state by promoting an ectodermal fate (Acampora et al., 2013). Absence of changes in the mesodermal *T-brachyury* mRNA supports the notion of an ectoderm-biased differentiation initiation.

1E11 and not 1D6 also supported osteogenesis in directed differentiation of murine ESCs. Since the applied induction model represents a neural-crest type differentiation, this is further evidence that 1E11 may support ectodermal specification. This propensity of our mESCs treated with 1E11 to differentiate into the osteoblast lineage following exposure to the identified neurotrophin mimics may be explained by ERK activation and activation kinetics as discussed above,

but also through the link between AKT phosphorylation and CTNNB1 nuclear presence.

AKT activation promotes self-renewal through direct phosphorylation of OCT4, resulting in the transcription of genes that are critical for maintaining the pluripotent state (Lin et al., 2012). AKT activation also interacts with the canonical WNT signaling pathway by promoting activation of CTNNB1. In the absence of a WNT signal, the CTNNB1 destruction complex is active, and contains glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3). Upon WNT stimulation, the CTNNB1 destruction complex is inactive and promotes the accumulation of CTNNB1 in the cytoplasm and the nucleus (Logan et al., 2004). However, AKT may phosphorylate CTNNB1 at Ser552 independently of the presence of a WNT ligand, resulting in its accumulation in the cytoplasm and nucleus (Fang et al., 2007). At the same time, AKT can phosphorylate and thereby inhibit GSK-3, also promoting accumulation of CTNNB1 (Srivastava et al., 1998). However, past reports in the function of canonical WNTs or CTNNB1 in ESC pluripotency have been conflicting (Sato et al., 2004; Miyabayashi et al., 2007). It has only been recently that a nice series of papers has begun to shed light on the role of nuclear versus plasma membrane/cytoplasmic CTNNB1 in the regulation of selfrenewal (Wray et al., 2011; Yi et al., 2011; Lyashenko et al., 2011). The most recent evidence suggests that CTNNB1 inhibition over several passages does not affect self-renewal, while activation of the WNT signaling pathway promotes differentiation (Davidson et al., 2012; Price et al., 2013). Supporting this finding,

the nuclear localization of CTNNB1 induces differentiation, preferably to the neuroectoderm (Kelly et al., 2011), while its retention in the cytoplasm or the plasma membrane is associated with the pluripotent state (Kim et al., 2013). Our results are in agreement with the current literature in that increased nuclear localization of CTNNB1 primes hESCs for differentiation, seemingly a consequence of delayed AKT and extended ERK activation as mediated by NT-3 and 1E11.

In summary, activation of transient ERK signaling in hESCs by 1D6 and absence of p75^{NTR} activation may promote cell survival and self-renewal in hESCs, a desired phenotype during clonal expansion culture. In turn, extended ERK activation and CTNNB1 nuclear translocation, as seen after 1E11 exposure, may be exploited to direct hESC differentiation into ectodermal cell fate.



Figure 3.1: The neurotrophin mimics 1D6 and 1E11 enhance hESC cell survival in a feeder-dependent system. (A) Chemical structures of 1D6 and 1E11. (B) Treatment of undifferentiated single hESCs with 1D6 and 1E11 increases the number of AP^+ colonies obtained after 5 days. **P*<0.05, one-way ANOVA, n=3 independent experiments ± SD. AP, alkaline phosphatase; NT, neurotrophin.



Figure 3.2: TRK receptor expression and functionality in hESCs cultured in a feeder-independent system. (A) PCR analysis showing that hESCs grown in mTESR on Matrigel-coated dishes express *TrkB, TtrkC*, and $p75^{NTR}$. (B) There is a dose-dependent increase in the number of OCT4⁺ colonies when single hESCs are plated with the addition of NT-3. (C) Treatment with the solvent DMSO did not alter the number of OCT4⁺ colonies. (D) The number of OCT4⁺ colonies resulting after plating of single hESCs with the addition of NT-3 or neurotrophin mimics 1D6 and 1E11 cultured in feeder-independent conditions. **P*<0.05, One-Way ANOVA, n=3 independent experiments ± SD. bp, base pairs; Gapdh, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; NT, neurotrophin; Trk, tropomyosin-receptor-kinase, RT, reverse transcription.

	1 hour			6 hours		
	pTrkTyr#0	DAPI	pTrk ^{TyrE2} /DAPI Solvent	pTrk ^{TireD}	DAPI Solvent	pTrkTr#20DAPI
	ρTrk™® 0.1 μM 1D6	DAPI 0.1 µM 1D6	рТіҞ ^{тунер} ЮАР 0.1 µM 1D6	рТrk ^{Ђrео} 0.1 µM 1D6	DAPI	рТrk ^{TyrR0} /DAPI 0.1 µM 1D6
	рТтк ^{тунер} 3 µM 1D6	DAPI 3 µM 1D6	рТ(к ^{тине})DAPI 3 µM 1D6	pTrk ^{Tyre0} 3 μM 1D6	DAPI 3 µM 1D6	pTrk ^{Toto} DAPI 3 µM 1D6
	pTrk ^{®r#0} 0.1 µM 1E11	DAPI 0.1 µM 1E11	рТ к^{™лер}/ДАР 0.1 µМ 1Е11	рТrk ^{%/#0} 0.1 µМ 1Е11	DAPI 0.1 µM 1E11	pTrk ^{%#80} /DAPI 0.1 µM 1E11
	рТік ^{тунд)} 3 µМ 1Е11	DAPI 3 µM 1E11	рТrk ^{туне} /ДАР 3 µМ 1Е11	pTrk ^{TyrED} 3 μM 1E11	DAPI 3 µM 1E11	pTrk ^{5,420} /DAPI 3 μM 1E11
в						200 µm
	P75™DAPI	p75 [∎] ≋DAPI	р75 ^{мте} (ДАР)			

200 µm

NT-3 0.1 µM 1D6 0.1 µM 1E11

Figure 3.3: NT-3, 1D6 and 1E11 treatment result in the activation of TRK receptors. (A) Treatment for 1h with compound led to an increase in pTrk^{Tyr490} fluorescent signal at the plasma membrane, indicating the presence of phosphorylated and active TRK receptor upon treatment. (B) Increase in cytoplasmic fluorescent intensity after 6 hours indicates the internalization of active TRK receptors. (C) Antibody stain using a p75^{NTR} antibody. Treatment with NT-3 results in a nuclear fluorescent signal, indicating activation and internalization of p75^{NTR}. Less nuclear p75^{NTR} is observed with 1E11 treatment, while it is absent with 1D6 compound treatment. DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; NT, neurotrophin.



Figure 3.4: TRK receptor activation leads to downstream signaling events. (A) RT-PCR analysis demonstrating changes in mRNA levels of genes involved in cell survival. (B) Western blot analysis demonstrating activation and phosphorylation of AKT and ERK after NT-3, 1D6 and 1E11 treatment. DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; fasL, Fas ligand; bcl-2, B-cell lymphoma 2; bax, bcl-2 associated X protein; Gapdh, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; NT, neurotrophin.



Figure 3.5: CTNNB1 nuclear localization following treatment with neurotrophin and neurotrophin mimics promotes differentiation of ESCs. (A) RT-PCR analysis demonstrating an increase in differentiation with NT-3 and specific concentrations of 1D6, and 1E11 treatment. (B) Immunocytochemical analysis demonstrating an increase in β -catenin nuclear localization upon compound treatment correlating to TRK receptor activation and AKT/ERK activation. (C) Treatment with compounds during mESC osteogenic differentiation led to an increase in calcium deposition. Ca²⁺ content was measured with Arsenazo III from n=5 biological replicates. *P<0.05, One-Way CTNNB1, beta-catenin; Gapdh. glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate ANOVA. dehydrogenase; LiCl, lithium chloride; NT, neurotrophin; Otx-2; orthodenticle homeobox 2.

References

Allsopp TE, Kiselev S, Wyatt S, Davies AM. Role of Bcl-2 in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor survival response. *Eur J Neurosci.* **1995**. *7(6):*1266-72.

Abram M, Wegmann M, Fokuhl V, Sonar S, Luger EO, Kerzel S, Radbruch A, Renz H, Zemlin M. Nerve growth factor and neurotrophin-3 mediate survival of pulmonary plasma cells during the allergic airway inflammation. *J Immunol.* **2009**. *182(8):*4705-12.

Acampora D, Di Giovannantonio LG, Simeone A. Otx2 is an intrinsic determinant of the embryonic stem cell state and is required for transition to a stable epiblast stem cell condition. *Development*. **2013**. *140*(*1*):43-55.

Adamson ED, Mercola D. Egr1 transcription factor: multiple roles in prostate tumor cell growth and survival. *Tumour. Biol.* **2002**. 23(2): 93-102.

Aloyz RS, Bamji SX, Pozniak CD, Toma JG, Atwal J, Kaplan DR, Miller FD. p53 is

essential for developmental neuron death as regulated by the TrkA and p75 neurotrophin receptors. J Cell Biol. 1998. 142(6):1691-703.

Anton R, Kestler HA, Kühl M. Beta-catenin signaling contributes to stemness and regulates early differentiation in murine embryonic stem cells. *FEBS Lett.* **2007**. *581*(27):5247-54.

Bamji SX, Majdan M, Pozniak CD, Belliveau DJ, Aloyz R, Kohn J, Causing CG, Miller FD. The p75 neurotrophin receptor mediates neuronal apoptosis and is essential for naturally occurring sympathetic neuron death. J Cell Biol. 1998. 140(4):911-23.

Barbacid M. The Trk family of neurotrophin receptors. *J Neurobiol.* **1994**. *25(11)*:1386-1403.

Barret, GL. The p75 neurotrophin receptor in neuronal apoptosis. *Prog Neurobiol.* **2000** *61*, 205-209.

Beattie EC, Howe CL, Wilde A, Brodsky FM, Mobley WC. NGF signals through TrkA to increase clathrin at the plasma membrane and enhance clathrinmediated membrane trafficking. *J Neurosci.* **2000.** *20(19)*:7325-7333.

Benedetti M, Levi A, Chao MV. Differential expression of nerve growth factor receptors leads to altered binding affinity and neurotrophin responsiveness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **1993.** *90(16):*7859-7863.

Bronfman FC, Tcherpakov M, Jovin TM, Fainzilber M. Ligand-induced internalization of the p75 neurotrophin receptor: a slow route to the signaling endosome. *J. Neurosci.* **2003**. *23*(8): 3209-3220.

Brosens JJ, Wilson MS, Lam EW. FoxO transcription factors: from cell fate decisions to regulation of human female reproduction. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2009**. *665*: 227-241.

Cagnol S, Chambard JC. ERK and cell death: mechanisms of ERK-induced cell death – apoptosis, autophagy, and senescence. *FEBS J.* **2010**. *277(1):* 2-21.

Carpenter MK, Inokuma MS, Denham J. Mujtaba T, Chiu CP, Rao MS. Enrichment of neurons and neural precursors from human embryonic stem cells. *Exp. Neurol.* **2001**. *172*: 383-397.

Cunningham ME, Greene LA. A function-structure model for NGF-activated TRK. *EMBO J.* **1998**. *17(24):*7282-7293.

Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, Gotoh Y, Greenberg ME. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell*. **1997**. *91*: 231-241.

Davidson KC, Adams AM, Goodson JM, McDonald CE, Potter JC, Berndt JD, Biechele TL, Taylor RJ, Moon RT. Wnt/ β -catenin signaling promotes differentiation, not self-renewal, of human embryonic stem cells and is repressed by Oct4. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **2012**. *109(12):* 4485-4490.

Ding H, Keller KC, Martinez IK, Geransar RM, zur Nieden KO, Nishikawa SG, Rancourt DE, zur Nieden NI. NO-β-catenin crosstalk modulates primitive streak formation prior to embryonic stem cell osteogenic differentiation. *J Cell Sci.* **2012** *125*(Pt 22):5564-77.

Du J, Feng L, Zaitsev E, Je HS, Liu XW, Lu B. Regulation of TrkB receptor tyrosine kinase and its internalization by neuronal activity and Ca2+ influx. *J. Cell. Biol.* **2003.** *163*(2): 385-395.

Fang D, Hawke D, Zheng Y, Xia Y, Meisenhelder J, Nika H, Mills GB, Kobayashi R, Hunter T, Lu Z. Phosphorylation of β -Catenin by AKT promotes β -Catenin transcriptional activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2007**. *282*: 11221-11229.

Frade JM. Nuclear translocation of the p75 neurotrophin receptor cytoplasmic domain in response to neurotrophin binding.J. Neurosci. 2005. 25(6): 1407-1411.

Friedman WJ, Greene LA. Neurotrophin signaling via Trks and p75. Exp. Cell. Res. 1999. 253(1): 131-142.

Gadue P, Huber TL, Paddison PJ, Keller GM. Wnt and TGF-beta signaling are required for the induction of an in vitro model of primitive streak formation using embryonic stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2006**. *103*, 16806-16811.

Glass DJ, Nye SH, Hantzopoulos P, Macchi MJ, Squinto SP, Goldfarb M, Yancopo GD. TrkB mediates BDNF/NT-3-dependent survival and proliferation in fibroblasts lacking the low affinity NGF receptor. *Cell.* **1991**. *66*(2): 405-413.

Hanna J, Cheng EW, Saha K, Kim J, Lengner CJ, Soldner F, Cassady JP, Muffat J, Carey BW, Jaenisch R. Human embryonic stem cells with biological and epigenetic characteristics similar to those of mouse ESCs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **2010**. *107(20):* 9222-9227.

Hetman M, Xia Z. Signaling pathways mediating anti-apoptotic action of neurotrophins. *Acta. Neurobiol. Exp.* **2000**. *60*: 531-545.

Kelly KF, Ng DY, Jayakumaran G, Wood GA, Koide H, Doble BW. β-catenin enhances Oct-4 activity and reinforces pluripotency through a TCF-independent mechanism. *Cell Stem Cell.* **2011.** *8*(*2*):214-227.

Kielman MF, Rindapaa M, Gaspar C, van Poppel N, Breukel C, van Leeuwen S, Taketo MM, Roberts S, Smits R, Fodde R. Apc modulcates embryonic stem-cell differentiation by controlling the dosage of beta-catenin signaling. Nat. Genet. 2002. 32(4): 594-605.

Kim H, Wu J, Ye S, Tai CI, Zhou X, Yan H, Li P, Pera M, Ying QL. Modulation of beta catenin function maintains mouse epiblast stem cell and human embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Nat. Commun. 2013. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3403

Kim MO, Kim SH, Cho YS, Nadas J, Jeong CH, Yao K, Kim DJ, Yu DH, Keum YS, Lee KY, Huang Z, Bode AM, Dong Z. ERK1 and ERK2 regulate embryonic stem cell self-renewal through phosphorylation of Klf4. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 2012. 19(3): 283-290.

Lamballe F, Klein R, Barbacid M. *TrkC*, a new member of the *trk* family of tyrosine protein kinases, is a receptor for neurotrophin-3. *Cell*. **1991**. *6*(5): 967-979.

Li J, Wang G, Wang C, Zhao Y, Zhang H, Tan Z, Song Z, Ding M, Deng H. MEK/ERK signaling contributes to the maintenance of human embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Differentiation. 2007. 75(4): 299-307.

Lin B, Pirrung MC, Deng L, Li Z, Liu Y, Webster NJ. Neuroprotection by small molecule activators of the nerve growth factor receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* **2007.** *322(1)*:59-69.

Lin Y, Yang Y, Li W, Chen Q, Li J, Pan X, Zhou L, Liu C, Chen C, He J, Cao H, Yao H, Zheng L, Xu X, Xia Z, Ren J, Xiao L, Li L, Shen B, Zhou H, Wang YJ. Reciprocal regulation of AKT and OCT4 promotes the self-renewal and survival of embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. 2012. 48(4): 627-640.

Lindsley RC, Gill JG, Kyba M, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Canonical Wnt signaling is required for development of embryonic stem cell-derived mesoderm. *Development*. 2006. *133*(19):3787-96.

Liot G, Gabriel C, Cacquevel M, Ali C, MacKenzie ET, Buisson A, Vivien D. Neurotrophin-3-induced PI-3 kinase/Akt signaling rescues cortical neurons from apoptosis. *Exp Neurol.* **2004**. *187(1):*38-46.

Logan CY, Nusse R. The WNT signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu. Rev. Cell. Dev. Biol. 2004. 20:781-810.

Ludwig TE, Bergendahl V, Levenstein ME, Yu J, Probasco MD, Thomson JA. Feeder-independent culture of human embryonic stem cells. *Nat. Methods*. **2006**. *3*: 637-646.

Lyashenko N, Winter M, Migliorini D, Biechele T, Moon RT, Hartmann C. Differential requirement for the dual functions of β -catenin in embryonic stem cell self-renewal and germ layer formation. *Nat Cell Biol.* **2011**.*13(7)*:753-761.

Martin MJ, Muotri A, Gage F, Varki A. Human embryonic stem cells express an immunogenic nonhuman sialic acid. *Nat Med.* **2005** *11*, 228-32.

Miyabayashi T, Teo JL, Yamamoto M, McMillan M, Nguyen C, Kahn M. Wnt/beta-catenin/CBP signaling maintains long-term murine embryonic stem cell pluripotency. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **2007**. *104(13)*:5668-5673.

Patapoutian A, Reichardt LF. Trk receptors: mediators of neurotrophin action. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 2001. 11(3):* 272-280.

Peng S, Zhou G, Luk KDK, Cheung KMC, Li Z, Lam WM, Zhou Z, Lu WW. Strontium promotes osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells through the Ras/MAPK Signaling pathway. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* **2009**. *23*: 165-174.

Price FD, Yin H, Jones A, van Ijcken W, Grosveld F, Rudnicki MA. Canonical Wnt signaling induces a primitive endoderm metastable state in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells.* **2013.** *31(4)*:752-64.

Pugazhenthi S, Nesterova A, Sable C, Heidenreich KA, Boxer LM, Heasley LE, Reusch JEB. Akt/Protein kinase b up-regulates Bcl-2 expression through campresponse element binding protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2000**. 275: 10761-10766.

Pyle AD, Lock LF, Donovan P. Neurotrophins mediate human embryonic stem cell survival. *Nat Biotech*. **2006** *24(3)*. 344-350.

Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH. Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. *Nat Med.* **2004**. 10(1):55-63.

Shao Y, Akmentin W, Toledo-Aral JJ, Rosenbaum J, Valdez G, Cabot JB, Hilbush BS, Halegoua S. Pincher, a pinocytic chaperone for nerve growth factor/TrkA signaling endosomes. *J Cell Biol.* **2002**. *157*(*4*):679-691.

Srivastava AK, Pandey SK. Potential mechanism(s) involved in the regulation of glycogen synthesis by insulin. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1998. 182(1-2): 135.141.

Steelman LS, Chappell WH, Abrams SL, Kempf CR, Long J, Laidler P, Mijatovic S, Ivanic DM, Stivala F, Mazzarino MC, Donia M, Fagone P, Malaponte G, Nicoletti F, Libra M, Milella M, Tafuri A, Bonati A, Basecke J, Cocco L, Evangelisti C, Martelli AM, Montalto G, Cervello M, McCubrey JA. Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK and PI3K/PTEN/Akt/mTOR pathways in controlling growth and sensitivity to therapy-implications for cancer and aging. *Aging.* **2011**. *3*(*3*): 192-222.

Stephens RM, Loeb DM, Copeland TD, Pawson T, Greene LA, Kaplan DR. Trk receptors use redundant signal transduction pathways involving SHC and PLC-gamma 1 to mediate NGF responses. *Neuron*. **1994**. *12(3)*:691-705.

Thiele CJ, Li Z, McKee AE. On Trk- The TrkB signal transduction pathway is increasingly important in cancer biology. *Clin Cancer Res.* **2009**. *15*; 1562.

Webster JG, Pirrung MC. Small molecule activators of the Trk receptors for neuroprotection. *BMC Neurosci.* **2008** *9 Suppl 2*, S1-8.

Wilkie N, Wingrove PB, Bilsland JG, Young L, Harper SJ, Hefti F, Ellis S, Pollack SJ. The Non-peptidyl Fungal Metabolite L-783,281 Activates TRK Neurotrophin Receptors *J. Neurochem.* **2001** *78*, 1135–1145.

Wray J, Kalkan T, Gomez-Lopez S, Eckardt D, Cook A, Kemler R, Smith A. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 alleviates Tcf3 repression of the pluripotency network and increases embryonic stem cell resistance to differentiation. *Nat Cell Biol.* **2011.** *13*(7):838-845.

Yi F, Pereira L, Hoffman JA, Shy BR, Yuen CM, Liu DR, Merrill BJ. Opposing effects of Tcf3 and Tcf1 control Wnt stimulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. *Nat Cell Biol. 2011. 13(7):*762-770.

Yuan J, Lipinski M, Degterev A. Diversity in the mechanisms of neuronal cell death. *Neuron*. **2003**. *40*(*2*):401-413.

Zhang B, Salituro G, Szalkowski D, Li Z, Zhang Y, Royo I, Vilella D, Diez MT, Pelaez F, Ruby, C. Discovery of a Small Molecule Insulin Mimetic with Antidiabetic Activity in Mice. *Science*. **1999** *284*, 974-977.

zur Nieden NI, Kempka G, Ahr HJ. In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells into mineralized osteoblasts. *Differentiation*. **2003**. *71*(1): 18-27.

GLUCOSE-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS REDUCES PROLIFERATION IN EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS THROUGH FOXO3A/CTNNB1 DEPENDENT TRANSCRIPTION OF $p21^{cip1}$ AND $p27^{kip1}$

Tiffany S. Satoorian¹, Darcie L. McClelland Descalzo¹, Nicole R.L. Sparks¹, Polina Y. Pulyanina¹, Kevin C. Keller¹, Tobias Dansen², Nicole I. zur Nieden¹

¹Department of Cell Biology & Neuroscience and Stem Cell Center, College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of California Riverside, Riverside, USA

²*Molecular Cancer Research, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands*

Corresponding author

Nicole I. zur Nieden Assistant Professor University of California Riverside College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Cell Biology and Neuroscience 1113 Biological Sciences Building Phone: 951-827-3818 Fax: 951-827-3087 email: nicole.zurnieden@ucr.edu

Key words

Word count: Character count: Number of figures: 5 (3 in color)

Disclosure: The authors declare that they do not have any competing financial interests.

Abstract

Pregnancy in women with pre-existing diabetes is considered high-risk, resulting in a decrease in fertility and impairment of early developmental processes of the pre-implantation embryo due to increases in glucose (Glc) present in the uterine environment. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are a model for studying early developmental processes, as they are derived from the pre-implantation embryo, are pluripotent, capable of self-renewal, and maintain a metabolism that relies on anaerobic glycolysis. Initial exposure of ESCs to diabetic Glc led to cells that were more proliferative and generated more reactive oxygen species (ROS) than cells exposed to physiological Glc. Longer treatment in diabetic Glc led to a decrease in proliferative capacity and ROS levels compared with cells exposed to physiological Glc. Our results demonstrate that ESCs counteract diabetic-Glc induced increases in ROS through activation of Forkhead box O3a (FOXO3a), resulting in an increase in expression and activity of two ROS removal enzymes MnSOD and Catalase. At the same time, FOXO3a activation promoted expression of the cell cycle regulators $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$. Moreover, we discovered that diabetic Glc promoted beta-catenin (CTNNB1) nuclear localization and the formation of a complex with FOXO3a, that localized to the promoters of *MnSOD*, $p21^{cip1}$, and $p27^{kip1}$. Our results demonstrate an adaptive response to increases in oxidative stress induced by diabetic Glc conditions that promotes ROS removal, but also results in a decrease in proliferation.

Introduction

Diabetes is a prevalent disease characterized by increases in blood glucose (Glc) levels due to a decrease in insulin production or disruption of the insulin signaling pathway. In the United States, there are 1.85 million women of reproductive age with the disease, and this contributes to an annual expenditure of \$1.4 billion dollars for treatment of diabetic pregnancy complications (Weir et al., 2010). Women with pre-existing diabetes suffer from high rates of infertility (Pampfer, 2000), as poorly controlled blood sugar levels during early pregnancy result in impairment of blastocyst development and attachment of the early embryo to the uterine wall (Ramin et al. 2010). In addition, hyperglycemia alters signaling through AKT, a serine/threonine kinase that is a key regulator of cellular proliferation (Varma et al., 2005), and embryos of diabetic mothers are often small in size, possibly due to increased activation of the cell cycle inhibitor p21^{cip1} (Zanetti et al., 2001, Varma et al., 2005, Scott-Drechsel et al., 2013).

The mechanism by which hyperglycemia induces these developmental anomalies is currently unknown, though recent studies illustrating that exposure to hyperglycemia leads to an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) that can damage embryonic DNA and inhibit proliferation (Holt et al., 2010, Guerin et al., 2001) may provide an important first step in elucidating the connection between hyperglycemia and complications during pregnancy.

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are derived from a pre-implantation embryo. Like the early embryo, ESCs are pluripotent, capable of self-renewal, and rely

mainly on anaerobic glycolysis as a means of energy production (Cho et al., 2006). Because of these many similarities and the inherent ethical concerns associated with direct experimentation on human embryos, we have chosen to use murine ESCs (mESCs) as a pre-implantation model of early embryogenesis.

Previous studies have shown that short-term (12 hour) exposure of mESCs to hyperglycemia results in an increase in cell proliferation through activation of AKT (Kim et al., 2006). AKT may increase proliferation of cells through various mechanisms, including enhanced expression of proliferation-promoting genes such as *myc* (Sears et al., 2000) and increased phosphorylation and inhibition of the Forkhead Box O3a (FOXO3a) transcription factor. As FOXO3a transcriptionally regulates the cell cycle inhibitory genes *p21^{cip1}* and *p27^{kip1}* (Hauck et al, 2007, Li et al, 2010, Dijkers et al, 2000), the inhibition of this transcription factor by activated AKT would contribute to aberrant excessive cellular proliferation. However, this is opposite to the *in vivo* finding presented above, which suggested that a decrease in proliferation mediated by hyperglycemia-induced over-activation of *p21^{cip1}* is responsible for the small size of the developing embryo.

Due to this controversy we sought to exploit exposure of ESCs to high Glc levels for longer than 12h to examine whether this longer exposure would be able to mimic the *in vivo* effects of Glc on the early embryo. In particular, we assessed a biologically relevant time point that would be equivalent to the fifth day of pregnancy. We found that hyperglycemia produces cyclical changes in

proliferation levels catalyzed by an increase in cellular ROS resulting from the initial short-term exposure to the hyperglycemic state. The Glc-induced oxidative stress in turn changed the activation state of AKT, led to nuclear translocation of FoxO3a and enhanced transcription of not only $p27^{kip1}$, but also $p21^{cip1}$. At the same time, the induction of FoxO3a via inhibition of AKT caused an increase in the transcription of the antioxidant enzyme MnSOD, which ultimately helped the cells cope with the Glc-induced oxidative stress. We further provide direct evidence that FoxO3a binds to the promotors of *MnSOD*, $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ together with beta-catenin (CTNNB1) in a manner regulated by Glc levels.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture

The mouse ESC line D3 was maintained in the undifferentiated state on BD Falcon Primaria tissue culture flasks (BD Biosciences) in medium containing 1000 U/ml Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF: ESGRO, Chemicon). Cell culture medium contained 15% FBS (PAA), 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, 50 U/ml Streptomycin and 50 U/ml Penicillin, 0.1 mM β -mercaptoethanol (Invitrogen) diluted in Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM; Invitrogen). Cells were passaged every 2 days using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen).

Glc and Compound Treatment

Culture medium containing varying Glc concentrations were made using the above cell culture medium diluted in no-Glc DMEM (Invitrogen) and then supplemented with the appropriate amount of Glc. Cells were passaged every 2 days, with the ratio of cells to be passaged determined by the most confluent culture. For inhibitor treatment, stock solution of 10 mM AKT Inhibitor IV (Calbiochem, 124005) dissolved in DMSO were made and diluted for a final treatment concentration of 5 μ M. A solvent negative control was tested alongside inhibitor treatment. For antioxidant treatment, cells were treated with glutathione reduced ethyl ester (GREE, 250 umol/L) or vitamin E (VitE,1ug/ml).

Cell Counts

Cells were trypsinized and single cells were diluted in medium. Cell counts were taken using the Nexcelcom Cellometer K2 and included trypan blue exclusion. Means were calculated from three independent culture treatments.

Growth curves and doubling time

As a means to draw conclusions on cellular proliferation, ESCs were seeded at a density of 1×10^4 cells/cm² and cultivated for eight days. Cell numbers were determined twice a day using a CASY®cell counter (innovates AG, Reutlingen). To determine the doubling time the natural logarithm of the cell number counted at time x was subtracted from the initial cell number and plotted against the hours

after seeding. Doubling time was calculated from the slope of the straight line in the exponential growth stage.

Protein extraction and western blotting

Cells were pretreated with sodium orthovanadate for 30 min, trypsinized, and the resulting pellet was washed 2X with PBS. To prepare whole cell lysates, cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS in 1x PBS pH 7.4) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (AEBSF 104 mM, aprotinin 80 µM, bestatin 4 mM, E-64, 1.4 mM, leupeptin 2 mM, 1.5 mM pepstatin A, Sigma Aldrich). Fractionated protein samples were prepared by using the NE-PER cell fractionation kit and following manufacturer's instructions (Pierce, 78833). Following protein quantification by using the DC protein Assay (Biorad), 25 µg of protein was loaded on an SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to a PVDF membrane overnight at 30V in 4°C. Membranes were blocked in 5% BSA diluted in 1X TBST for 1h at room temperature, and incubated with gentle agitation overnight with primary antibody at 4°C. Membranes were washed, incubated with secondary antibody, and developed using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce). The following antibodies were used: Actin (Cell Signaling Technology, #8456), panAKT (Cell Signaling Technology, #4691), phosphoAKT^{Ser473} (Cell Signaling Technology, #4060), panCTNNB1 (Abcam, #ab16051), phosphoCTNNB1^{Tyr142} (Abcam, #27798), phosphoCTNNB1^{Tyr654} (Abcam, #ab59430), panFOXO3A

(Abcam, #ab47409), phosphoFOXO3A^{Ser253} (Abcam, #ab47285), p53 (Abcam, #ab26), TBP (Abcam, #ab818), anti-rabbit HRP (Cell Signaling Technology, #7074), anti-mouse HRP (Cell Signaling Technology, #7076).

Immunocytochemistry

Cell cultures were washed 2X in PBS and fixed in a 7:3 acetone/methanol mixture for 5-10 min at -20°C. Fixative was aspirated and samples were air-dried at room temperature for 10 min. Cells membranes were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 min at room temperature. To prevent non-specific antibody binding, samples were blocking in 10% FBS, 0.5% BSA in PBS for 30 min at 37°C. Primary antibody was diluted in blocking buffer and incubated overnight at 4°. Plates were washed with PBS, and incubated with a secondary antibody and 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI), a nuclear stain for 2 h at RT. Plates were washed and visualized on a Nikon fluorescent microscope. The following antibodies were used: panCTNNB1 (Life Technologies, #71-2700), panFOXO3A (Abcam, #ab47409), anti-mouse Alexa Flour 488 (Life Technologies, #MHZAP7020), anti-rabbit Alexa Flour 546 (Life Technologies, #A-11035).

Reporter and knockdown ESC lines

An ESC line that expresses GFP driven by 4 LEF/TCF binding sites, LEF/TCF::GFP ESCs, had been kindly donated to us by Dr. Irving Weissman

(Stanford University) and has been used by us before (zur Nieden et al., 2007a; Ding et al., 2012). The percentage of GFP-expressing cells in LEF/TCF::GFP ESCs was determined with flow cytometry. Cells were washed 2X with PBS and treated with trypsin to obtain a single cell suspension. Wild-type cells were used to gate the appropriate population. Ten thousand events were measured in a Beckman Coulter flow cytometer and mean percentages of GFP-positive cells were calculated from three independent treatments.

In order to create an ESC line that reported on p21 promotor activity, luciferase reporter constructs containing various portions of the human p21 promoter [-2.15] kb (p21 Δ p53) and -93 bp (p21P93-S)] were transfected at the passage of analysis using Effectene. Reporter constructs were generous gifts from Dr. Xiao-Fan Wang (Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC) (Datto et al., 1995). To create short hairpin RNA (shRNA)- mediated knockdown FoxO1/3 ESCs, a pSuperior-FoxO1/3 plasmid, kindly provided by Tobias Dansen (University Medical Center Utrecht), was used (de Keizer et al., 2010). Plasmids were linearized using the restriction enzyme HindIII (Thermo Scientific) and was gel purified using the QIAEX gel extraction kit (Qiagen). ESCs were transfected with 1 μ g of the linearized plasmid using the Effectene transfection kit (Qiagen) as we have done before (zur Nieden et al., 2005; Ding et al., 2012). Clones were picked after 72h of puromycin selection and plasmid integration was confirmed using PCR that would amplify the puromycin gene using the following primers: Forward ('5-TGCAAGAACTCTTCCTCACG-3'), Reverse ('5-AGGCCTTCCATCTGTTGCT-

3') with an annealing temperature of 66°C. Western blotting was used to estimate the percentage of knockdown.

AGE/RAGE

For measurement of advanced glycation endproducts (AGE) and their receptors (RAGE), culture medium with floating cells and trypsinized attached cells were collected. Pelleted cells were washed twice with PBS and then fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 30 min at room temperature. Cells were stained with anti-AGE (Serotec) and anti-RAGE (Sigma Aldrich) antibodies diluted in PBS containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) for 45 min at 4°C. After two washes, pellets were stained with secondary antibodies diluted in PBS containing 10% FCS for 45 min at 4°C. The percentage of positive cells was determined with a FC 500 flow cytometer (Beckman coulter) and 10,000 events were analyzed with appropriate scatter gates with the CXP software. The following secondary antibodies were used: anti-goat Alexa Flour 488 (Life Technologies, #A11078), anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 546 (Life Technologies, #A11035).

Superoxide Anion and Hydrogen Peroxide Quantification Assays

Cells were cultured as described, trypsinized, and resuspended in fresh growth medium. Cells were incubated for an additional 30 min at 37°C to increase their reactivity. Cells were spun down and superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide content measured using dihydrorhodamine 123 (DHR, Cayman Chemical) and

the Superoxide Anion Detection Kit (Agilent) per manufacturer's instructions. To measure hydrogen peroxide levels, the percentage of fluorescing cells was measured on a flow cytometer using non-reacted cells as negative controls. Light emission for superoxide anion content was recorded with a luminometer and data was normalized to the total cell number collected.

SOD and Catalase Activity Assays

Cells were cultured as described, washed with PBS, and RIPA protein lysates were prepared. Lysates were assessed for SOD and Catalase activity according to manufacturer's instructions (Cayman Chemical). Protein lysates were quantified as described above and used to normalize activity assays.

RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis

Samples were washed 2X with PBS and RNA was extracted using the Nucleospin RNA extraction kit (Macherey Nagel) following manufacturer's instructions, and quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (Nanodrop, ND-1000). Following quantification, 625 ng of mRNA was used for cDNA synthesis in a reaction containing 0.5 mM dNTPs, 0.3 µg random hexamers, 100 mM DTT, 5 mM MgCl₂, 50U of RNASE inhibitor, and 80 units of reverse transcriptase (Fermentas).
Reverse Transcription PCR and Quantitative PCR

Gene expression analysis was done from 25-50 ng of cDNA using RT-PCR as described previously (zur Nieden et al., 2007b). The final PCR products were run on an agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (EtBr). Quantitative PCR was performed using an iCycler iQ system and SYBR Green PCR master mix (Biorad) with post-run melting curves. For the initial 5-min denaturation step, the temperature was maintained at 95°C and the machine cycled between 30 sec at 95°C and 45 sec at the appropriate annealing temperature for 40 rounds. Data was then analyzed according to the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with correction for PCR efficiency (Pfaffl, 2001), normalization to *Tbp* and expressed as n-fold change over 25 mM Glc treated cells (if not noted otherwise). Primers used are listed in table 1 and 2.

Cell cycle analysis

Cells were cultured as described, trypsinized, and 70% ethanol was added in a dropwise fashion. Following a 60 minute incubation in ethanol, samples were incubated in propidium iodide for 3h at 4°C, spun down, washed, and run on the above machine.

ReChIP

Cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 15 min at room temperature. Paraformaldehyde was removed and cells were incubated with 0.125M Glycine

for 5 min to stop crosslinking. Plate was washed with PBS. PBS containing Pl and 1 mM PMSF was added and cells were scraped off and transferred to a tube, centrifuged, and supernatant was removed. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml ChIP sonication buffer (50 mM HEPES pH 7.9, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) containing phosphatase inhibitor mix (Sigma Aldrich) and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride. The DNA was sheared by sonication [10 rounds of (10 x 0.5 s on, 0.6 s off, 27% amplitude)] and a sample was used for determining fragment size. Fragments were run on a 1.5% agarose gel to confirm proper sonication of samples. DNA (50 ug) was used for two rounds of IP (Round 1: FoxO3a, Round 2: CatnB), protein was digested using proteinase K, and the resulting sample was used for PCR analysis as described above. The antibodies used are as follows: pan FOXO3a (Santa Cruz, sc-11351), panCTNNB1 (BD Transduction Laboratories, 610154). Primers are listed in table 3.

Co-immunoprecipitation

Cells were trypsinized and fractionated into nuclear and cytoplasmic protein isolates using the NE-PER extraction kit (Thermo Scientific) Protein fractions were immediately quantified and then subjected to immunoprecipitation. 60 µg of protein was mixed with an equal volume of Ag/Ab buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 10% glycerol) and then mixed with 4 µg of anti-CTNNB1 antibody with gentle agitation for 1 hour at 4°C. 50 µL of Protein A

Sepharose beads (1:1 slurry in PBS) was then added for an additional 3 hours at 4°C with gentle agitation. Beads were washed 3 times in 0.01% NP-40 buffer (1 mM TrisCl pH 8.0, 2.4 mM NaCl, 0.01% NP-40), followed by two additional washes in PBS. Proteins were eluted adding SDS-Page loading buffer and subjecting to 95°C for 10 minutes. The 6%/10% SDS-PAGE gel was run for approximately 3 hours at 100V and the western blot was continued as described above. The following antibodies were used: panCTNNB1 (Abcam, #ab2365), panFOXO3A (Abcam, #47409).

Statistics

P values were calculated with a standard weighted means ANOVA when independent treatment groups were compared. Posthoc Turkey HSD tests were performed when more than two groups were compared and the analysis of variance yielded a significant F-ratio in order to determine statistical differences among two individual groups (<u>http://faculty.vassar.edu/lowry/anova1u.html</u>). A p-value of lower than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Exposure to Varying Glc Concentrations Modulates Proliferation of Cells

In contrast to what has been previously described (Kim et al., 2006), we hypothesized that prolonged exposure to a hyperglycemic environment (25 mM)

would be able to better mimic the effects of Glc on the early embryo. To test this hypothesis, ESCs were cultured in four different Glc concentrations (1 mM, 5 mM, 25 mM, and 100 mM) and their phenotypes and genotypes were compared to determine the Glc effect on the cells. Throughout time course studies, cells exposed to a hyperglycemic environment for 24 hours appeared more densely populated compared to cells cultured in all other Glc concentrations (Figure 1A) supporting the previously described high proliferative nature of Glc-challenged cells (Kim et al., 2006). However, as the cells continued in the hyperglycemic environment, the pattern appeared to reverse with cells in a physiological Glc environment (5 mM) becoming more dense. Thus, we observed that the cells in each Glc concentration switched between periods of high proliferation and periods of lower proliferation (Figure 1B). To further quantify the proliferative potential of these cells, doubling times of each cell population were measured. A decrease in doubling time indicates an increase in proliferative potential, and as expected based on the observed morphology, cells cultured in the hyperglycemic environment displayed an initial decrease in doubling time followed by a gradual increase until they were less proliferative than cells cultured in physiological Glc (Figure 1C). Over time, the doubling times reflected previous observations demonstrating that the cells fluctuate between periods of high and low proliferation. Taken together, these data demonstrate that mESCs cycle between periods of high and low proliferation, and that the Glc concentration of

the media influences the kinetics of this cycling, but it is yet unclear what the molecular mechanism is of this change in proliferative ability.

Hyperglycemia Results in Increases in Oxidative Stress and Induces Activation of Antioxidant Removal Enzymes

Prolonged exposure to hyperglycemic conditions *in vivo* can lead to modifications of cellular proteins and lipids catalyzing the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). These protein/carbohydrate complexes then bind to their cognate receptors (RAGES) amplifying damaged caused by oxidative stress and altering cellular proliferation (Schmidt et al, 1995, Zhang et al, 2013). To determine whether the observed proliferative changes in mESCs cultured in a hyperglycemic state were due to increased levels of AGEs/RAGEs, the AGE/RAGE protein content was measured in cells from the different Glc treatments using flow cytometry (Figure 2A). The data demonstrated that exposure to varying Glc did not alter expression of these two proteins, suggesting that AGE/RAGE production is not the mechanism by which hyperglycemia alters mESC proliferation *in vitro*.

Another mechanism by which hyperglycemia could alter proliferation is by generation of ROS and downstream cell cycle inhibition (Zhang et al, 2010). When cells were exposed to hyperglycemic conditions, their levels of ROS and hydrogen peroxide initially increased in a Glc dependent fashion, but over time ROS levels were observed to decline and then cycle between higher and lower

levels over time, in a pattern similar to the one observed for proliferation (Figure 2B and C).

In concordance with the switch in ROS regulation during acute Glc-exposure, the expression levels of two ROS-removal enzymes, *MnSOD* and *catalase*, were elevated in the hyperglycemic condition (Fig. 2D). In addition, their respective enzyme activity was also increased in 25 mM Glc (Fig. 2E and F), suggesting that cells in the hyperglycemic environment adapted to Glc induced increases in ROS by activating enzymes responsible for its removal. Together, these data suggest that brief exposure to hyperglycemia resulted in an initial increase in ROS production, triggering a cellular response to metabolize these harmful products, leading to an increase in MnSOD and Catalase expression and activity.

Increases in ROS Levels Promote FOXO3a Expression and Activity

After observing that cell cycle regulatory mechanisms and oxidative stress pathways are altered by culture in a hyperglycemic environment, we hypothesized that a common upstream regulator may be altered by the increased Glc levels and that this may be leading to changes in the downstream cell cycle regulation and oxidative stress pathways. Initial RT-PCR screens of possible regulators revealed that the mRNA for the transcription factor FOXO3a, which has previously been shown to be involved in ROS removal and cell cycle control (Essers et al, 2004) was increasingly transcribed upon exposure of cells to a hyperglycemic environment (Figure 3A). This same effect was not seen in other

members of the FOXO protein family. Subsequent qPCR analysis confirmed these findings (Figure 3B), demonstrating that *FoxO3a* mRNA expression is increased with increased Glc-concentration.

After confirming the changes in *FoxO3a* expression at the mRNA level, we examined expression and localization of FOXO3a protein in different Glc concentrations using western blot analysis. Nuclear FOXO3a levels were increased with increasing Glc concentration, while nuclear levels of the FOXO3a inhibitor AKT were decreased with increasing Glc levels (Figure 3C). Immunocytochemical analysis confirmed that nuclear FOXO3a localization increased in response to the hyperglycemic environment (Figure 3D). To determine whether changes in FOXO3a expression and localization were due to increased ROS, we treated cells with the antioxidant glutathione reduced ethyl ester (GREE) and measured nuclear localization of FOXO3a. Treatment with GREE led to more equalized levels of FOXO3a, suggesting that differences in ROS levels may influence nuclear FOXO3a levels (Figure 3C).

To determine whether increases in *MnSOD* and *Catalase* expression were also due to elevated ROS levels upstream of FoxO3a nuclear shuttling, we treated cells with the antioxidants vitamin e (VitE) and GREE and measured levels of the enzymes. Antioxidant treatment reversed the Glc-dependent increases in *Mnsod* and *Catalase* expression (Figure 3E and F) demonstrating that the increase in ROS promoted by culture in a hyperglycemic environment was responsible for the increase in expression of these two antioxidant enzymes. GREE treatment

also reverses the Glc dependent differences in MnSOD and Catalase activity, illustrating that Glc dependent differences in the activity of these proteins are mediated through changes in ROS levels (Figure 3G and H). Interestingly, there is an overall increase in *Mnsod* and *catalase* expression and activity following treatment with antioxidants, implying differential regulation of these genes following antioxidant rescue.

To confirm FOXO3a involvement in regulation of the oxidative stress response, FOXO1 and FOXO3a were knocked down in an sh-RNA mediated manner. sh-FOXO1/3 cells were generated by transfecting ESCs with a plasmid containing an sh-RNA construct that targets FOXO1/3 mRNA for degradation. FoxO1/3 knockdown reversed the trend of Glc regulation of *Mnsod* and *catalase*, as expression decreased with increasing Glc concentration in sh-FOXO1/3 cells (Figure 3E and F). MnSOD enzymatic activity was globally decreased compared with wild type cells, while Catalase activity was globally increased in knockdown cells, implying that yet a different factor may be regulating *catalase* expression and activity possibly in addition to FOXO3a (Figure 3G and H). sh-FOXO1/3 cells did not demonstrate a Glc-dependent decrease in superoxide anion levels, but did show a tremendous decrease in hydrogen peroxide levels (Figure 3I). These findings are consistent with the changes in MnSOD and Catalase activity, as MnSOD is responsible for the conversion of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide and Catalase converts hydrogen peroxide to water. Thus, in response to Glc-

induced elevation in ROS levels, FOXO3a alters expression and activity of MnSOD and Catalase to control ROS and protect cells from damage.

FoxO3a Inhibits Proliferation in Hyperglycemia by Regulating Gene Expression of Cell Cycle Inhibitors

The previous experiments demonstrated that FOXO3a influences expression of *MnSOD* and *catalase* following hyperglycemia-induced increases in oxidative stress. However, these two are only among a wide variety of known FoxO targets with functions in various aspects of cellular health. To determine whether Glc induced activation of FOXO3a would alter expression and activity of other known FoxO3a downstream targets, quantitative PCR analysis was used to measure mRNA levels of *PA26*, *Sirt1*, and *Gadd45* (Figure 4A) as well as cell cycle regulators $p27^{kip1}$ and $p21^{cip1}$ (Figure 4B and C) indicating that Glc induced changes in nuclear FOXO3a may lead to differential expression of a number of target genes.

In order to more closely monitor how hyperglycemia may be affecting cell cycle regulation, murine ESCs were transfected with a p21::luciferase reporter construct and luciferase activity was measured in cells from different Glc concentrations (Figure 4D). To ensure the observed effects were in fact due to changes in $p21^{cip1}$ expression and not to off target effects related to the transfection, a mock transfection and a transfection with an inactive form of the $p21^{cip1}$ promoter were performed simultaneously with the original transfection.

Luciferase activity was Glc dependently increased in p21::luc cells, while there was no observed luciferase activity in p21::mut or mock-transfected cells, indicating that hyperglycemia may increase $p21^{cip1}$ promotor activity leading to a decrease in cellular proliferation (Figure 4D). Cell cycle analysis revealed that ESCs cultured in 25 mM Glc are not as proliferative as cells exposed to physiological Glc conditions, as less of these cells are in the S phase of the cell cycle (Figure 4E and F). These data demonstrate Glc-dependent increases in expression of genes inhibit cell cycle progression at the G₁/S phase transition and these are coupled with a phenotypic decrease in cell number (Figure 4G) due to deficiencies in proliferation. In line with these findings, the mitotic index of mESCs exposed to hyperglycemia was decreased when compared with cells exposed to physiological Glc concentrations (Figure 4H). To determine if alterations in proliferation in a 2-dimensional culture also occurs in a 3dimensional embryoid body (EB) formation assay, EBs were made in physiological and hyperglycemic conditions (Figure 4I). Exposure to diabetic Glc resulted in a decrease in EB number and this can be indicative of two things: a decrease in the proliferative capacity of these cells and an increase in premature differentiation.

To determine whether Glc-induced increases in ROS were upstream of the observed changes in cell cycle regulation, cells were also treated with VitE or GREE and cell cycle analysis experiments were performed. Quantitative PCR analysis revealed that antioxidant treatment reversed Glc dependent expression

patterns of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$, indicating that Glc induced changes in the expression of these cell cycle regulators were mediated by altered levels of ROS (Figure 4B and C). In addition, cell cycle analysis demonstrated that there was no statistical difference in the G₁/S ratio of cells treated with antioxidants (Figure 4F), further supporting the conclusion that increased ROS in the hyperglycemic environment causes a decrease in cellular proliferation.

To examine the possible influence of FOXO3a on Glc induced changes in cellular proliferation down-stream of ROS and upstream of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$, we also repeated experiments on cell cycle analysis and cell cycle regulator expression on FOXO1/3 knockdown cells. FOXO1/3 knockdown caused $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ expression to decrease with increasing Glc levels, a pattern similar to the one seen in antioxidant treated cells (Figure 4B and C). Cell cycle analysis revealed an increased number of cells in the G₂/M phase of the cell cycle indicating increased proliferation in these cells, and this was confirmed by the calculation of the G1/S ratio (Figure 4E and F). Cell count experiments confirmed that FOXO1/3 knockdown cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions were more proliferative than wildtype cells exposed to hyperglycemia or knockdown cells cultured in physiological Glc (Figure 4G). In summary, this data demonstrates the importance of FOXO3a in regulating cell cycle progression through regulation of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ mRNA expression.

Regulation of proliferation via p21^{cip1} is often associated with function of p53, a key transcriptional regulator of cell proliferation and death itself. In fact, p21^{cip1}

was identified as a classic p53 target when it was first described in 1993 (el-Deiry et al., 1993). In order to determine whether p53 contributed to the Glc-mediated effects on the cell cycle RT-PCR analysis was carried out for p53. The results demonstrated that $p21^{cip1}$ expression was increased in a Glc-dependent manner, while *p53* expression was not. Furthermore, the results of the p21::luc assay (Figure 4D) were obtained with a p21 promotor construct that lacked the p53 binding site. These results demonstrate that $p21^{cip1}$ activation and cell cycle inhibition was dependent on FoxO3a and potentially independent of p53.

AKT Inhibition in Normoglycemia Recapitulates the Response Observed Upon Hyperglycemic Exposure

As FOXO3a inhibition and nuclear export has previously been shown to be mediated by AKT (Liang et al., 2003) and nuclear AKT levels are known to be regulated by Glc (Dickson et al, 2001), we next examined whether Glc regulation of FOXO3a may be mediated by AKT. In order to determine how AKT influences FOXO3a localization and activity, we treated cells with a small molecule AKT inhibitor, compound 124005, and cultured them in different Glc concentrations. Western blot analysis confirmed that treatment with this small molecule resulted in a decrease in phosphorylation of AKT at serine473, a phosphorylation site that is critical for its activity (Figure 5A) (Sarbassov et al, 2005). At the same time, there was a noted decrease in the inhibitory phosphorylation of FOXO3a at

serine 253, the residue known to be phosphorylated by active AKT (Figure 5A). In addition, an increase in nuclear localization of FOXO3a was observed upon AKT inhibition in physiological Glc (Figure 5C).

To demonstrate that the changes mediated by AKT inhibition resulted in downstream changes in FoxO3a target gene expression, qPCR analysis was used to measure expression of *mnsod*, *catalase*, $p21^{cip1}$, and $p27^{kip1}$ (Figure 5B). In all Glc concentrations, treatment with 124005 resulted in increased expression of these FOXO3a targets. At the same time, we observed a decrease in cellular proliferation, which may result from the observed increase in expression of the cell cycle inhibitors $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ (Figure 5D). Concomitant with the loss in mRNA levels for *MnSOD* and *catalase*, AKT inhibition further led to a loss of Glc-mediated increases of superoxide anion (Figure 5E) and hydrogen peroxide levels (Figure 5F), which could be mediated by increased MnSOD and Catalase activity (Figure 5G-H).

To ensure that the observed results were due to altered AKT activity and not to upstream disruption of the insulin signaling pathway, cells were treated with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002. Although LY294002 treated cells displayed Glc dependent regulation of ROS, the observed pattern of regulation was the same as in LY294002 non-treated cells (Figure 5I), indicating that the effects seen with AKT inhibition are in fact due to alteration of AKT activity and not to upstream PI3K activation. These results demonstrate that in the hyperglycemic environment, excess Glc inhibits activity of AKT leading to overexpression of

FOXO3a which increases expression and activity of downstream target genes protecting the cells from harmful ROS and decreasing cellular proliferation.

FOXO3A/CTNNB1 Interaction is Increased in Hyperglycemia

Although FoxO3a regulation of MnSOD and p27 has been well studied for many years, recent reports suggest that FOXO3a binding to beta-catenin (CTNNB1) is necessary for its role as a transcriptional activator of downstream target genes (Hoogeboom et al, 2008) and roles for CTNNB1 in regulating oxidative stress and the cell cycle have been described (Behrens and Lustig, 2004, Boo et al, 2009, Essers et al, 2005). To determine whether CTNNB1 may be working with FOXO3a to promote the Glc dependent changes in cell cycle regulation and oxidative stress management we observed, we investigated the expression and activity levels of CTNNB1 in different Glc concentrations. Ctnnb1 mRNA expression was increased in the hyperglycemic environment (Figure 6A) and phosphorylation of the residues Y142 and Y654 that promote nuclear translocation of CTNNB1 were also increased (Figure 6B). Consistent with these findings, there was a Glc-dependent increase in nuclear CTNNB1 localization (Figure 6B), a pattern that was also observed with FOXO3a localization. Immunocytochemistry confirmed increase nuclear CTNNB1 an in in hyperglycemia (Figure 6C).

AKT is upstream of FoxO3a, but not CTNNB1

AKT and Protein Kinase A (PKA) may phosphorylate CTNNB1 on Ser552, resulting in stabilization, nuclear accumulation and activation of CTNNB1 target genes (Tuarin et al, 2006, Fang et al, 2007, He et al, 2007). In physiological Glc conditions, this phosphorylation is observed, while it is absent with hyperglycemic treatment. This is consistent with AKT activation in 5.5 mM Glc, while it is inactive in 25 mM treatment (Figure 6D). Interestingly, AKT inhibition in 5.5 mM Glc did not alter CTNNB1 phosphorylation at this residue, implying that perhaps PKA is responsible for this phosphorylation. Under physiological Glc conditions, there is an increase in phosphorylation of CTNNB1 at residues Ser33/37/Thr41, thus targeting it for degradation (Figure 6D). This phosphorylation is decreased with hyperglycemia and there is an increase in CTNNB1 degradation in physiological conditions. If AKT lies upstream of CTNNB1 inhibition, treatment with the small molecule AKT inhibitor in physiological conditions would lead to a decrease in the form of CTNNB1 that results in its destruction, but this is not observed (Figure 6D). Immunocytochemistry confirmed these findings, as there was no notable increase in nuclear CTNNB1 with AKT inhibition and the membrane CTNNB1 localization remained intact in normoglycemia (data not shown). Therefore, AKT inhibition in physiological Glc conditions does not alter its phosphorylation on residues Ser552 and Ser33/37/Thr41 and its cellular localization.

FOXO3A/CTNNB1 Complex is Present on the Promoters of Genes that Regulate ROS Removal and Cell Cycle Inhibition

Because both FOXO3a and CTNNB1 are recruited to the nucleus in hyperglycemic conditions, we decided to investigate whether these proteins are associating in complexes. Co-IP analysis demonstrated that CTNNB1/FOXO3a complexes are increased in the hyperglycemic environment (Figure 6E), suggesting that these proteins may work together to impact transcription of target genes. To determine whether the observed nuclear CTNNB1/FOXO3a complexes were in fact altering transcription of target genes, sequential chromatin immunoprecipitation (reChIP) was used to quantify FOXO3A/CTNNB1 binding to the promoters of p21^{cip1}, p27^{kip1}, and MnSOD. We observed a Glcdependent increase in localization of this complex to the promoters of these genes (Figure 6F), which correlates with the increase in interaction between these two proteins in the hyperglycemic environment. This increase in localization of transcription factor complexes to target gene promoters may be responsible for the Glc dependent changes in expression observed in the cells. As we have noticed an increase in expression of these genes as well, it is likely that specifically the FOXO3A/CTNNB1 localization on these promoters is critical for the increases in expression of these genes. Also, this pattern is abolished in sh-FoxO1/3 cells, further confirming the importance of the FoxO3a/CTNNB1 interaction in regulating ROS removal and cell cycle regulation. For the first time

these results provide direct evidence that the promotors of both $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ are regulated by a FOXO3a/CTNNB1 complex.

Discussion

Our results have shown that exposure of ESCs to high Glc levels leads to an oxidative stress response, resulting in activation of FOXO3a and CTNNB1. Their increased nuclear interaction in turn leads to the enhanced expression of ROS removal enzymes and cell cycle regulators, leading to a decrease in ROS levels and cell proliferation. Additionally, we demonstrate that the FOXO3A/CTNNB1 complex is localized to the promoters of a number of these genes. Previous studies have identified FOXO3a as a key regulator of MnSOD expression (Kops et al, 2002), p27^{kip1} expression (Dijkers et al, 2000), and to positively regulate p21^{cip1} expression in cardiomyocytes, the latter by confirmed complex formation with Smad2/3 and Smad4 (Hauck et al, 2007). In our study, FOXO3a has also been proven to be critical for the expression of $p21^{cip1}$, $p27^{kip1}$, and *MnSOD*. The use of sh-FoxO1/3 ESCs led to a major decline in FOXO3a/CTNNB1 binding to the promotors of p21^{cip1}, p27^{kip1}, and MnSOD. Interestingly, there was still FOXO3a binding observed on the promoters of these genes, not surprising given that fact that the knockdown was only about 55% effective. Interestingly, it appears that under such reduced levels FOXO3a binds more avidly to the $p27^{kip1}$ promotor, suggesting different affinities for binding.

The combined regulation of $p27^{kip1}$ and *MnSOD* by FoxO4 and CTNNB1 has been suggested through promotor reporter studies (Essers et al., 2004), but direct evidence of FoxO/CTNNB1 binding to these promotors has so far been lacking. This is the first study to provide this direct evidence of FOXO3a/CTNNB1 binding to the promotors of the cell cycle regulatory genes $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$, and the ROS removal enzyme *MnSOD* resulting in an increase in expression. In addition, we show here that this binding is dependent on Glc-induced ROS levels, which has widespread implications for the field of diabetes and aging.

There are multiple ways in which oxidative stress promotes FOXO3a activation. For example, FOXO proteins can directly sense ROS through the ability of ROS to induce disulfide bridges between cysteine residues on the FOXO protein, resulting in FOXO activation and transcription of ROS removal enzymes (Dansen, 2011). However, while this would explain the noted increase in FoxO3a nuclear localization, it does not explain the Glc-dependent increase in FOXO3a mRNA expression that was also observed. However, the Glc-mediated FoxO3a mRNA induction could potentially be due to a previously described relationship between ROS and FOXO3a that is dependent on phosphorylation of c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (Essers et al, 2004). Elevated levels of ROS stimulate JNK activation, which may promote *Foxo3a* mRNA transcription and also FOXO3a protein activity (Essers et al, 2004, Takeuchi et al, 2012), thereby potentially explaining the Glc-induced increase in *FoxO3a* mRNA. Furthermore, treatment

with antioxidants in this study reversed the Glc-dependent increase in FOXO3a nuclear localization and MnSOD and Catalase expression, suggesting that the generation of excess ROS is indeed upstream of FoxO3a target expression. Interestingly, treatment with antioxidants led to a global increase in expression of both *MnSOD* and *Catalase*. This could be due to the alleviation of TCF3-regulated repression following antioxidant treatment, leading to an increase in gene expression (Solberg et al, 2012, McClelland et al, 2014).

Another interesting question is the relationship that exists between AKT and ROS. JNK is known to inhibit AKT activity, and in fact, JNK activation of FOXO3a overrides the ability of AKT to remove FOXO3a from the nucleus (Sunayama et al, 2005, Chaanine et al, 2012). Increases in oxidative stress, therefore, may promote FOXO3a activation and AKT inhibition, most likely through JNK activation.

Although we have established a connection between AKT inhibition and FOxO3a nuclear accumulation in response to ROS, we have not addressed whether this connection is direct or indirect. AKT regulation of FOXO3a typically is indirect and involves the nuclear shuttling of 14-3-3 proteins. AKT phosphorylates FOXO3a, disrupting its nuclear localization signal (NLS) and its ability to bind DNA (Van Der Heide et al, 2004). This phosphorylation also creates docking sites for 14-3-3 proteins, resulting in the FOXO3a removal from the nucleus

(Brunet et al, 1999). Interestingly, 14-3-3 proteins have been established as key regulators of cell cycle progression, likely due to their ability to regulate FOXO3a localization. To date, there have not been any studies linking 14-3-3 proteins to Glc metabolism. Our data thus raises the interesting possibility that 14-3-3 protein activity might be modulated by Glc.

Furthermore, our data provides evidence for upstream regulation of FoxO3a, but not CTNNB1, both of which are needed to regulate $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ as well as *MnSOD*, by AKT. Treatment with the AKT inhibitor 124005 in physiological Glc conditions resulted in an increase in nuclear FOXO3a, but did not affect CTNNB1 nuclear localization and phosphorylation of CTNNB1 on Ser33/37/Thr41. Previous studies have shown that AKT prevents CTNNB1 proteasomal degradation through phosphorylation and inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3). GSK-3 phosphorylates CTNNB1 on Ser33/37/Thr41, targeting CTNNB1 for degradation (Shiojima et al, 2006, Srivastava and Pandey, 1998). In this study, AKT inhibition did not dramatically reduce phosphorylation of CTNNB1 at Ser33/37/Thr41, implying that AKT is not upstream of this event. Additionally, there is the existence of different CTNNB1 pools that are regulated independently of one-another (Mbom et al, 2013), and perhaps AKT is not involved in CTNNB1-stabilization in response to Glc. Additionally, AKT inhibition did not alter phosphorylation of CTNNB1 on Ser 552, which may potentially be

explained by the redundancy of AKT and PKA in catalyzing this reaction (Fang et al, 2007).

This study suggests that the capability of stem cells to respond to ROS comes at an expense: cells lose their proliferative potential. This seems to be mediated by FoxO3a, which when accumulated in the nucleus, not only binds to the MnSOD promotor, but also to its other target promotors, among them $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$. Although there was not an observable Glc-dependent effect on *p53* mRNA expression, our study cannot conclusively answer whether the increase in $p21^{cip1}$ transcription was p53-independent. The p21::luc reporter used here lacked the p53 binding site and therefore reported on p53-independent activation of $p21^{cip1}$. However, p53 might still be contributing to overall $p21^{cip1}$ mRNA levels.

Taken together, our findings demonstrate that early exposure to high Glc levels stimulates an oxidative stress response that promotes the expression and activity of ROS removal enzymes, protecting the embryonic cells from ROS-induced damage. At the same time, this leads to an increase in expression of cell cycle regulatory genes, inhibiting the proliferative capacity of these cells. These findings could explain the early growth defects that occur to pre-implantation embryos exposed to a hyperglycemic environment.



Figure 4.1: Hyperglycemia leads to a decrease in cell proliferation and is coupled with an increase in oxidative stress.

(A) Micrographs taken of cells exposed to varying Glc concentrations at the given time point. Initially, cells grown in hyperglycemia appear to be the most dense culture, but acute exposure to 25 mM Glc led to a decrease in confluency of these cells when compared with all other conditions. Their proliferative capacity is increased with chronic hyperglycemic treatment. (B) Cell counts demonstrated that brief hyperglycemic exposure led to an initial increase in cell numbers, but these numbers were decreased after acute exposure. Longer exposure (Acute/Chronic and Chronic) led to a reversal in cell number, resulting in an increase in proliferation of cultures exposed to hyperglycemia; $n=3\pm$ SD. (C) Doubling time of cells in the above conditions were determined and confirmed that initial high Glc exposure led to a decrease in doubling time of culture, with this being reversed following acute hyperglycemic exposure. Longer-term treatment resulted in a decrease in doubling time; $n=3\pm$ SD. *p<0.05, Student's T-test compared to 25 mM Glc.



Figure 4.2: Increase in Response for Combating ROS following Diabetic Glc Exposure

(A) Chronic hyperglycemic exposure in vivo results in modifications of proteins and lipids, forming advanced glycation end products (AGEs) that bind to receptors for these AGEs (RAGEs), resulting in an increase in oxidative damage to the cell. Exposure to varying Glc condition did not affect the generation of AGEs and RAGEs; n=3±SD. (B) Superoxide anion content was measured using the Superoxide Anion Detection Kit (Agilent, 2014525) and light emission was recorded with a luminometer. Data was normalized to total cell number. Initial exposure to hyperglycemia leads to an increase in superoxide anion levels that are decreased following acute hyperglycemic exposure. These levels are increased following chronic high Glc exposure; n=5±SD. (C) Hydrogen peroxide levels were measured using 1,2,3-dihydrorhodamine (DHR) and run on a flow cytometer to measure for percent positive fluorescence. Similar to superoxide anion levels, initial exposure to hyperglycemia resulted in an increase in hydrogen peroxide levels and are decreased following acute hyperglycemic exposure. These levels are increased following chronic high Glc exposure. This data suggests that there is a cyclical pattern for the generation and metabolism of ROS in the ESCs; n=5±SD. (D) Quantitative PCR was used to determine mRNA expression of the indicated genes. There is a Glc-dependent increase in *mnsod* and *catalase* gene expression; n=3±SD. (E) MnSOD activity was measured and normalized to protein content. There is a Glcdependent increase in MnSOD activity; n=5±SD. (F) Catalase activity is also increased in a Glc-dependent manner; n=5±SD. *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to 25 mM Glc_{initial}; ^Dp<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to respective 25 mM Glc. Glc, glucose; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; RLU, relative light units; DHR, dihydrorhodamine.



Figure 4.3: Hyperglycemia Promotes FoxO3a Activation

(A) RT-PCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in foxo3a mRNA, while expression of foxo4 is not regulated by Glc. (B) qPCR data confirming an increase in foxo3a mRNA with increasing Glc; n=3±SD. (C) Western blot. There is an increase in nuclear FOXO3a with increasing Glc concentration, while this effect is not observed with treatment with the antioxidant GREE. Additionally, AKT is localized to the nucleus in 5.5 mM Glc concentrations, and its level is clearly reduced from the nucleus in hyperglycemia. (D) Immunocytochemistry demonstrating an increase in nuclear FOXO3A localization with 25 mM Glc treatment. (E) gPCR analysis of mnsod following acute exposure of the indicated cell lines to the conditions; n=3±SD. (F) qPCR analysis of catalase expression in the same conditions; n=3±SD. (G) MNSOD activity in the above conditions; n=5±SD. (H) CATALASE activity in the same conditions; n=5±SD. (I) Superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide content in the above conditions; n=5±SD. *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to 25 mM Glc; ^Dp<0.05, Student's T-test compared to WT. Glc, glucose; WT, wildtype; VitE, vitamin E; GREE, glutathione reduced ethyl ester: SOD, superoxide dismutase: CAT, catalase: RLU, relative light units; H2O2, hydrogen peroxide.



Figure 4.4: Cell Cycle Regulation in Response to High Glc Levels

(A) qPCR analysis demonstrates a Glc-dependent increase in expression of the FOXO3a targets *PA26*, *Sirt1*, and *Gadd45*; n=3±SD. (B) qPCR demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in the cell cycle regulator $p21^{cip1}$; n=3±SD. (C) qPCR demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in the cell cycle regulator $p27^{kip1}$; n=3±SD. (D) p21::luc reporter activity is increased in 25 mM Glc conditions; n=3±SD. (E) Cell cycle analysis of wild type and FoxO1/3^{KD} cells in varying Glc concentrations; n=3±SD. (F) G1/s ratio calculated from above values. (G) Cell numbers in wt and foxo1/3^{KD} cells; n=3±SD. (H) Mitotic Index. (I) EB Formation assay; n=3±SD. (J) RT-PCR analysis of $p21^{cip1}$ and p53 expression in response to varying Glc conditions. *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to 25 mM Glc. Glc, glucose; WT, wildtype; VitE, vitamin E; GREE, glutathione reduced ethyl ester; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; EB, embryoid body.



Figure 4.5: Pharmacological AKT inhibition in physiological Glc conditions mimics cells exposed to hyperglycemia.

(A) Treatment with a small molecule AKT inhibitor results in a decrease in the phosphorylated and active form of AKT, and a decrease in phosphorylated FoxO3a. This result demonstrates that chemical inhibition of AKT in normoglycemia results in a decrease in p253FoxO3a, indicating FoxO3a activation. (B) Inhibition of AKT in physiological Glc conditions leads to an increase in expression of the FoxO3a target genes mnsod, catalase, p21 and p27, to levels similar to exposure to high Glc alone; n=3±SD. (C) In physiological condition, FoxO3a is found mostly in the cytoplasm, while treatment with Akti in this same Glc concentration led to an increase in nuclear FoxO3a localization. This data confirms that on a molecular level, cells treated with a chemical AKT inhibitor in physiological Glc are similar to cells exposed to hyperglycemia, as they retain an active form of FoxO3a in the nucleus. (D) AKT inhibition in physiological Glc conditions results in a decrease in proliferative capacity of these cells, as evidenced by an increase in the G1/S ratio. This is as expected since expression of the cell cycle regulators $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ are increased following AKT inhibition in normoglycemia; n=3±SD. (E) AKT inhibition in physiological Glc conditions leads to similar levels of superoxide anion when compared with diabetic Glc; n=5±SD. (F) AKT inhibition resulted in a decrease in hydrogen peroxide levels when compared with cells exposed to hyperglycemia, implying an increase in ROS removal enzymatic activity; n=5±SD. (G) SOD activity is increased in AKT inhibited cells, similar to cells exposed to 25 mM Glc alone; n=5±SD. (H) CAT activity follows the same pattern and SOD. These results confirm that increases in MnSOD and Catalase expression in response to Akt inhibition leads to decreases in ROS levels and increases in MnSOD and Catalase activity; n=5±SD. (I) Inhibition of PI3K with a small molecule did not alter the Glc-dependent decrease in hydrogen peroxide levels, implying that it is not upstream of this oxidative stress response; n=3±SD. *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to 25 mM Glc (B); *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA compared to 5.5 mM Glc (D-I). Glc, glucose; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; RLU, relative light units; DHR, dihydrorhodamine.



Figure 4.6: Glc increases CTNNB1 activity and interaction with FOXO3a.

(A) Similar to the trend observed with FoxO3a, there is a Glc-dependent increase in *Ctnnb1* mRNA levels; n=3±SD. (B) Western blots demonstrating an increase in the active and phosphorylated form of CTNNB1, and an increase in its nuclear localization in hyperglycemia. (C) Immunocytochemistry determined that cells exposed to high Glc have an increase in nuclear CTNNB1 levels. (D) Western blots demonstrating an increase the effect of AKT inhibition on phosphorylation of CTNNB1 signts that are directly or indirectly associated with AKT in the literature.

(E) Immunoprecipitation studies demonstrating an increase in FoxO3a/CTNNB1 interaction with increasing Glc. (F) Hyperglycemia leads to an increase in FOXO3a/CTNNB1 localization to the promoters of genes that are increased in response to increasing Glc. This effect is not seen when FoxO3a levels are decreased with an sh-RNA. *p<0.05 One-Way ANOVA compared to 25 mM Glc. Glc, glucose; TBP, Tata-binding protein; IP, Immuno-precipitation; IB, immunoblot.



Figure 4.7: Proposed mechanism of Glc action

Exposure to diabetic Glc leads to an increase in ROS generation and results in the nuclear activation of FOXO3a/CTNNB1. This leads to the localization of this complex to the promotors of genes that regulate ROS removal and the cell cycle. Additionally, AKT remains inactive in these conditions, rendering it unable to promote FOXO3a removal from the nucleus.

PRIMERS:

Table 4.1: Quantitative PCR

	Forward	Reverse	T _m °C
Catalase	TGTTTATTCCTGTGCTGTGCGGTG	AAAGCAACCAAACACGGTCCTTCC	60
CTNNB1	CCCTGAGACGCTAGATGAGG	TGTCAGCTGAGGAATTGCAC	60
FOXO3a	GGGGAGTTTGGTCAATCAGA	GCCTGAGAGAGAGTCCGAGA	60
MNSOD	TTACAACTCAGGTCGCTCTCA	GGCTGTCAGCTTCTCCCTTAAAC	60
p21cip1	GAGTAGGACTTTGGGGTCTCCT	TGTCTTCACAGGTCTGAGCAAT	60
p27kip1	GGATATGGAAGAAGCGAGTCAG	CCTGTAGTAGAACTCGGGCAAG	60
TBP			

Table 4.2: Real- Time PCR

	Forward	Reverse	T _m °C
foxo3a	TCAGTCACCCATGCAGACTATC	GAGTCTGAAGCAAGCAGGTCTT	60
foxo4	CAAGAAGAAGCCGTCTGTCC	CTGACGGTGCTAGCATTTGA	60
gapdh	GCACAGTCAAGGCCGAGAAT	GCCTTCTCCATGGTGGTGAA	60
p21	GGGATGGCAGTTAGGACTCA	GTGGGGCAAGTGCCTAGATA	60
p53	CACAGCGTGGTGGTACCTTA	CTTCTGTACGGCGGTCTCTC	60

Table 4.3: ReChIP Primers

	Forward	Reverse	Τ _m °C
p21	CTACCTGTCCACAAGTCATTTCC	GTCTTACTGCAGCGACAGAAAAGT	66
p27	TTTTTAAATAAAGGGGTCCCAGAC	TTAACATTTTCCCCAAGTGTTGTA	63
sod	ATGTAGTTAAGATGGCCTAAAAGC	GACAATTGTGTAACAAAAGGAACC	63

References

Behrens J, Lustig B. The Wnt connection to tumorigenesis. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 2004. 48(5-6): 477-487.

Boo JH, Song H, Kim JE, Kang DE. Mook-Jung I. Accumulation of phosphorylated beta-catenin enhances ROS-induced cell death in presenilin-deficient cells. PLoS One. 2009. 4(1): e4172.

Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, Hu LS, Anderson MJ, Arden KC, Blenis J, Greenberg ME. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell. 1999. 96(6): 857-868.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diabetes & Women's Health Across the Life Stages: A Public Health Perspective. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2001. http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/pdf/womenshort.pdf.

Chaanine AH, Jeong D, Liang L, Chemaly ER, Fish K, Gordon RE, Hajjar RJ. JNK modulates FOXO3A for the expression of the mitochondrial death and mitophagy marker BNIP3 in pathological hypertrophy and in heart failure. Cell. Death. Dis. 2012. 3:265. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2012.5.

Cho YM, Kwon S, Pak YK, Seol HW, Choi YM, Park do J, Park KS, Lee HK. Dynamic changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during the spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006. 348(4):1472-1478.

Dansen TB. Forkhead box O transcription factors: key players in redox signaling. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 2011. 14: 559-561.

Datto MB, Yu Y, Wang XF. Functional analysis of the transforming growth factor β responsive elements in the WAF1/Cip1/p21 promoter. J Biol Chem. 1995. 270: 28623–28628.

de Keizer PL, Packer LM, Szypowska AA, Riedl-Polderman PE, van den Broek NJ, de Bruin A, Dansen TB, Marais R, Brenkman AB, Burgering BM. Activation of forkhead box O transcription factors by oncogenic BRAF promotes p21^{cip1}-dependent senescence. Cancer Res. 2010. 70(21):8526-36.

Dickson LM< Lingohr MK, McCuaig J, Hugl SR< Snow L, Kahn BB, Myers Jr MG, Rhodes CJ. Differential activation of protein kinase B and p70(S6)K by

glucose and insulin-like growth factor 1 in pancreatice beta-cells (INS-1). J. Biol. Chem. 2001. 276(24): 21110-21120.

Dijkers PF, Medema RH, Cornelieke P, Banerji L, Thomas NSB, Lam EWF, Burgering BMT, Raaijmaker JAM, Lammers JWJ, Koenderman L, Coffer PJ. Forkhead transcription factor FKHR-L1 modulates cytokine-dependent transcriptional regulation of p27KIP1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2000. 20(24): 9138-9148.

Ding H, Keller KC, Martinez IK, Geransar RM, zur Neiden KO, Nishikawa SG, Rancourt DE, zur Nieden NI. NO-beta-Catenin crosstalk modulates primitive streak formation prior to embryonic stem cell osteogenic differentiation. J. Cell. Sci. 2012. 125(Pt 22): 5564-5577.

el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. Cell. 1993. 75(4):817-25.

Essers MA, de Vries-Smits LM, Barker N, Polderman PE, Burgering BM. Korswagen HC. Functional interaction between beta-catenin and FOXO in oxidative stress signaling. Science. 2005. 308(5725): 1181-1184.

Essers MA, Weijzen S, de Vries-Smits AM, Saarloos I, de Ruiter ND, Box JL, Burgering BM. FoxO transcription factor activation by oxidative stress mediated by small GTPase Ral and JNK. EMBO. J. 2004. 23(24): 4802-4812.

Fang D, Hawke D, Zheng Y, Xia Y, Meisenhelder J, Nika H, Mills GB, Kobayashi R, Hunter T, Lu Z. Phosphorylation of beta-catenin by AKT promotes beta-catenin transcriptional activity. J. Biol. Chem. 2007. 282(15): 11221-11229.

Gopianth S, Malla RR, Gondi CS, Alapati K, Fassett D, Klopfenstein JD, Dinh DH, Gujrati M, Rao JS. Co-depletion of cathepsin B and uPAR induces G0/G1 arrest in glioma via FOXO3a mediated p27 regulation. PLoS One. 2010. 5(7): e11668.

Guerin P, El Mouatassim S, Menezo Y. Oxidative stress and protection against reactive oxygen species in the pre-implantation embryo and its surroundings. Hum. Reprod. Update. 2001. 7(2): 175-189.

Hauck L, Harms C, Grothe D, An J, Gertz K, Kronenberg G, Dietz R, Endres M, von Harsdorf R. Critical role for FoxO3a-dependent regulation of p21CIP1/WAF1 in response to statin signaling in cardiac myocytes. Circ. Res. 2007. 100(1): 50-60.

He XC, Yin T, Grindley JC, Tian Q, Sato T, Tao WA, Dirisina R, Porter-Westpfahl KS, Hembree M, Johnson T, Wiedermann LM< Barrett TA, Hood L, Wu H, Li L. PTEN-deficient intestinal stem cells initiate intestinal polyposis. Nat. Genet. 2007. 39(2): 189-198.

Holt RG, Cockram CS, Flyvbjerg A, et al. Dornhorst A, Banerjee A. Diabetes in pregnancy. In: Holt RG, Cockram CS, Flyvbjerg A, et al., eds. *Textbook of Diabetes. A Clinical Approach*. 4th edn. 2010: 888–921.

Hoogeboom D, Essers MA, Polderman PE, Voets E, Smits LM, Burgering BM. Interaction of FOXO with beta-catenin inhibits beta-catenin/T cell factor activity. J. Biol. Chem. 2008. 283(4): 9224-9230.

Jurisicova A, Varmuza S, Casper RF. Programmed cell death and human embryo fragmentation. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 1996. 2: 93-98.

Kim YH, Heo JS, Han HJ. High glucose increase cell cycle regulatory proteins level of mouse embryonic stem cells via PI3-K/AKT and MAPKs signal pathways. J. Cell. Physiol. 2006. 209(1): 94-102.

Kops GJ, Dansen TB, Polderman PE, Saarloos I, Wirtz KW, Coffer PJ, Huang TT, Bos JL. Medema RH, Burgering BM. Forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a protects quiescent cells from oxidative stress. Nature. 2002. 419(6904): 316-321.

Li CJ, Chang JK, Chou CH, Wang GJ, Ho ML. The PI3K/AKT/FOXO3a/p27kip1 signaling contributes to anti-inflammatory drug-suppressed proliferation of human osteoblasts. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2010. 79(6): 926-937.

Liang J, Slingerland JM. Multiple roles of the PI3K/PKB (Akt) pathways in cell cycle progression. Cell Cycle. 2003. 2(4): 339-345.

Mbom BC, Nelson WJ, Barth A. Beta-catenin at the centrosome: discrete pools of beta-catenin communicate during mitosis and may co-ordinate centrosome functions and cell cycle progression. Bioessays. 2013. 35(9): 804-809.

McClelland Descalzo DLV, Satoorian TS, Ehnes DD, Sparks NRL, Merrill BJ, Davis RJ, zur Nieden NI. TCF7L1 and FoxO3a mediate premature differentiation in embryonic stem cells in response to glucose downstream of ROS/JNK. In preparation.

Pampfer S. Peri-implantation embryopathy induced by maternal diabetes. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 2000. 55: 129-139.
Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001. 29(9): e45.

Ramin N, Thieme R, Fischer S, Schindler M, Schmidt T, Fischer B, Navarrete Santos A. Maternal diabetes impairs gastrulation and insulin and IGF-I receptor expression in rabbit blastocysts. Endocrinology. 2010. 151(9): 4158-4167.

Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of AKT/PKB by the rictor/mTOR complex. Science. 2005. 307(5712): 1098-1101.

Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Stern DM. The dark side of glucose. Nat. Med. 1995. 1: 1002-1004.

Scott-Drechsel DE, Rugyoni S, Marks DL, Thornburg KL, Hinds MT. Hyperglycemia slows embryonic growth and suppresses cell cycle via cyclin D1 and p21. Diabetes. 2013. 62(1): 234-242.

Sears R, Nuckolis F, Haura E, Taya Y, Tamai K, Nevins JR. Multiple Rasdependent phosphorylation pathways regulate Myc protein stability. 2000. Genes Dev. 14(19): 2501-2514.

Shiojima I, Walsh K. Regulation of cardiac growth and coronary angiogenesis by the AKT/PKB signaling pathway. Genes & Dev. 2006. 20: 3347-3365.

Solberg N, Machon O, Machonova O, Krauss S. Mouse Tcf3 represses canconical Wnt signaling by either competing for beta-catenin binding or through occupation of DNA binding sites. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 2012. 365(1-2): 53-63.

Srivastava AK, Pandey SK. Potential mechanism(s) involved in the regulation of glycogen synthesis by insulin. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1998. 182(1-2): 135-141.

Sunayama J, Tsuruta F, Masuyama N, Gotoh Y. JNK antagonizes AKT-mediated survival signals by phosphorylating 14-3-3. J. Cell. Biol. 2005. 170(2): 295-304.

Takeuchi K, Viet A, Kawasaki K, Nishio K, Ito F. JNK-mediated FOXO expression plays a critical role in EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced BIM expression and analysis. J. Cancer Ther. 2012. 3(4A): 424-434.

Taurin S, Sandbo N, Qin Y, Browning D, Dulin NO. Phosphorylation of beta catenin by cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 2006. 281(15): 9971-9976.

Van Der Heide LP, Hoekman MF, Smidt MP. The ins and outs of FoxO shuttling: mechniams of FoxO translocation and transcriptional regulation. Biochem. J. 2004. 280(Pt2): 297-309.

Varma S, Lal BK, Zheng R, Breslin JW, Saito S, Pappas PJ, Hobson RW 2nd, Duran WN. Hyperglycemia alters PI3k and Akt signaling and leads to endothelial cell proliferative dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol. 2005. 289(4): H1744-1751.

Wier LM, Witt E, Burgess J, et al. Hospitalizations Related to Diabetes in Pregnancy, 2008: Statistical Brief #102. 2010 Dec. In: Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) Statistical Briefs [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (US); 2006 Feb-. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52649/

Zanetti M, Zwacka R, Engelhardt J, Katusic Z, O'Brien T. Superoxide anions and endothelial cell proliferation in normoglycemia and hyperglycemia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2001. 21: 195-200.

Zhang Z, Liew CW, Handy DE, Zhang Y, Leopold JA, Hu J, Guo L, Kulkami RN, Loscalzo J, Stanton RC. High glucose inhibits glucose-6-phosphoate dehydrogenase, leading to increased oxidative stress and beta-cell apoptosis. FASEB J. 2010. 24(5): 1497-1505.

Zhang Z, Sethiel MS, Shen W, Liao S, Zou Y. Hyperoside downregulates the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and promotes proliferation in ECV304 cells via the c-Jun N-Terminal Kinases (JNK) pathway following stimulation by advanced glycation end-products *in vitro*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2013. 14(11): 22697-22707.

Zur Nieden NI, Kempka G, Rancourt DE, Ahr HJ. Induction of chondro-, osteo-, and adipogenesis in embryonic stem cells by bone morphogenetic protein-2: effect of cofactors on differentiating lineages. BMC Dev. Biol. 2005. 5:1.

zur Nieden NI, Price FD, Davis LA, Everitt RE, Rancourt DE. Gene profiling on mixed embryonic stem cell populations reveals a biphasic role for beta-catenin in osteogenic differentiation. Mo. Endocrinol. 2007a. 21: 674-685.

zur Nieden NI, Cormier JT, Rancourt DE, Kallos MS. Embryonic stem cells remain highly pluripotent following long term expansion as aggregates in suspension bioreactors. J. Biotechnol. 2007b. 129: 421-432.

HYPERGLYCEMIA RESULTS IN EMBRYONIC STEM CELL DIFFERENTIATION VIA MTORC2 AND AMPK MEDIATED AKT INHIBITION

Tiffany S. Satoorian¹, Gayani Batugedara¹, Kim Y. Prado^{1,2}, John Shyy³, Nicole I. zur Nieden¹

¹Department of Cell Biology & Neuroscience and Stem Cell Center, College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of California Riverside, Riverside, USA

²Department of Nutrition, University of California Davis, Davis, CA 95616, USA ³Department of Medicine, University of California San Diego, La Jolla, USA

Corresponding author

Nicole I. zur Nieden Assistant Professor University of California Riverside College of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Cell Biology and Neuroscience 1113 Biological Sciences Building Phone: 951-827-3818 Fax: 951-827-3087 email: nicole.zurnieden@ucr.edu

Key words: glucose, mTOR, AKT, CTNNB1, FOXO, oxidative stress, rapamycin, differentiation, cell fate

Word count: Character count: Number of figures: 5 (4 in color)

Disclosure: The authors declare that they do not have any competing financial interests.

Abstract

Increased glucose (Glc) concentrations in the extrauterine environment of pregnant women with pre-existing diabetes are thought to affect blastocyst development and embryo size. However, the molecular mechanisms whereby Glc is detrimental to embryo health remain insufficiently characterized. Previous studies in our laboratory have used embryonic stem cells (ESCs) to determine the molecular consequence of hyperglycemia on early unspecialized cells of embryonic origin.

We have identified the reduced function of the transcriptional regulators FoxO3a and beta-catenin to be responsible for a premature halt in proliferation seen after prolonged Glc exposure. Similarly, Glc exposure led to pre-mature differentiation of ESCs mediated by nuclear shuttling of TCF3, which competed for TCF1/CTNNB1 binding sites on the Oct-4 and nanog promotors. While these previous studies suggested a role for AKT in the regulation of the Glc-induced decrease in proliferation upstream of FoxO3a, it remains unclear what drives the nuclear translocation of CTNNB1.

The purpose of this study was to unravel the molecular cascade by which AKT remains inhibited in high Glc environments and whether this is responsible for CTNNB1 regulation. We have found that the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORc2) and the AMP-regulated kinase (AMPK) are both inhibited in hyperglycemia, and the use of small molecules to activate these proteins resulted in an increase in AKT activity and a partial rescue from Glc-dependent

premature differentiation. Additionally, AMPK and mTORC2 worked independently of one another to activate AKT. At the same time, AMPK activation inhibited FOXO3a nuclear activity and promoted CTNNB1 stabilization in diabetic Glc conditions, resulting in a partial rescue from hyperglycemia-induced differentiation. Taken together, our studies provide first evidence of an ATP-and nutrient-sensing mechanism to be responsible for the premature differentiation observed following hyperglycemia, which could potentially explain the defective early development of the blastocyst in diabetic pregnancies.

Introduction

Diabetes is a widespread disorder, affecting 1.85 million women of reproductive age in the United States (Weir et al, 2010). Pregnancy in women with diabetes is considered high risk, with their being a decrease in fertility, impairment of blastocyst development, and problems associated with gastrulation (Ramin et al, 2010). Poorly controlled blood sugar levels during the first trimester of pregnancy is associated with spontaneous abortion in 20% of diabetic pregnancies, with these risks being reduced in women who properly control their blood sugar levels (Hanson et al, 1990). This increased rate of abortion is critical, as it demonstrates that early exposure to diabetic Glc is toxic to the embryo. The underlying molecular mechanism by which high blood Glucose (Glc) levels affect embryonic development is unknown.

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are derived from the inner cell mass (ICM) of the pre-implantation embryo and are an appropriate model for studying early mammalian embryonic development as they retain a number of characteristics to the ICM cells from which they are derived. Most critically, ESCs are capable of self-renewal, differentiation, and rely on anaerobic glycolysis as a means of energy production (Cho et al, 2006). Because of the similarities between early embryonic cells and ESCs, ESCs represent an ideal model system for studying cell fate changes in response to Glc concentrations, providing an insight into the molecular consequence of hyperglycemia on the early embryo.

Previous studies in our laboratory demonstrated that exposure to diabetic Glc conditions resulted in an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) and promoted the formation of a complex that contains Forkhead box O3a (FOXO3a) and beta-catenin (CTNNB1). This complex is in direct contact with the promotors of genes that regulate the cell cycle and ROS removal (Satoorian et al, 2014), resulting in a decrease in oxidative stress and protecting cells from ROS-induced macromolecule damage. However, this comes at the price of cellular proliferation, a critical characteristic of both early embryonic cells and ESCs. At the same time, the FOXO3a inhibitor, AKT, was inactive in diabetic Glc conditions by an unknown mechanism. This is important as AKT promotes proliferation of cells, through transcriptional control of genes, such as the oncogene *myc* (Sears et al, 2000). AKT phosphorylates and inhibits FOXO3a through phosphorylation and nuclear removal.

Another study from our lab recently suggested that FOXO3A/CTNNB1 activation in hyperglycemia promoted spontaneous differentiation of these cells, as evidenced by a decrease in pluripotent marker expression, Pou5F1 and Nanog (McClelland et al, 2014). This atypical differentiation occurs at a stage of embryonic development in which it is critical for cells to remain pluripotent, and therefore provides an explanation of the decreased fertility observed in diabetic women. Due to the ability of FOXO3a to promote both senescence and differentiation of cells, this increase in differentiation is not surprising (Liang et al, 2003). Interestingly, inhibition of AKT under physiological Glc conditions led to an increase in spontaneous differentiation, demonstrating that AKT activation in physiological Glc conditions is critical for maintaining ESCs in the undifferentiated state (McClelland et al., 2014). These results can be explained as AKT inhibition would promote FOXO3a activation in physiological Glc conditions, leading to ESCs that are less proliferative and more differentiated than cells cultured in physiological Glc alone. However, the previous studies did not address the mechanism by which Glc modulates AKT activity nor how nuclear CTNNB1 levels were increased.

The purpose of this study was to identify the molecular mechanism that results in AKT inhibition and CTNNB1 activation in hyperglycemia, thus promoting ROS removal, proliferation and differentiation of ESCs. We have found that diabetic Glc conditions promote the formation and activity of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex 1 (mTORc1), resulting in downstream AKT

inhibition. Meanwhile, under physiological Glc conditions, mTOR complex 2 (mTORc2) was active, potentially promoting AKT activation by an AMP-regulated kinase (AMPK)-dependent mechanism (Julien et al, 2010).

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

Murine ESCs (D3) were cultured in medium containing 1000 U/mL Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (ESGRO, Chemicon) on BD Falcon Primaria tissue culture flasks (BD Biosciences). The following ingredients were diluted in Dulbecco's modified eagles medium (DMEM; Invitrogen): 15% FBS (PAA), 50 U/mL Streptomycin and 50 U/mL Penicillin, 0.1 mM β -mercaptoethanol, and 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids (Invitrogen). To make medium with varied Glucose (Glc) concentrations, all above medium components were diluted in no-Glc DMEM (Invitrogen) and supplemented with the appropriate amount of Glc. Cells were passaged every other day with 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen).

Glc and Compound Treatment

Murine ESCs were grown in 1.1, 5.5, 25, and 55 mM Glc, with 5.5 mM being referred to as physiological Glc conditions and 25 mM referred to as diabetic Glc conditions. In order to determine dose-dependent effects of Glc, 1.1 and 55 mM Glc were tested alongside physiological and diabetic Glc conditions. Because

different treatments resulted in varying proliferative rates, the ratio of cells to be passaged was determined by the most confluent cell culture. For compound treatment, stock solutions of AKT inhibitor IV, AICAR, and rapamycin were diluted in DMSO. Final concentrations of compound treatment are as follows: AKT inhibitor IV (5 μ M), AICAR (10 μ M), and Rapamycin (10 nM). A solvent negative control was tested alongside inhibitor treatment.

Cell Counts and Cell Cycle Analysis

Cells were treated as above and a single cell suspension was made using trypsin. Cell counts including trypan blue exclusion were taken using the Nexcelcom Cellometer with means being calculated from three independent replicates. For cell cycle analysis, single cell suspensions of cells were fixed in 95% ethanol, washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and then incubated in propidium iodide for 2h. Cells were spun down, washed in PBS, and analyzed by flow cytometry as described (Satoorian et al., 2014).

RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis

RNA samples were prepared from cells washed with PBS and extracted using the Nucleospin RNA extraction kit (Macherey Nagel). Final RNA content was measured using the Nanodrop ND-1000. cDNA was then synthesized from 625 ng of quantified RNA as described previously (Satoorian et al., 2014).

RT-PCR and QPCR

mRNA expression was measured using RT-PCR as described previously (zur Nieden et al, 2007a). Final products were run on a 3% agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide. Quantitative PCR was done using SYBR Green PCR master mix (Biorad) as described previously (Satoorian et al, 2014). Primers are listed in table 1 and table 2.

Protein Extraction and Western Blotting

To inhibit cellular phosphatases, cells were pretreated with sodium orthovanadate for 30 min before harvest. Samples were washed, trypsinized, and lysed in radiommunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS in 1x PBS pH 7.4) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (AEBSF 104 mM, aprotinin 80 μ M, bestatin 4 mM, E-64, 1.4 mM, leupeptin 2 mM, 1.5 mM pepstatin A, Sigma Aldrich) to generate whole cell lysates. To separate proteins into cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions, samples were prepared using the NE-PER cell fractionation kit (Pierce). Protein was quantified using the DC protein assay (Biorad) and 25 μ g of protein was loaded on an SDS-PAGE gel. Proteins were transferred from the gel to a PVDF membrane overnight (30V, 4°C) and the presence of equally loaded protein on the membrane was visualized using Ponceau S stain (Sigma). Membranes were washed in water and incubated overnight at 4°C in blocking buffer (5% BSA in 1X

TBST) with gentle agitation. Primary antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer and incubated with membranes overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed in 1XTBST and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in blocking buffer for 2h at RT with gentle agitation. Secondary antibodies were washed and developed using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce). The following antibodies were used: Actin (Cell Signaling Technology, #8456), phosphoAKT^{T308} (Cell Signaling Technology, # 4056), phosphoAKT^{S473} (Cell Signaling Technology, #4060), phosphoAMPK^{T172} (Cell Signaling Technology, #2535), phosphoCTNNB1^{Y142} (Abcam, #27798), phosphoCTNNB1^{Y654} (Abcam, #ab59430), phosphoCTNNB1^{S33/S37/Y41} (Cell Signaling Technology, #2009), phosphoFOXO3A^{S253} (Abcam, #ab47825), phosphoGSK3^{S21/9} (Cell Signaling Technology, #9327), phosphomTOR^{S2448} (Cell Signaling Technology, #2976), phosphoRAPTOR^{S792} (Cell Signaling Technology, #2083), phosphoRICTOR^{T1135} (Cell Signaling Technology, #3806), panRAPTOR (Abcam, #ab5454), panRICTOR (Abcam, #ab56578), TBP (Abcam, #ab818), anti-rabbit HRP (Cell Signaling Technology, #7074), anti-mouse HRP (Cell Signaling Technology, #7076).

Co-Immunoprecipitation

After treatments as indicated in the results section, cells were rinsed once with cold PBS and lysed on ice for 20 min in 1 ml of ice-cold lysis buffer (40 mm HEPES, pH 7.5, 120 mm NaCl, 1 mm EDTA, 10 mm pyrophosphate, 10 mm glycerophosphate, 50 mm NaF, and EDTA-free protease inhibitors (Roche

Applied Science) containing 0.3% CHAPS. After centrifugation at 13,000 × *g* for 10 min, 4 µg of mTOR antibody (Abcam, #ab2732) was added to the cleared supernatant and incubated under rotation for 90 min. Incubation continued for 1 h with addition of G-Sepharose beads. Captured immunoprecipitates were washed four times with lysis buffer and once with wash buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 40 mM NaCl, and 2 mM EDTA). Cell lysates and immunoprecipitates were resolved by SDS-PAGE, and proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane and visualized by immunoblotting as described. Western blotting was performed with the mTOR antibody (see above) as well as pan-RAPTOR (Abcam, #ab5454), and pan-RICTOR (Abcam, #ab56578). Actin (Cell Signaling Technology, #8456) was used to ensure equal loading of the Input.

ATP Content and Glc Utilization Assays

Cells were cultured as described and medium was used to measure Glc content using the TrueTrack Glc meter. For ATP content assays, cells were washed and lysed in 10 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 0.1 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.01% Triton X-100 and ATP content was measured using the ATP determination assay (Molecular Probes). This kit measures bioluminescence produced by luciferase, a reaction that requires ATP. A standard curve was generated by diluting a 5 mM ATP solution and comparing luminescence values to this generated standard curve. This data was then normalized to protein content to account for differences in cell numbers following experimental treatment.

Flow cytometric analysis of cell cycle and reporter cell lines

Cells were treated with varying Glc concentrations and/or compound treatment, washed with PBS and trypsinized to obtain a single cell suspension. Unstained and wild type cells were used in order to gate the appropriate positive population and to exclude cellular debris. For each assay, ten thousand events were measured on a Beckman Coulter flow cytometer. Means were calculated from three independent cell culture experiments.

Immunocytochemistry

Cultured cells were washed in PBS and fixed in methanol/acetone (7:3) for 10 min at -20°C. Following aspiration of fixative, samples were air-dried and cell membranes were permeabilized using 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS. Blocking was performed in 10% FBS, 0.5% BSA in PBS for 1 h at 37°C to prevent non-specific antibody binding. Primary antibody was diluted in the above blocking buffer and incubated overnight. Wells were washed and secondary antibody and the nuclear dye 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) were added for 2 h at room temperature. Following PBS washes, wells were visualized on a Nikon fluorescent microscope. The following antibodies were used: pan-CTNNB1 (Life Technologies, #71-2700), pan-FOXO3A (Abcam, #ab47409), pan-mTOR (Abcam, #ab2732), pan-RAPTOR (Abcam, #ab5454), pan-RICTOR (Abcam, #ab56578), pan-p53 (Abcam, #ab26), anti-mouse Alexa Flour 488 (Life

Technologies, #MHZAP7020), anti-rabbit Alexa Flour 546 (Life Technologies, #A-11035).

Mitochondrial Membrane Potential

Cells and culture medium were collected, counted and stained with JC-1 (Molecular Probes) at a final concentration of 5 μ g/ml. Dead cells were counterstained with 7-Amino-actinomycin (7-AAD, Life Technologies) at a final concentration of 1 μ g/ml. Staining was performed at 37°C for 30 min and percentages of stained cells was determined with flow cytometric analysis as described above.

Hydrogen Peroxide and Superoxide Anion Levels

Hydrogen peroxide levels were measured using dihydrorhodamine 123 (DHR123). Cells were incubated with DHR for 2 hours, trypsinized, and percentage of cells positive for green fluorescence was measured using FACS analysis. Superoxide anion levels were measured using the Superoxide Anion Detection kit (Agilent) according to manufacturer's instructions. Light emission was measured and normalized to cell number.

MnSOD and Catalase Activity Assays

Cells were washed with PBS, and lysed in RIPA buffer. SOD and Catalase activity were measured according to the manufacturer's instruction (Cayman

Chemical) and data was normalized to total protein content as measured with Lowry assay.

Statistics

All data was obtained from three technical replicates each from three biological replicates. Averages and standard deviations were calculated from obtained values and a student t-test was used to determine variation among two treatments. For variation among more than two groups, One-Way ANOVA was used with Posthoc Tukey HSD test. P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Hyperglycemia Results in an Increase in Differentiation Marker Expression and a Decrease in Pluripotency Marker Expression

Previous results in our laboratory have demonstrated a decrease in *Pou5f1* and *Nanog* expression following 25 mM Glc exposure, indicating an increase in differentiation (McClelland et al, 2014). Morphologically, there is a dose dependent increase in colonies that appear differentiated with this Glc concentration, as evidenced by a decrease in cell:cell adhesion within colonies and an increase in cells that are more cobble-stone like in appearance. This is consistent with increases in expression of the differentiation-associated markers

T-Brachyury (*T-Bra*), orthodenticle homeobox 2 (*Otx2*), and *N-cadherin* (*N-cad*) (Figure 1A and B). Consistent with this increase in differentiation, there is a Glcdependent increase in mRNA expression of the neural crest markers *snail*, *slug*, and *fzd* (Chung et al, 2009) suggesting that the cells are undergoing an epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) as also apparent from the morphological change (Figure 1C).

AKT is Inactive in Hyperglycemia, while FOXO3A and CTNNB1 are Active

Previous results in our laboratory have found that there is an increase in nuclear FOXO3a and CTNNB1 in diabetic Glc conditions, while AKT appears to be localized primarily in the cytoplasm (Satoorian et al, 2014). Diabetic Glc conditions led to an increase in FOXO3a activation, as evidenced by a decrease in the inhibitory phosphorylation of residue Ser253 (Figure 1D), a reaction that is catalyzed by AKT (Arden et al, 2004). At the same time, AKT remained unphosphorylated at residues Thr308 and Ser473 (Figure 1D), sites that are required for activation of AKT (Allesi et al, 1996, Sarbassov et al, 2005). CTNNB1 was phosphorylated at Tyr142 and Tyr654 under diabetic Glc conditions (Figure 1D), indicating a potentially more transcriptionally active form of CTNNB1 (Piedra et al, 2003, van Veelen et al, 2011) to be present upon Glc challenge. Indeed, diabetic Glc promoted nuclear CTNNB1 localization as evidenced by immunocytochemistry (Figure 1E).

AKT and CTNNB1 Activity are Inversely Regulated in Response to Glc Concentration

To quantify the involvement of AKT in Glc-induced differentiation, an mESC cell line that expresses GFP driven by the *T-Bra* promoter (T-Bra::GFP) was next exposed to physiological and diabetic Glc conditions. Supporting our previous data, there was an increase in GFP expressing cells when cells were exposed to diabetic Glc (Figure 1F). Similarly, T-Bra and Otx2 mRNA levels were increased (Figure 1G). Further demonstrating an increase in premature differentiation, expression of the undifferentiated markers *Pou5f1* and *Nanog* were decreased when compared with cells cultured under physiological conditions (Figure 1G). In contrast, 5.5 mM Glc cultures treated with a small molecule AKT inhibitor that has been confirmed in our laboratory to result in AKT inhibition (Satoorian et al, 2014) showed a larger number of colonies that appeared differentiated (data not shown) and had a statistically significant increase in GFP⁺ expression driven by the *T-Bra* promoter when compared with cells cultured in physiological Glc alone (Figure 1F). At the same time, AKT inhibition led to an increase in the differentiation markers T-Bra and Otx-2 and a decrease in expression of the undifferentiated markers Pou5f1 and nanog when compared with cells grown in physiological conditions (Figure 1G). Additionally, there is no statistical difference in expression of these markers between 25 mM and 5.5 mM AKTi conditions, demonstrating that AKT inhibition is sufficient to promote differentiation of cells similar to that induced by exposure to hyperglycemia.

Glc Promotes Formation of mTORc1, but not mTORc2

Due to their ability for nutrient sensing and for their opposing activity on AKT, we next determined the activation status of mTOR and its two complexes: mTORC1 and mTORC2. The regulatory-associated protein of mTOR (RAPTOR) is a component of mTORc1, and activation of this complex leads to downstream AKT inhibition (Julien et al, 2010). The rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR (RICTOR) is a component of mTORc2, known for its ability to phosphorylate AKT at Ser473, resulting in its activation (Sarbassov et al, 2005). We hypothesized that under physiological conditions, mTORc2 would be active, leading to AKT activation, while in diabetic Glc concentrations, mTORc1 would be active and promote AKT inhibition.

First, immunocytochemistry was used to detect localization of the mTOR complex components in response to Glc, as this would give information regarding proximity to one another. In physiological conditions, mTOR and RICTOR were mainly localized to the nucleus, while RAPTOR was localized to the cytoplasm (Figure 2A). Exposure to diabetic Glc led to a roughly similar distribution of these proteins. The same phenomenon was observed with Western blots of fractionated samples (Figure 2B). To demonstrate mTOR complex functionality, western blot analysis of whole cell lysates was performed for the phosphorylated and inhibited forms of RAPTOR and RICTOR. Supporting our hypothesis, there was an increase in RAPTOR phosphorylation in physiological Glc, confirming

that mTORc1 was inactive in these conditions. On the other hand, RICTOR was phosphorylated at higher Glc conditions, demonstrating mTORc2 inhibition at the 25 mM Glc concentration (Figure 2B). Co-immunoprecipitation studies further confirmed an increase in mTORc1 formation in hyperglycemia and mTORc2 formation in physiological Glc conditions (Figure 2C). This data demonstrates that mTORc1 was active in hyperglycemia, while mTORc2 was active in physiological Glc conditions and could explain the underlying mechanism by which AKT is inactive in hyperglycemia and active in physiological Glc conditions.

Rapamycin Treatment in Hyperglycemia Leads to mTORc2 Activation

In order to assess the function of mTORC1 in cellular response to hyperglycemia more closely, cells were then cultured in diabetic Glc conditions and treated with or without rapamycin. Rapamycin is a small molecule known to inhibit mTORc1 formation during short-term treatments, and long-term exposure is thought to affect mTORc2 activity as well (Sarbassov et al, 2006). Treatment with rapamycin led to an increase in mTOR phosphorylation on a residue that promotes mTOR activity, while there is an increase in the inhibitory phosphorylation on RAPTOR and a decline in the inhibitory phosphorylation of RICTOR, suggesting that rapamycin treatment resulted in RAPTOR inhibition and RICTOR activation (Figure 3A). Rapamycin treatment also led to an increase in the active and phosphorylated form of AKT^{Ser473}, a phosphorylation site that is catalyzed by mTORc2 (Sarbassov et al, 2005) thereby confirming a correlation

between RICTOR activation and downstream AKT phosphorylation. Additionally, the AKT-catalyzed inhibitory phosphorylation of FOXO3a was increased with rapamycin treatment, contrary to what occurs under 25 mM Glc alone (Figure 3A). Treatment with rapamycin also promoted an increase in nuclear localization of AKT, while FOXO3A appeared to be excluded from the nucleus (Figure 3B). These results demonstrate that RICTOR activation lies upstream of AKT inhibition and FoxO3a nuclear localization and that by artificially activating RICTOR with rapamycin this is reversed.

To confirm that rapamycin-mediated inhibition of FoxO3a affected the previously reported regulation of FoxO3a downstream targets (Satoorian et al., 2014), we next measured the mRNA expression levels of the ROS removal enzymes *MnSOD* and *catalase* following rapamycin treatment. These mRNAs were differentially regulated in rapamycin treated cells, with there being no significant effect on *MnSOD* expression, while expression of *Catalase* was downregulated (Figure 3C). This expression pattern of *MnSOD* was different to that what was expected, as FOXO3a inhibition would lead to a decline in expression, potentially implying that a secondary factor may be regulating *MnSOD* expression in addition to FoxO3a. However, MnSOD activity declined (Figure 3D) and correlated to an increase in increase in superoxide anion levels with rapamycin treatment (Figure 3F). Hydrogen peroxide levels were similar in both 25 mM and rapamycin treatment (Figure 3G), and this could be due to the decrease in breakdown of these ROS species by both MNSOD and CATALASE (Figure 3E).

These results demonstrate that cells treated with rapamycin may be under conditions of stress and imply that the mTOR pathway is at least partially responsible for changes in FoxO3a transcription of ROS removal enzymes.

Rapamycin Treatment Alters CTNNB1 Activity

To next discern the link between mTOR complex activity and premature differentiation, mESCs were treated in 25 mM Glc with or without rapamycin. Cells exposed to 25 mM Glc are less adhesive to one another, and there is a decrease in their nucleus to cytoplasmic ratio, indicative of an increase in differentiation (Pajerowski et al., 2007). Treatment with rapamycin abolished this affect, with colonies maintaining an undifferentiated morphology and a high nucleus to cytoplasmic ratio (Figure 4A). Rapamycin treatment led to a decline in both T-Bra and Pou5f1 expression, while Otx-2 did not seem to be affected (Figure 4B). Exposure of TBra::GFP cells to rapamycin treatment led to a severe decline in GFP-expressing cells (Figure 4C), while rapamycin treatment in hyperglycemia led to a major increase in GFP-expressing cells driven by the promotors that contain LEF/TCF binding sites (LEF/TCF::GFP) (Figure 4D). Both the promotor of T-Bra and LEF/TCF transcription factors are known to bind to CTNNB1 and drive gene expression (Schmidt-Ott et al, 2007), and paradoxically, these two reporter lines are indicating opposing CTNNB1 activation. At the same time, rapamycin treatment seems to alter the interaction of CTNNB1 with cofactors, leading to alterations in CTNNB1-target gene expression.

Rapamycin Treatment Results in a Decline in Cell Proliferation

If mTORC1 activation was upstream of AKT/FoxO3a, than rapamycin-induced FoxO3a inactivation should lead to a drop in $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ transcription. Previous studies have indeed identified rapamycin as an inhibitor of cell cycle progression at the G1/S phase transition through activation in expression of the G1 to S phase inhibitors $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ (Dennis et al, 1999). Rapamycin treatment did down-regulate the expression of both these mRNAs (Figure 4F) and there was a severe decline in cell number and the majority of the cells were arrested in the G₀/G₁ phase of the cell cycle (Figure 4E and G). Calculation of the G₁/S ratio further clarified this relationship. The noted increase in the G₁/S ratio upon rapamycin treatment indicated a decline in cell proliferation (Figure 4H), although cellular proliferation should be increased based on this decrease in cell cycle inhibitors.

Due to this severe decline in cell proliferation despite blockage of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ transcription, we hypothesized that rapamycin treatment might also be affecting p53 activation, which would result in cell cycle inhibition (Levine, 1997). The localization of p53 was therefore investigated in hyperglycemia and with rapamycin treatment. However, no difference in nuclear p53 localization in these two conditions was detected (Figure 4J), demonstrating that this decline in cell proliferation was p53-independent.

In an effort to explain the decline in proliferation, we next examined whether rapamycin treatment altered mRNA expression of *cyclin D1*, a known activator of G1/S cell cycle progression (Hashemolhosseini et al, 1998) and a known CTNNB1 target (Tetsu et al, 1999). In our studies, there was a Glc-dependent increase in *cyclin D1* expression, while treatment with rapamycin in 25 mM Glc led to a significant decline in *cyclin D1* expression (Figure 4E and I). This might explain the inability of rapamycin-treated cells to progress beyond the G1/S phase and raises the question of rapamycin's ability to modulate CTNNB1 activity in 25 mM Glc conditions.

Diabetic Glc Conditions Result in an Increase in ATP Production and AMPK Inhibition

Our initial hypothesis led us to believe that the cellular energy sensor AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) would be inhibited in diabetic Glc conditions, as there is an increase in exposure to nutrients and possibly promoting an increase in ATP generation. High levels of ATP result in AMPK inhibition, while a decline in ATP levels leads to AMPK activation (Sakamato et al, 2004). Furthermore, AMPK regulates mTOR complex activity, and could provide an explanation of the Glc-dependent modulation of mTOR activity (Gwinn et al., 2008). To confirm that cells exposed to diabetic Glc conditions have increased rates of glycolytic breakdown and produce excess ATP, we analyzed Glc content of supernatant medium and ATP levels present in cells. There was a dose dependent increase

in Glc uptake that is also evidenced by an increase in ATP production (Figure 5A-C). Rapamycin treatment did not alter ATP levels in cells, indicating that ATP generation is mTORc2-independent (Figure 5B).

We then measured mitochondrial membrane potential, as it is required for proper ATP generation and can be altered under conditions of oxidative stress (Vayssier-Taussat et al., 2002). This is of critical importance, as our previous study demonstrated alteration in ROS levels following physiological and diabetic Glc exposure (Satoorian et al., 2014). There does not appear to be a Glc-dependent effect on cells in these varying Glc concentrations (Figure 5D). Additionally, the mRNA expression of the metabolic enzymes glucose-6-phosphatase (Glc6P) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) is also increased with diabetic Glc exposure (Figure 5E) both of which are known to be regulated by FOXO3a (Kodama et al, 2004) and CTNNB1 (Liu et al, 2011). This increase could be due to the rapid loss in external Glc, prompting cells grown in diabetic conditions to activate gluconeogenesis and the production of *de novo* glucose.

AMPK, GSK3 and CTNNB1

Western blot analysis then confirmed that there is an increase in the phosphorylated form of AMPK in physiological Glc conditions correlative with the lower ATP levels detected in this concentration, and also when cells exposed to diabetic Glc conditions are treated with the AMPK activator AICAR. Because

AMPK negatively regulates glycogen synthase kinase – 3 (GSK-3) (Horike et al., 2008), and can influence CTNNB1 stability, we hypothesized that AMPK modulation may be upstream of CTNNB1 nuclear shuttling in 25 mM Glc. GSK-3 phosphorylates CTNNB1 on Ser33/37/Thr41, targeting it for degradation by the proteaosome (Yost et al, 1996, Figure 5F). Treatment with AICAR in 25 mM Glc results in phosphorylation of CTNNB1 on Ser33/37/Thr41 (Figure 5G), the opposite of what was expected.

AMPK and CTNNB1 Transcriptional Activation

AICAR treatment also promoted phosphorylation of CTNNB1 on residue Ser552, a reaction that is catalyzed by AKT, protein kinase A, and AMPK, and promotes CTNNB1 transcriptional activity (Taurin et al, 2006; Fang et al, 2007; He et al, 2007; Zhao et al., 2010). At the same time, there is a decline in CTNNB1 phosphorylation on residue Tyr142 with AICAR treatment (Figure 5G), implying a decrease in dissociation of CTNNB1 from the membrane (Piedra et al, 2003). This is interesting, as a recent study has identified membrane-bound CTNNB1 to be critical for the maintenance of pluripotency (Faunes et al, 2013), and AICAR treatment seems to maintain the membrane-bound pool of CTNNB1. Additionally, the CTNNB1-binding partner FOXO3a appears inactive following AICAR treatment, as evidenced by an increase in the AKT-mediated phosphorylation of Ser253.

Cells treated with AICAR regained their proliferative ability, possibly due to inhibition of Foxo3a (Figure 5H). At the same time, there was a decrease in GFP expression in TBra::GFP cells following AICAR treatment in 25 mM Glc, while GFP expression driven by LEF::TCF activity is increased in AICAR treated cells (Figure 5I and J). These results imply two things: 1) exposure to AICAR might protect cells from differentiation, as cells are proliferative and have a decline in activity from the T-Bra promoter, and 2) LEF/TCF mediated transcription is intact following AICAR treatment. These results demonstrate that AMPK is important in maintaining ESCs in the undifferentiated state, and this might be due to its ability to regulate CTNNB1 and FOXO3a nuclear activity (Figure 6).

AMPK and mTOR Complexes

Since our initial hypothesis led us to believe that AMPK was upstream of mTORc2 activation in physiological Glc conditions, we next exposed cells to hyperglycemia and AICAR treatment and subsequently assessed the phosphorylation status of mTOR component. We found and an increase in phosphorylation of RICTOR, indicating its inhibition (Figure 5G). Additionally, AMPK activation in 25 mM Glc did not alter RAPTOR phosphorylation, indicating that AICAR treatment was not sufficient to inhibit mTORc1 activity. Thus, AMPK and the mTOR complexes appear to be regulating AKT independently of one-another.

Discussion

Our results demonstrate that hyperglycemia promotes mTORc1 activation in mESCs, while mTORc2 remains inhibited. This is critical, as mTORc2 positively regulates AKT. To determine that mTORc2 is critical for AKT activation, cells exposed to diabetic Glc levels were treated with rapamycin. This did indeed lead to an increase in AKT activation and FOXO3a inhibition, but critically affected the proliferative potential of the ESCs. This decline in cell number was found to be p53-independent, and was more likely due to a decrease in expression of *cyclin D1*, a protein that is important for G1/S phase transition and is known to be regulated by CTNNB1 (Hashemolhosseini et al, 1998). Previous studies have shown that rapamycin treatment results in decreased *cyclin D1* expression, and our study may have identified CTNNB1 as the link between rapamycin and cell cycle inhibition.

Another mechanism by which rapamycin could be altering the cell cycle could be due to the increase in oxidative stress in cells exposed to 25 mM Glc. The interaction between FOXO3a and CTNNB1 is critical for reducing ROS, and rapamycin treatment led to a decrease in FOXO3a activity, as well as a decrease in *catalase* expression. Therefore, increases in oxidative stress following rapamycin treatment could also be responsible for the cell cycle inhibition seen here, as previously suggested in different murine ESC lines (Guo et al, 2010).

Additionally, we observed that rapamycin treatment led to a decline in Pou5f1 and T-Bra expression, while Otx-2 expression remained unchanged. It is not atypical to observe expression of the epiblastic marker Otx-2 in ESCs (Zhou et al, 2009), and we believe that this expression does not indicate differentiation along other lineages. However, a decline in *Pou5f1* indicates a decrease in pluripotency. A recent study has found that rapamycin treatment promoted *Pou5f1* expression in rat embryonic fibroblasts and impeded senescence, a stark contrast to our findings (Pospelova et al, 2013). Perhaps these controversial findings could be explained by the knowledge that ESCs and embryonic cells are quite sensitive to oxidative stress, and thus, prevent their ability to further contribute to the culture or the growing embryo by differentiating prematurely. Additionally, rapamycin treatment has been shown to induce differentiation along the endodermal lineage. It is possible that rapamycin treatment in 25 mM Glc results in an increase in endodermal differentiation (Zhou et al., 2009), but we have not assessed for markers of this lineage.

Another interesting finding is that Glc concentration did not alter mitochondrial potential, a factor that is important for ATP production and is decreased upon exposure to oxidative stress. Due to the fluctuations in ROS levels observed in our previous study (Satoorian et al., 2014), we believed that there would be a Glc-dependent affect on mitochondrial potential. However, cells exposed to 25 mM Glc are differentiating, which possibly results in a change in mitochondrial number. In fact, as cells differentiate, there is an increase in mitochondrial

biogenesis and activity (Cho et al, 2006). This increase in mitochondrial number might explain the Glc-independent process of mitochondrial potential.

Exposure to diabetic Glc also led to an increase in ATP production, Glc use, and an increase in expression of the enzymes involved in gluconeogenesis, *Glc6P* and *PEPCK*. This is curious, as these cells are exposed to a high Glc environment, yet they are activating expression of genes that promote Glc biogenesis. We believe this might be due to a rapid decline in extracellular Glc, prompting cells exposed to a diabetic environment to increase production of Glc. Interestingly, a 1992 study found that there is an increase rate of gluconeogenesis in type II diabetes (Magnusson et al, 1992). Transcription of these two genes is regulated by FOXO in the liver (Zhang et al, 2006), and is possibly regulated by active FOXO3a in 25 mM Glc.

We have found that AICAR treatment in hyperglycemia led to an increase in AMPK activity and inactivation of GSK-3. However, there is still an increase in the pool of CTNNB1 that is targeted for degradation by GSK-3. We believe that this might be due to the ability of active AMPK to suppress proteasomal function (Xu et al, 2012), resulting in the increase in cytoplasmic localization of CTNNB1 phosphorylated on Ser33/37/Thr41. We believe that this accumulation stabilizes CTNNB1, promoting phosphatases to remove the phosphorylation sites that promote CTNNB1 degradation, and thus allows AMPK and AKT to phosphorylate AKT on Ser552 of CTNNB1, leading to its nuclear translocation.

Our original hypothesis led us to believe that AMPK would be upstream of mTORc2 activation. Instead, we must conclude that treatment with AICAR in diabetic Glc did not promote mTORc2 activation, but still led to an increase in AKT activity. Therefore, both mTORc2 and AMPK seem to lie upstream of AKT activation, while AMPK does not appear to be upstream of mTOR.



Figure 5.1: Hyperglycemia Promotes Differentiation of ESCs Due to AKT inhibition (A) Micrographs demonstrating an increase in colonies that appear differentiated with increase Glc concentration. (B) QPCR analysis confirming a Glc-dependent increase in mRNA expression of genes associated with differentiation; $n=3\pm$ SD. (C) PCR analysis showing a Glc-dependent increase in expression of genes associated with EMT; $n=3\pm$ SD. (D) Western blots confirming FOXO3a and CTNNB1 activation in 25 mM Glc, while AKT remains inhibited. (E) There is a Glc-dependent increase in GFP+ cells driven by the T-Bra promoter. Additionally, AKT inhibition resulted in an increase in this differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Glc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Slc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Slc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Slc-dependent increase in differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) QPCR analysis demonstrating a Slc-dependent increase in this differentiation associated marker; $n=3\pm$ SD.

DAPI TOR/ DAP mTOR 5.5 mM 5.5 mM 5.5 mM mTOR DAPI mTOR/ DAP 25 mM 25 mM 25 mM DAPI / DAPI 5.5 mM 5.5 mM 5.5 mM DAPI / DAP 25 mM 25 mM 25 mM DAPI / DAPI 5.5 mM 5.5 mM 5.5 mM / DAPI DAPI 25 mM 25 mM 25 mM



А

Figure 5.2: Glc modulates mTOR complex formation and activity

(A) Immunocytochemistry demonstrating localization of the different mTOR components. (B) There is an increase in mTORc2 activity in physiological conditions, as evidenced by a decrease in RICTOR phosphorylation. Hyperglycemia resulted in a decrease in RAPTOR phosphorylation, implying mTORc1 activation. (C) Coimmunoprecipitation studies demonstrating mTORc1 formation in diabetic conditions, while mTORc2 is formed in physiological Glc condition.



Figure 5.3: Rapamycin Treatment Promotes mTORc2 and AKT activation and FOXO3a inhibition

(A) Western blots demonstrating rapamycin treatment in diabetic Glc led to an increase in mTORc2 and AKT activation, and resulted in a decrease in mTORc1 and FOXO3a activation. (B) Immunocytochemistry demonstrating an increase in nuclear AKT with rapamycin treatment, while FOXO3a is excluded from the nucleus. (C) QPCR analysis of the ROS removal genes *MnSOD* and *catalase;* n=3±SD. (D-E) Levels of the ROS molecules superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide; n=5±SD. (F-G) Enzymatic activity of the ROS removal enzymes MnSOD and Catalase; n=5±SD.



Figure 5.4: Rapamycin Inhibits the Cell Cycle and Alters Pluripotency

(A) Rapamycin treatment resulted in colonies that appear morphologically undifferentiated. (B) Rapamycin treatment led to a severe decline in cell proliferation; $n=3\pm$ SD. (C-D) Cells treated with rapamycin are arrested in the G0/G1 phase of the cell cycle; $n=3\pm$ SD. (E) Glc-dependent increase in expression of the *cyclin d* gene; $n=3\pm$ SD. (F) Rapamycin affects *p21*, *p27* and *cyclin d* expression; $n=3\pm$ SD. (G) TBra::GFP promoter activity is decreased greatly with rapamycin treatment; $n=3\pm$ SD. (H) Rapamycin may affect pluripotency of cells, as there is a decrease in expression of *Pou5f1*. *Otx-2* is unaffected by rapamycin-induced decreases in cell proliferation are independent of p53 activation. (J) LEF/TCF reporter activity is increased with rapamycin treatment; $n=3\pm$ SD.


Figure 5.5: AMPK Activity in Physiological and Diabetic Conditions

(A) There is a Glc-dependent increase in ATP levels; $n=5\pm$ SD. (B) Rapamycin treatment does not alter ATP production, indicating that mTOR is not upstream of ATP formation; $n=5\pm$ SD. (C) There is a dose-dependent increase in Glc use; $n=5\pm$ SD. (D) JC-1 Assay demonstrating cell survival affects; $n=3\pm$ SD. (E) There is a Glc-dependent increase in the FoxO3a targets *Glc6P* and *PEPCK;* $n=3\pm$ SD. (F) AMPK is active in physiological conditions, and AICAR treatment in diabetic conditions promoted an increase in its activation. (G) Western blots demonstrating alterations in phosphorylation following AICAR treatment. (H) AICAR restores the proliferation capacity of cells exposed to diabetic conditions; $n=3\pm$ SD. (I) There is a decrease in GFP driven by the TBra promoter in AICAR treated cells, demonstrating a decrease in spontaneous differentiation of these cells; $n=3\pm$ SD. (J) AICAR treatment results in a decrease in LEF/TCF mediated transcription; $n=3\pm$ SD.



Figure 5.6: Diabetic Conditions

In diabetic conditions, mTORc1 is active and results in downstream AKT inhibition. This promotes an increase in nuclear FOXO3a, where it can bind with CTNNB1 and regulate expression of target genes.

Diabetic Glc + AICAR



Figure 5.7: Diabetic Conditions Treated with AICAR

Artificial AMPK activation results in AKT activation and removal of FOXO3a from the nucleus. At the same time, there is an increase in the levels of CTNNB1 in the nucleus, due to AMPK's ability to stabilize CTNNB1. This results in an increase in CTNNB1-regulated gene expression and not of FOXO3a/CTNNB1 targets.

Table 5.1: qPCR Primers

т °				
	Forward	Reverse	C C	
Catalas		AAAGCAACCAAACACGGTCCTTC		
е	TGTTTATTCCTGTGCTGTGCGGTG	С	60	
Cyclin D1	TTACCTGGACCGTTTCTTGG	TGCTCAATGAAGTCGTGAGG	60	
Glc6P				
MnSOD	TTACAACTCAGGTCGCTCTCA	GGCTGTCAGCTTCTCCCTTAAAC	60	
Nanog	ATGCCTGCAGTTTTTCATCC	GAGGCAGGTCTTCAGAGGAA	60	
N-Cad				
Otx2	GCAGAGGTCCTATCCCATGA	CTGGGTGGAAAGAGAAGCTG	60	
p21cip1	GAGTAGGACTTTGGGGTCTCCT	TGTCTTCACAGGTCTGAGCAAT	60	
p27kip1	GGATATGGAAGAAGCGAGTCAG	CCTGTAGTAGAACTCGGGCAAG	60	
pepck				
pou5f1	GCCTTGCAGCTCAGCCTTAA	CTCATTGTTGTCGGCTTCCTC	61	
	GCTGTGACTGCCTACCAGCAGAAT			
tbra	G	GAGAGAGAGCGAGCCTCCAAAC	58	

Table 5.2: PCR Primers

	Forward	Reverse	Tm°C
5t4	AACTGCCGAGTCTCAGATACC	ATGATACCCTTCCATGTGATCC	55
fzd9	AAGACGGGAGGCACCAATAC	AACCATAACTCACAGCCTAG	60
slug	GCACTGTGATGCCCAGTCTA	TTGGAGCAGTTTTTGCACTG	60
snail	GAGGACAGTGGCAAAAGCTC	TCGGATGTGCATCTTCAGAG	60
18s	CGCGGTTCTATTTTGTTGGT	AGTCGGCATCGTTTATGGTC	60

References

Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, Cron P, Morrice N, Cohen P, Hemmings BA. Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. EMBO. J. 1996. 15(23): 6541-6551.

Arden KC. FoxO: linking new signaling pathways. Mol.Cell. 2004. 14(4): 416-418.

Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry. 5th edition. New York: W H Freeman; 2002. Section 16.4, Gluconeogenesis and Glycolysis Are Reciprocally Regulated. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK22423/</u>

Cho YM, Kwon S, Pak YK, Seol HW, Choi YM, Park do J, Park KS, Lee HK. Dynamic changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during the spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006. 348(4):1472-1478.

Chung MC, Sytwu HK, Yan MD, hih YL, Chang CC, Yu MH, Liu HS, Chu DW, Lin YW. SFRP1 and SFRP2 suppress the transformation and invasion abilities of cancer cells through Wnt signal pathway. Gynecol. Oncol. 2009. 112(3): 646-653.

Davidson KC, Adams AM< Goodson JM, McDonald CE, Potter JC, Berndt JD, Biechele TL, Taylor RJ, Moon RT. Wnt/β-catenin signaling promotes differentiation, not self-renewal, of human embryonic stem cells and is repressed by Oct4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2012. 109(12): 4485-4490.

Dennis PB, Fumagalli S, Thomas G. Target of rapamycin (TOR): balancing the opposing forces of protein synthesis and degradation. Cur.. Opin. Genet. Dev. 1999. 9(1): 49-54.

Fang D, Hawke D, Zheng Y, Xia Y, Meisenhelder J, Nika H, Mills GB, Kobayashi R, Hunter T, Lu Z. Phosphorylation of beta-catenin by AKT promotes beta-catenin transcriptional activity. J. Biol. Chem. 2007. 282(15): 11221-11229.

Faunes F, Hayward P, Descalzo SM, Chatterjee SS, Balayo T, Trott J, Chrisoforou A, Ferrer-Vaquer A, Hadjantonakis AK, Dasgupta R, Arias AM. A membrane-associated β -catenin/Oct4 complex correlates with ground-state pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development. 2013. 140(6): 1171-1183.

Guo YL, Chakraborty S, Rajan SS, Wang R, Huang F. Effects of oxidative stress on mouse embryonic stem cell proliferation, apoptosis, senescence, and self-renewal. Stem. Cells. Dev. 2010. 19(9): 1321-1331.

Gwinn DM, Shackelford DB, Egan DF, Mihaylova MM< Mery A, Vasquez DS, Turk BE, Shaw RJ. AMPK phosphorylation of raptor mediates a metabolic checkpoint. Mol. Cell. 2008. 30(2): 214-226.

Hanson U, Persson B, Thunell S. Relationship between haemoglobin A1C in early type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic pregnancy and the occurrence of spontaneous abortion and fetal malformation in Sweden. Diabetologia. 1990. 33(2): 100-104.

Hashemolhosseini S, Nagamine Y, Morley SJ, Desrivieres S, Mercep L. Ferrari S. Rapamyinc inhibition of the G1 to S transition is mediated by effects on cyclin D1 mRNA and protein stability. J. Bio. Chem. 1998. 273(23): 14424-14429.

He XC, Yin T, Grindley JC, Tian Q, Sato T, Tao WA, Dirisina R, Porter-Westpfahl KS, Hembree M, Johnson T, Wiedermann LM< Barrett TA, Hood L, Wu H, Li L. PTEN-deficient intestinal stem cells initiate intestinal polyposis. Nat. Genet. 2007. 39(2): 189-198.

Horike N, Sakoda H, Kushiyama A, Ono H, Fujishiro M, Kamata H, Nishiyama K, Uchijima Y, Kurihara Y, Kurihara H, Asano T. AMP-activated protein kinase activation increases phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta and thereby reduces cAMP-responsive element transcriptional activity and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase C gene expression in the liver.J Biol Chem. 2008. 283(49):33902-33910.

Julien LA, Carriere A, Moreau J, Roux PP. mTORc1-activated S6K1 phosphorylates Rictor on threonine 1135 and regulates mTORc2 signaling. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2010. 30(4): 908-921.

Kim YH, Heo JS, Han HJ. High Glccose increase cell cycle regulatory proteins level of mouse embryonic stem cells via PI3-K/AKT and MAPKs signal pathways. J. Cell. Physiol. 2006. 209(1): 94-102.

Kodama S, Koike C, Negishi M, Yamamoto Y. Nuclear receptors CAR and PXR cross talk with FOXO1 to regulate genes that encode Drug-metabolizing genes that encode drug-metabolizing and gluconeogenic enzymes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2004. 24(19): 7931-7940.

Levine AJ. P53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell. 1997. 88(3): 323-331.

Liang J, Slingerland JM. Multiple roles of the PI3K/PKB (Akt) pathways in cell cycle progression. Cell Cycle. 2003. 2(4): 339-345.

Liu H, Fergusson MM, Wu JJ< Rovira II, Liu J, Gavrilova O, Lu T, Bao J. Han D, Sack MN, Finkel T. Wnt signaling regulates hepatic metabolism. Sci. Signal. 2011. 4(158): ra6: doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2001249.

Magnusson I, Rothman DL, Katz LD, Shulman RF, Shulman GI. Increased rate of gluconeogenesis in type II diabetes mellitus. A 13C nuclear magnaetic resonance study. J. Clin. Invest. 1992. 90(4): 1323-1327.

Morin PJ. Beta-catenin signaling and cancer. Bioesays. 1999. 21(12): 1021-1030.

Piedra J, Miravet S, Castano J, Palmer HG, Heisterkamp N, Garcia de Herreros A, Dunach M. p120 Catenin-associated Fer and Fyn tyrosine kinases regulate beta-catenin Tyr-142 phosphorylation and beta-catenin-alpha-catening interaction. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2003. 23(7): 2287-2297.

Pospelova TV, Byrkova TV, Zubova SG, Katolikova NV, Yartzeva NM< Pospelov VA. Rapamycin induced pluripotent genes associated with avoidance of replicative senescence. Cell. Cycle. 2013. 12(24)

Ramin N, Thieme R, Fischer S, Schindler M, Schmidt T, Fischer B, Navarrete Santos A. Maternal diabetes impairs gastrulation and insulin and IGF-1 receptor expression in rabbit blastocysts. Endocrinology. 2010. 151(9): 4158-4167.

Sakamoto K, Goransson O, Hardie DG, Alessi DR. Activity of LKB1 and AMPKrelated kinases in skeletal muscle: effects of contraction, phenformin and AICAR. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 2004. 287: E310-E317.

Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sengupta S, Sheen JH, Hsu PP, Bagley AF, Markhard AL, Sabatini DM. Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORc2 assembly and AKT/PKB. Mol. Cell. 2006. 22(2): 159-168.

Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali Sm, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of AKT/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science. 2005. 307(5712): 1098-1101.

Satoorian TS, McClelland Descalzo DL, Sparks NRL, Pulyanina PY, Keller KC, Dansen T, zur Nieden NI. Glucose-induced oxidative stress reduces proliferation in embryonic stem cells through FoxO3a/CTNNB1 Dependent transcription of p21^{cip1} and p27^{kip1}. In Progress. 2014.

Schmidt-Ott KM, Masckauchan TN, Chen X, Hirsh BJ, Sarkar A, Yang J, Paragas N, Wallace VA, Dufort D, Pavlidis P, Jagla B, Kitajewsky J, Barasch J.

Beta-catenin/TCF/Lef controls a differentiation-associatd transcriptional program in renal epitheliasl progenitors. Development. 2007. 134(17): 3177-3190.

Sears R, Nuckolis F, Haura E, Taya Y, Tamai K, Nevins JR. Multiple Rasdependent phosphorylation pathways regulate Myc protein stability. 2000. Genes Dev. 14(19): 2501-2514.

Taurin S, Sandbo N, Qin Y, Browning D, Dulin NO. Phosphorylation of beta catenin by cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 2006. 281(15): 9971-9976.

Tetsu O, McCormick F. Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature. 1999. 398)6726): 422-426.

Van Veelen W, Le NH, Helvenstejn W, Blonden L, Theeuwes M, Bakker ER, Franken PF, van Gurp L, Meijink F, van der Valk MA, Kulpers EJ, Fodde R, Smits R. Beta-catening tyrosine 654 phosphorylation increases Wnt signaling and intestinal tumorigenesis. Gut. 2011. 60(9): 1204-1212.

Vayssier-Taussat M, Kreps SE, Adrie C, Dall'Ava J, Christiani D, Polla BS. Mitochondrial membrane potential: a novel biomarker of oxidative environmental stress. Environ. Health. Perspect. 2002. 110(3): 301-305.

Wier LM, Witt E, Burgess J, et al. Hospitalizations Related to Diabetes in Pregnancy, 2008: Statistical Brief #102. 2010 Dec. In: Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) Statistical Briefs [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (US); 2006 Feb-. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52649/

Xu J, Wang S, Viollet B, Zou MH. Regulation of the proteasome by AMPK in endothelial cells: the role of O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT). PLoS One. 2012. 7(5): e36717.

Yost C, Torres M, Miller JR, Huang E, Kimelman D, Moon RT. The axis-inducing activity, stability, and subcellular distribution of beta-catenin is regulated in Xenopus embryos by glycogen synthase kinase 3. Genes. Dev. 1996. 10(12): 1443-1454.

Zhang W, Patil S, Chauhan B, Guo S, Powell DR< Le J, Kiotsas A, Matika R, Xiao X, Franks R, Heidenreich KA, Sajan MP, Farese RV, Stoiz DB, Tso P, Koo SH, Montminy M, Unterman TG. FoxO1 regulates multiple metabolic pathways in the liver: effects on gluconeogenic, glycolytic, and lipogenic gene expression. J. Biol. Chem. 2006. 281(15): 10105-10117.

Zhou J, Su P, Wang L, Chen J, Zimmermann M, Genbacev O, Afonja O, Home MC, Tanaka T, Duan E, Fisher SJ, Liao J, Chen J, Wang F. mTOR supports long-term self-renewal and suppresses mesoderm and endoderm activities of human embryonic stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 2009. 106(19): 7840-7845.

Zhao J, Yue W, Zhu MJ, Sreejayan N, Du M. AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) cross-talks with canonical Wnt signaling via phosphorylation of betacatenin at Ser 552. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010. 395(1):146-151

zur Nieden NI, Cormier JT, Rancourt DE, Kallos MS. Embryonic stem cells remain highly pluripotent following long term expansion as aggregates in suspension biorectors. J. Biotechnol. 2007a. 129: 421-432.

zur Nieden NI, Cormier JT, Rancourt DE, Kallos MS. Embryonic stem cells remain highly pluripotent following long term expansion as aggregates in suspension bioreactors. J. Biotechnol. 2007b. 129: 421-432.

Conclusion

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are derived from the early pre-implantation embryo and are of interest scientifically for many reasons. Due to their ability to differentiate into cells characteristic of the three germ layers, ESCs have become of interest for cell replacement therapies. However, their sensitive nature makes them difficult to expand in culture, inhibiting the ability to rapidly generate cells for regenerative medicine purposes. At the same time, ESCs can be used as an *in vitro* model for elucidating the role the embryonic environment plays on cell fate decisions. This is due to the fact that ESCs are capable of self-renewal, differentiation into the three embryonic germ layers, and rely in a more "primitive" mode of energy production. This dissertation focuses on the molecular consequence of exposure to ESCs to compounds that enhance cell survival and also to varying glucose (Glc) concentrations.

In order for advances in ESC-based therapies, it is critical to culture human ESCs (hESCs) in environments that do not rely on animal-based products and promote pluripotency and survival. Exposure of hESCs to animal-based products results in the presence of molecules on the cell surface that would ultimately promote an immunological response if used in human transplantation studies (Martin et al., 2005). At the same time, hESCs have a low rate of single-cell survival, inhibiting the ability to expand cells rapidly and also to use hESCs in genetic manipulation studies. Previous studies have demonstrated that treatment of cells with neurotrophins, which activate the trophomyosin receptor kinases

(TRK), promotes clonal survival of hESCs, while ensuring that the stem cells remain in the undifferentiated state (Pyle et al., 2006). Treatment with neurotrophins also activates the low affinity p75^{NTR}, promoting the expression of pro-apoptotic pathways (Barret, 2000). Due to the ability of neurotrophin addition to stimulate both pro- and anti-apoptotic pathways, we hypothesized that specific TRK receptor activation would further enhance clonal survival. Based on the knowledge that the TRK receptors contain an internal kinase activation domain and that the p75^{NTR} does not, we used the small molecules 1D6 and 1E11 to specifically activate the TRK receptor kinase domain and not activate signaling through p75^{NTR}. Treatment with these small molecules did enhance single cell survival of hESCs, and led to an increase in TRK receptor activation. Interestingly, treatment with 1E11 led to a mild activation of p75^{NTR}. Knockdown of p75^{NTR} and simultaneous treatment with 1D6 and 1E11 is necessary to confirm that it is specific TRK receptor activation that promotes hESC clonal survival.

Treatment with 1D6 and 1E11 led to a downstream increase in activation of AKT and ERK, though compound treatment resulted in different kinetics of AKT and ERK activation. Signaling through AKT has been shown to promote cell survival, both through its ability to inhibit BAD, a pro-apoptotic protein, and through inhibition of he Forkhead Box O (FOXO) family of transcription factors that activate expression of genes that result in cell cycle inhibition and apoptosis (Datta et al., 1997). Surprisingly, treatment with our compounds promoted expression of genes that both activate and inhibit apoptosis following AKT

activation. This provides further evidence that ESCs react to a variety of external stimuli, and the final cell fate decision is based on a number of events. In this study, treatment with compounds resulted in the overall response of cell survival increases, even through expression or pro-apoptotic genes was also increased. Another observed consequence of 1E11 treatment is an increase in spontaneous differentiation, as evidenced by morphology, an increase in expression of differentiation markers, and a decline in expression of markers associated with the undifferentiated state. This might be due to the ability of 1E11 to promote prolonged ERK phosphorylation and β -catenin (CTNNB1) nuclear localization, both of which are known to promote differentiation of cells (Kim et al, 2012; Kim et al., 2013). These findings demonstrate that the singular event of TRK receptor activation leads to an increase in activity of at least two critical intracellular proteins that regulate cell survival and the maintainence of the undifferentiated state, providing evidence for the ability of ESCs to adapt to their environment by integrating a number of external stimuli to produce a cellular response. Future studies can focus on isolating AKT and ERK cellular responses to 1D6 and 1E11 treatment through simultaneous treatment with AKT and ERK inhibitors. Longterm experiments using 1D6 to enhance clonal survival of hESCs are necessary to confirm that prolonged compound exposure does not alter hESC karyotype and pluripotent state. Additionally, due to its ability to promote differentiation, treatment of cells with 1E11 can be evaluated for differentiation along other lineages.

In addition to the *in vitro* enhancement of clonal survival, this dissertation focuses on the mechanism by which high Glc levels alter cell fate decisions. Women with pre-existing diabetes have difficulties in fertility, an increase in developmental anomalies associated with blastocyst development and gastrulation, and a decline in the ability of the early embryo to implant into the maternal uterine wall that is thought to be in response to exposure of cells to diabetic Glc concentrations (Ramin et al., 2010). Early mammalian embryos exposed to this maternal diabetic environment are small in size, and this is believed to be a result of an increase in transcription of the G1/S phase cell cycle inhibitor p21^{cip1} (Zanetti et al., 2001, Varma et al., 2005, Scott-Drechsel et al., 2013). This study demonstrates that exposure of ESCs to diabetic Glc conditions results in an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and an increase in the transcriptional activity of the FOXO3a/CTNNB1 complex while AKT remained inactive. FOXO3a/CTNNB1 localized to the promoters of MnSOD, p21^{cip1}, and $p27^{kip1}$, resulting in an increase in their transcription and their ability to promote ROS removal and inhibit cell cycle progression. As expected, cells exposed to a diabetic Glc environment were able to maintain lower levels of ROS and were less proliferative when compared with cells exposed to physiological Glc conditions, in line with in vivo findings that have shown that maternal hyperglycemia results in a decline in embryonic size.

Although these results demonstrate an increase in expression of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$, analysis of the p21 and p27 protein levels and activity have not been

investigated. Follow-up experiments should confirm that diabetic Glc exposure increases both protein levels and activity of these G1/S phase transition inhibitors.

ROS can be generated in cells by two mechanisms: through mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and in response to signaling by growth factors (Thannickal and Fanburg, 2000). Early embryonic cells and ESCs have a low activity and number of mitochondria, and upon differentiation of cells, mitochondrial number and activity are increased (Cho et al., 2006). This study has not identified the mechanism by which ROS are produced in response to high Glc conditions. Although treatment with antioxidants reverses the Glc-dependent increases in FOXO3a-enhanced expression of *MnSOD* and *Catalase*, the source of these ROS has not been identified. Future studies in the laboratory could focus on the mechanism by which ROS are generated: either through growth factor signaling or through increased aerobic glycolysis. Additionally, because high Glc conditions resulted in an increase in cells that appear differentiated, this raises the possibility that ROS are generated by different means in physiological and diabetic Glc conditions.

At the same time, diabetic Glc resulted in an increase in ATP production and Glc utilization, and the expression of enzymes that promote gluconeogenesis and are FOXO targets. We hypothesize that transcription of these genes might be due to a rapid decline in extracellular Glc, promoting the *de novo* production of Glc. Future studies can further investigate the if this increased transcription is due to

an increase in FOXO3a-localization to the promoters of these genes. Additionally, it would be interesting to determine the rates of gluconeogenesis of cells exposed to physiological and diabetic Glc conditions and determine if this affects cell fate decisions.

AMP-regulated kinase (AMPK) is differentially regulated in response to Glc, with diabetic Glc concentrations promoted its inhibition and the converse is true in physiological Glc. Treatment with a small molecule AMPK activator AICAR, promoted AMPK activity and seems to promote CTNNB1 stabilization and inhibit FOXO3a, and resulted in a restoration of the proliferative capacity and undifferentiated state of cells. Future investigations can focus on the possibility that AICAR treatment and artificial AMPK activation inhibits the formation of a FOXO3a/CTNNB1 complex on the $p21^{cip1}$, $p27^{kip1}$, and *Pou5f1* promoters, resulting in an increase in the proliferative ability and maintenance of the undifferentiated state.

Additionally, diabetic Glc conditions led to an increase in mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex 1 (mTORc1) formation and activity, while mTOR complex 2 (mTORc2) remains inactive. The two mTOR complexes are responsive to alterations in nutrients and independently regulate AKT activity, which has been shown to be critical in maintaining the undifferentiated state in ESCs exposed to physiological Glc (Julien et al., 2010; Sarbassov et al., 2005; Satoorian et al., 2014). mTORc1 is inhibitory on AKT activation, while mTORc2 can phosphorylate and active AKT (Julien et al., 2010; Sarbassov et al., 2005). In

order to confirm mTORc1's ability to inhibit AKT in diabetic Glc conditions, cells were treated with the small molecule mTOR inhibitor rapamycin. Rapamycin treatment has previously been shown to inhibit mTORc1 activity, and prolonged treatment inhibits formation of mTORc2 (Sarbassov et al., 2006). Treatment with rapamycin resulted in an increase in the inhibitory phosphorylation of RAPTOR, while the inhibitory phosphorylation of RICTOR was decreased. These results imply that rapamycin treatment led to mTORc1 inhibition and mTORc2 activation. However, to conclusively demonstrate mTORc1 inhibition and mTORc2 activation in response to rapamycin, co-immunoprecipitation studies must be used to determine the levels of complex formation.

The mechanism by which mTORc1 inhibits AKT activity involves the p70 ribosomal S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) and its ability to phosphorylate and inhibit mTORc2 (Julien et al., 2010). In order to confirm the proposed pathway, it is critical to determine S6K1's responsiveness to diabetic Glc conditions, and also to artificial mTORc1 inhibition.

Rapamycin-induced AKT activation led to inhibition of expression of the FOXO3a target genes *Catalase*, $p21^{cip1}$, and $p27^{kip1}$. However, the cellular response is not as expected. Even through *Catalase* expression and activity is increased with rapamycin treatment, there is a severe increase in ROS levels in these cells. It would be of interest to determine the mechanism by which these ROS are produced and also to elucidate the mechanism by which rapamyin treatment results in ROS accumulation. Additionally, a decline in transcription of $p21^{cip1}$ and

p27^{kip1} should promote G1/S phase transition of cells, but this did not occur. Rapamycin treatment led to cell cycle arrest at this checkpoint, and it is thought that this is through a decline in expression of *cyclin D1*, a known promoter of G1/S phase transition (Hashemolhosseini et al, 1998). Future studies can focus on the molecular mechanism by which rapamycin exerts its effect on *cyclin D1* expression.

Interestingly, one known activator of *cyclin D1* expression is CTNNB1 through its activation with LEF/TCF transcription factors (Tetsu and McCormick, 1999). CTNNB1 interacts with LEF/TCF transcription factors to drive gene expression (Natsume et al., 2003), and there was an increase in LEF/TCF driven GFP expression following rapamycin treatment. It is critical to discern CTNNB1 activity in response to rapamycin treatment, as this could provide a possible link between rapamycin treatment and *cyclin D1* expression.

In conclusion, these studies have demonstrated that multiple signaling pathways are activated in response to stimuli in ESCs, demonstrating the ability of the early embryo and ESCs to adapt to their external environment.

References

Barret, GL. The p75 neurotrophin receptor in neuronal apoptosis. Prog Neurobiol. 2000. 61, 205-209.

Cho YM, Kwon S, Pak YK, Seol HW, Choi YM, Park do J, Park KS, Lee HK. Dynamic changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during the spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006. 348(4):1472-1478.

Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, Gotoh Y, Greenberg ME. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. Cell. 1997. 91: 231-241.

Hashemolhosseini S, Nagamine Y, Morley SJ, Desrivieres S, Mercep L. Ferrari S. Rapamyinc inhibition of the G1 to S transition is mediated by effects on cyclin D1 mRNA and protein stability. J. Bio. Chem. 1998. 273(23): 14424-14429.

Julien LA, Carriere A, Moreau J, Roux PP. mTORc1-activated S6K1 phosphorylates RICTOR on threonin 1135 and regulates mTORc2 signaling. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2010. 30(4): 908-921.

Kim H, Wu J, Ye S, Tai CI, Zhou X, Yan H, Li P, Pera M, Ying QL. Modulation of beta catenin function maintains mouse epiblast stem cell and human embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Nat. Commun. 2013. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3403

Kim MO, Kim SH, Cho YS, Nadas J, Jeong CH, Yao K, Kim DJ, Yu DH, Keum YS, Lee KY, Huang Z, Bode AM, Dong Z. ERK1 and ERK2 regulate embryonic stem cell self-renewal through phosphorylation of Klf4. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 2012. 19(3): 283-290.

Martin MJ, Muotri A, Gage F, Varki A. Human embryonic stem cells express an immunogenic nonhuman sialic acid. Nat Med. 2005 11, 228-32.

Natsume H, Sasaki S, Kitagawa M, Kashiwabara Y, Matsushita A, Nakano K, Nishiyama K, Nagayama K, Misawa H, Masuda H, Nakamura H. Betacatenin/TCF-1 mediated transactivation of cyclin D1 promoter is negatively regulated by thyroid hormone. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2003. 309(2): 408-413.s

Pyle AD, Lock LF, Donovan P. Neurotrophins mediate human embryonic stem cell survival. Nat Biotech. 2006 24(3). 344-350.

Ramin N, Thieme R, Fischer S, Schindler M, Schmidt T, Fischer B, Navarrete Santos A. Maternal diabetes impairs gastrulation and insulin and IGF-I receptor expression in rabbit blastocysts. Endocrinology. 2010. 151(9): 4158-4167.

Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of AKT/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science. 2005. 307(5712): 1098-1101.

Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sengupta S, Sheen JH, Hsu PP, Bagley AF, Markhard AL, Sabatini DM. Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORc2 assembly and AKT/PKB. Mol. Cell. 2006. 22(2): 159-168.

Scott-Drechsel DE, Rugyoni S, Marks DL, Thornburg KL, Hinds MT. Hyperglycemia slows embryonic growth and suppresses cell cycle via cyclin D1 and p21. Diabetes. 2013. 62(1): 234-242.

Tetsu O, McCormick F. Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature. 1999. 398(6726): 422-426.

Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL. Reactive oxygen species in cell signaling. Am. J. PHysiol. Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2000. 279(6): L1005-1028.

Varma S, Lal BK, Zheng R, Breslin JW, Saito S, Pappas PJ, Hobson RW 2nd, Duran WN. Hyperglycemia alters PI3k and Akt signaling and leads to endothelial cell proliferative dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol. 2005. 289(4): H1744-1751.

Zanetti M, Zwacka R, Engelhardt J, Katusic Z, O'Brien T. Superoxide anions and endothelial cell proliferation in normoglycemia and hyperglycemia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2001. 21: 195-200.